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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LEMBERE
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
—EF--F —T-=F —T-mF —ZE-HF| ZEB-XKF
HK$Lrp\illiq1 HK$Lr$n\i||iq1 HK$1q1iIIio_n HK$irnillio_n HK$’million
BEET BEET BEETL BEAET BEAT
Revenue Wi \
Restaurant, food and B RRLEE
hotel ) 622 601 488 544 622
Property investment and MERERER
development 551 147 525 126 245
1,173 748 1,013 670 867
Profit Attributable to BAREARA
Owners of the Parent FE1E &M 114 153 196 121 121
Basic Earnings BREARRBH (L)
per Share (cents) 9.93 13.35 16.07 9.66 9.65
Net Assets BEFE 3,383 3,673 3,852 3,818 3,535
Total Assets BEE 5,932 6,483 6,195 6,264 5,834
HK$ million HK$ million
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA, Kai Cheung, PhD, SBS, BBS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA, Kai Yum, PhD (Chairman)
LEUNG, Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

(appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 1 August 2015
and as Executive Director on 16 October 2015)

NG, Yan Kwong
MA, Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS, JP

CHAN, Sheung Lai (resigned as Chief Executive Officer and

Executive Director on 31 July 2015)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO, Ming Chi, Charles
LO, Man Kit, Sam
WONG, See King

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LO, Ming Chi, Charles (Chairrman)
LO, Man Kit, Sam
WONG, See King

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

LO, Man Kit, Sam (Chairman)
LO, Ming Chi, Charles
WONG, See King

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

MA, Kai Yum, PhD (Chairman)
LO, Ming Chi, Charles

LO, Man Kit, Sam

WONG, See King

COMPANY SECRETARY
NG, Yan Kwong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda
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HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACES
OF BUSINESS

26/F Phase Il Wyler Centre

200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

5/F Carrianna Friendship Square
2002 Renminnan Road

Lo Wu District

Shenzhen

China

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited
Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

SOLICITORS

Bird & Bird
King & Wood Mallesons

LEGAL ADVISERS ON BERMUDA LAW
Appleby

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

Chong Hing Bank Limited

OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited

Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

Industrial Bank of Taiwan

Bank of China, Shenzhen Branch

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.carrianna.com

STOCK CODE
00126
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | wish to present the
Annual Report of Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
for the financial year ended 31 March 2016.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group’s turnover
was HK$867,178,000 (2015: HK$670,292,000), increased
by 29% from last year. The Group’s profit attributable to
shareholders was HK$121,030,000 (2015: HK$120,744,000),
roughly the same as last year. Excluding property revaluation
gain and related taxes, profit attributable to shareholders was
HK$99,703,000, increased by 40% from last year. The increase
in turnover and profit attributable to shareholders was mainly
due to revenue for property sales of Phase 3 of Grand Lake
City project was booked during the year and the increase in
revenue from Hong Kong restaurant and food businesses.

Operating results for property division was satisfactory with
growth in turnover by 94% and segment profit by 32% from
last year. Excluding property revaluation gain and related taxes,
segment profit increased by 132% from last year. The increase
in turnover and segment profit were mainly due to the increase
in property sales revenue of Grand Lake City project in Yiyang,
Hunan Province was booked in the current financial year and
the associate company, South China International Purchasing
Exchange Centre Limited, also provided profit contribution.
For the coming year, all remaining units of Grand Lake City are
expected to be sold before 31 March 2017. On the other hand,
Phase 4 of Grand Lake City, named as Peacock City, with total
construction area of about 968,000 sg.m. is planned to start
construction in second half of 2016.
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The Group’s 50 percent owned associate company, South
China International Purchasing Exchange Centre Limited,
develops the ‘Home Town’ project in Dongguan, which
includes about 410,000 sg.m. mall for furniture, construction
materials and household goods and service apartments.
Progress of the construction of the 4 six-storeyed shopping
malls and 2 towers of service apartments of the project during
the year was satisfactory. The central shopping mall will be
developed as a Red Star Macalline furniture mall by Red Star
Macalline Group after the land with construction in progress
was sold to their Dongguan operating company during the year.
The east block about 110,000 sg.m. shopping mall is planned
to start operation at the end of 2016 to concide with the Red
Star Macalline furniture mall. On the other hand, the north
and west block shopping malls with a total of approximate
160,000 sg.m. are planned to start operation by end of 2017
or early 2018 and about 43,000 sg.m. service apartments are
also planned to be delivered to buyers at the same time. The
revenue from the sales of service apartments is expected to be
over RMB400 million and is expected to be booked as income
in financial year ending 31 March 2018.

During the year, investment properties of the Group continued
to provide stable rental revenue. Total rental income was slightly
reduced by 1% from last year due to depreciation of RMB
against HKD. In RMB term, rental income actually increased
by 2%. Carrianna Friendship Square rental income could only
maintain the same level of last year due to slow down of the
Shenzhen retail market. The major growth contributor of rental
income came from commercial properties of Grand Lake City in
Yiyang, Hunan Province. For the coming year, rental income is
expected to be stable.

EBEAR50%MEE AR [ER BB RERS
PLERARIERNORE [RELEES]
410,000 5 KRB EM AR E £ a5 M
BABEEERESIER BEHBFEMENE
SESRERT  HARARIEE R RAE
HSREERIREHE FTAEEIIRES
EEEAI2XIRRER S - MREERE
#9110,000F IR RIBEM 35T 8l R =
T-AFFREJEZIEREFSELRRA
¥ o4 1E18 B b E & 7 E £ 49160,000F
FARNMEREEEBSNAER_T—L
FERSI=ZZT—N\FHIFHZE  MLI43,000F 75K
HREARIRTEXNERER - H5t2
ZE—LFY) AEBEHEL  BHEES
HRBARBMET HARBEZZT—/\F
A=+ HLEMBFEEAK-

SELENENFRNEERMBEHS RS
BHEHSWARSARBERT R LEFE
MTEE1% BERARBHESWAREN L7
#2% - HPEBPFRERSHNAINTEE
AN Rt REFANES  HEE
@B LATR B BRSO E S WA R E
e REKRFE B WABERFIZ-



The turnover for restaurant, food and hotel segment increased
by 14% from last year but segment profit reduced by 26% from
last year. The acquisition of Profit Smart Group on 1 July 2015
and the increase in turnover from Delicious restaurants were
the main contributors for the turnover growth. Reduction in
segment profit was mainly due to various one-off adjustments
of operating profit in last year. Excluding these write-backs,
recurring operating income of the segment actually increased
by 13% from last year. In addition to the profit contribution
from Delicious and Profit Smart Group, mooncake profit also
increased by 10% from last year. Restaurant’s operating results
were roughly the same as last year while Carrianna hotels
operating losses increased due to fierce competitions and
government continued to control expenses in luxury star hotels.

For the coming year, the Group will continue to develop
mass market food and restaurant businesses and mid-price
business dining. On this basis, smaller new restaurants serving
specialties food will continue to be opened in areas with good
traffic flow and acceptable rental. The Group also plans to
expand the Hainan food factory and to add production line for
other package food products in 2018. Growth for Hong Kong
restaurants and bakeries and food factory was satisfactory in
this year. Number of Delicious and Gusto restaurants increased
from 12 to 16 at year end date of 31 March 2016. The Group
plans to increase 4 to 5 restaurants for the coming year. For
Profit Smart Group, the Group also plans to increase 4 to
5 Empery bakeries for the coming year from its existing 14
bakeries. For the coming year, the Group will be operating
about 40 retail outlets of restaurants and bakeries in Hong
Kong.

Looking back at last year, the overseas economic situation was
very volatile because of the deleverage efforts and the threats
of US interest rate increases. The slowing down of the growth
rate and the depreciation of Renminbi were also serious blows
to the mainland economy. Under this difficult environment, our
Group could still maintain the stable business outcome. This
could only be accomplished through the efforts of the Board
members, the management team and all staff.
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Despite the challenging environment, the Group will continue
to focus on its real estate business and food and restaurant
business and the | am still cautiously optimistic on the prospect
of the overall business outlook.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation
to the Board of Directors, management team and staff for their
support and dedication to the Group and to shareholders,
customers, suppliers and other business partners for their
unfailing support.

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2016
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies

HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA Kai Cheung, rhD, SBS, BBS, aged 74, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Ma has been appointed as Honorary Chairman
of the Company and re-designated as non-executive director
of the Board since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma has more than 40
years’ experience in the garment distribution and manufacturing
business, over 20 years’ experience in the restaurant business
and property development. He was a committee member of
the 9th, 10th and 11th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is the Consultant
of All-Chinese Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese,
the Permanent Honorary President of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association. Mr. Ma also serves as
President of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations, Permanent Honorary President of Federation of
Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organizations, Permanent
Honorary President of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of
Commerce Limited and Permanent Honorary President of Hong
Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association. Mr. Ma is a
brother of Mr. Ma Kai Yum.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Yum, PnD, aged 65, is a co-founder of the Group.
Mr. Ma is the Chairman of the Group since 1 January 2014.
He has been a Director of the Group since 1984 and has
over 30 years’ experience in the garment business. Mr. Ma is
responsible for the daily operation and administration, strategic
planning and business development of the Group. Mr. Ma
was a former member of Guangdong Provincial Committee of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and also
serves as a Director of the Chinese Manufacturers Association
of Hong Kong, President of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu
Chow Public Association, Director of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Chamber of Commerce and Vice President of Federation of
Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organization. Mr. Ma is a
brother of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.

LEUNG Pak Yan, aged 63, is Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Group since August 2015 and October
2015 respectively. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Leung was
a senior civil servant of the Hong Kong government for nearly
30 years, serving various government departments such as
Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau, Transport Bureau,
Lands Departments and Education Department. Mr. Leung
served as the first director of the Hong Kong Economic and
Trade Office (the “ETO”) in Guangdong from 2002 to 2009.
Mr. Leung retired from the Hong Kong government as an
Administrative Officer Staff Grade B in 2009. After his long
and distinguished service at the ETO, Mr. Leung has acted as
the business consultant to numerous companies and trade
associations in Southern China and Hong Kong prior to joining
the Group. Mr. Leung holds a bachelor’s degree in electrical
engineering from the University of Aston, the United Kingdom
and a master’s degree in public administration from the
University of Hong Kong.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

NG Yan Kwong, aged 55, is Executive Director, Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group since
2000. Before joining the Group, Mr. Ng was the finance
director of a US beverage company operating in Mainland
China. Mr. Ng has more than 10 years corporate and financial
management experience with multinational consumer product
companies in South East Asia and Greater China region. He
also has substantial working experience in public accountancy
practice with a major international accounting firm. He holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Commerce of the University of Newcastle
in Australia and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia.

MA Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS, JR aged 49, is Executive
Directors of the Group since May 2009. Mr. Ma joined the
Group in 1990. He has been the Managing Director of
Carrianna Holdings Limited since April 2002 and is currently
responsible for the Group’s property development operations.
He has extensive experience in the catering industry, as well
as property management and development. Mr. Ma was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from The Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003
and a Honorary Doctorate of Philosophy degree by Morrison
University in 2004. In 2011, he was awarded the Honorary
Citizen by the Shenzhen government. He was the Chairman
of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals for the year 2002. He is a
member of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Advisory Board, a
member of the Standing Committee of Shenzhen Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
the President of Youth Council. He also serves as the Vice
Chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations and the Vice President of Kowloon Federation of
Associations. Mr. Ma is an independent Non-Executive Director
of Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, the shares of which are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Ma is
the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles, aged 66, is independent non-
executive director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group
in 1991. Mr. Lo is a member of the CPA Australia and fellow
of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia. Mr. Lo is a
Non-Executive Director of Winshine Science Company Limited
(formerly known as Winshine Entertainment & Media Holding
Company Limited) and an Independent Non-Executive Director
of Cash Financial Services Group Limited. He was an Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of Huajun Holdings
Limited (formerly known as New Island Development Holdings
Limited) from 30 September 2010 to 25 September 2014. All
these companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. He has more than 30 years of professional and
business experience in financial and investment services in
Australia, Hong Kong and other Asian countries.

LO Man Kit, Sam, aged 55, is independent non-executive
director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in July
2004. Mr. Lo is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a
consultant of Messrs. C.C. Lee & Co.. He has over 20 years of
extensive experience in the areas of conveyancing, banking and
commercial law. He is also admitted as solicitor in Singapore.

WONG See King, aged 55, is independent non-executive
director of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in August
2007. Mr. Wong is currently the Chief Financial Officer of
HAGER Asia Limited, a subsidiary of the HAGER Group which
is a market leader of selling building hardware products in the
US market and, is engaging for building hardware business in
China and Hong Kong. Mr. Wong had also worked as financial
and business executive in various Australian, UK and US
multi-national companies. He has over 20 years’ of working
experience in corporate finance, building hardware, consumer
goods manufacturing and distribution business in Hong Kong
and China and property development business in Australia.
He holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Macquarie
University (Australia) and is a member of the Australian Society
of CPAs.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MA Hung Man, Raymond, aged 40, is the Executive
Director of the Food & Beverage Division (China Region)
of the Company. Mr. Ma graduated from the University of
California, Davis with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Civil
Engineering and he holds a Professional Engineer license in
Civil Engineering in USA. Mr. Ma has substantial experience in
food and beverage business. Mr. Ma is the son of Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung.

ZHANG Ji Yong, aged 47, is the Managing Director of
Carrianna (Hunan) Holding Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang has about
20 years working experience in real estate industry. He has
extensive experience in property sales and development in
Changsha City and Yiyang City of Hunan Province. He also
serves as delegate of Yiyang People’s Congress, vice president
of Association of Industry and Commerce, Yiyang and president
of Association of Real Estate Development, Yiyang. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Hunan University and holds a Master Degree of
Project Management.

CHENG Ka Wah, aged 52, is the Managing Director of
Delicious Group Dining Services Limited and the founder of
the Delicious Restaurant Group. Mr. Cheng has more than 30
years’ experience in restaurant business. He is responsible
for business development and daily operation of the Delicious
Group.

CHU Chun Fung, aged 55, is the Executive Director of Profit
Smart Group Limited and the founder of the Profit Smart
Group. Mr. Chu has more than 35 years’ experience in bakery
business. He is responsible for business development and daily
operation of the Profit Smart Group.

YUEN Wai Leung, aged 58, is the General Manager of
Carrianna restaurants in Mainland China. He has been
serving the Group since 1998. Mr. Yuen has about 30 years’
experience in food and beverage business, and has substantial
operation and management experience in restaurant.

LEE Chor Kwing, aged 49, is the Managing Director of
Carrianna (Hainan) Catering Service Co., Ltd. and Carrianna
(Hainan) Food Processing Co., Ltd.. He has been serving the
Group’s Carrianna (Chiu Chau) Restaurant since 1986. Mr. Lee
has been in charge of operation of Hainan restaurant and food
business since 1993.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”), in Appendix 14 of The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) which became effective on 1 January 2005. The
corporate governance principles of the Company emphasis
a quality board of directors, sound internal control, principles
and practices and transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company. The Company has complied with
the CG Code throughout the accounting period covered by this
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard under the
Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2016, the Board comprised eight Directors,
including four executive directors, one non-executive director
and three independent non-executive directors.

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Director and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 9
to 13 of this report.

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills and experience
which can meet the requirements of the business of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity
with applicable laws and regulations. All Directors have made
full and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and the
Board has always acted in the best interests of the Group.

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key
corporate strategy and policy and contractual commitments.
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group with divisional heads responsible for different aspects of
the business.

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing the financial
statements, appropriate accounting policies have been
adopted and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates have been made. The publication of
the financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the financial projections of the Group
and the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

The responsibility of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditors, is set out on pages 62 to 63 of the “Independent
Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

BOARD MEETINGS

During the year, the Board met regularly and held four board
meetings. The attendance of the Directors at the board

meetings was as follow:

FE R A0 )
HHE G S

HEFHRES

@ o i
= = R

FR - EFgCHeR BRTHREEES

BB :

Number of
attendance
Directors BE= IR
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) BNEEE (SELE) 2/4
Executive Directors HBTES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 4/4
Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer) 2ER(THHEE) (RZFE—4F 2/4
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 1 NA—HAEZERBTEAAZRR
August 2015 and as Executive Director on —E-AFFATNAEZER
16 October 2015) HITEF)
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RENEE 4/4
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John Bss kL 2/4
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer) — BRis& 5 4 (7T A8 %) 2/4
(resigned as Executive Director and Chief (RZF—AF+A=1+—H
Executive Officer on 31 July 2015) BFEITEFFRITIAE BT )
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BERERE 4/4
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B R E 4/4
Mr. Wong See King HERBEE 4/4

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate all directors’ attendance. Regular board meetings
are scheduled to be held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a board meeting
is given to all directors who are given an opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. If potential conflict of
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director arises,
the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. The directors attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Board papers are circulated approximately three days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
assists the chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary shall attend all regular
board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a
package of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

According to the records of the Company, during the financial
year ended 31 March 2016, the Directors participated in the
following trainings:

Seminar/course Reading
attended materials
Directors B= HEEE/RE B EM A
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung BN\ E v
(Honorary Chairman) (EEFRE)
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) v 4
Mr. Leung Pak Yan 2BHAEE v v
(Chief Executive Officer) (Note 1) (7TEABE) (HiEE1)
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RBNEE v v
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BRsE kL v
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai PR e 18 S A v v
(Chief Executive Officer) (Note 2) (7T AB#) (HizE2)
Independent Non-Executive BIYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BLEA S v v
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BNk E v v
Mr. Wong See King BHRBELE v v

Note 1:  Mr. Leung Pak Yan was appointed as Chief Executive Officer ~ MizF1: ZARAXAER T —HAFN\A—HEZ
on 1 August 2015 and as Executive Director on 16 October FRITHRBHE IR -_Z—AFTA+
2015. HEZERWITES:

Note 2 Mr. Chan Sheung Lai resigned as Chief Executive Officer and M52 @ R EAR —_T—AF+E/A=+—H

Executive Director on 31 July 2015. BHEITBRE RAITES -
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. For the year
ended 31 March 2016, Mr. Ma Kai Yum was the Chairman and
Mr. Leung Pak Yan was the Chief Executive Officer, of which the
roles are separated and not performed by the same individual.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner. All directors have been consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. With the support
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors provide a wide range of expertise
and experience as well as checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. Their
participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. According
to Bye-law 102(A) of the Bye-laws of the Company, director
appointed to fill any casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the next annual general meeting after their appointment
and shall be subject to re-election by the shareholders of the
Company. According to Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws of the
Company, one-third of the directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation (except Chairman or Managing
Director) and shall be eligible for re-election at each annual
general meeting.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. More than
one of the independent non-executive directors have the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
and considers that all the independent non-executive directors
are independent under the guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of
the Board and the Company’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms
of reference which have been uploaded to the website of
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 1 April 1999 and
currently comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit,
Sam and Mr. Wong See King.

A set of written terms of reference, which described the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by
the Board on 1 September 2004, amended and restated on 26
March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
CG Code.

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, internal
controls and review the Group’s financial statements. The
Committee is also provided with other resources to enable it to
discharge its duties fully.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and
the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance
record of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in
the table below:

B

Directors
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EW'%$§§§Eﬁﬁﬁ§% Heh A HNE
B - B EE SR RNRE HEE
R

Number of
meetings
attended/
Total number
of meetings
HEERRE/

BEBRRY

Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman)
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam
Mr. Wong See King

B X
=B E

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company and Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and has discussed auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2016.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration to Emst & Young in respect of the audit
service rendered for the year ended 31 March 2016 was
HK$3,310,000 (2015: HK$3,164,000).

The Audit Committee had concluded that it is satisfied with
the findings of its review of audit service fee, process and
effectiveness, independence and objectivity.

B L L (L/E) /2

2/2
2/2
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 April 2005
and comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles and Mr. Wong See King.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting. The attendance record of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in the table below:

MERaEREFZME

FHZEeRN _TTRFMA—HKL =
FEFNITERER BREEXGERE (£
B BRBRENREBBRLEE

FRN FHEZEeAF—KXgH -FHEZES

SRR BHEBRNOT

Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number
of meetings

HEEER KB/
Directors BE= BEBIRE
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman) EXBEE (E/E) 1/1
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BERE L 1/1
Mr. Wong See King HERBEE 1/1

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties. A set of written terms
of reference, which described the authority and duties of the
Remuneration Committee, was adopted by the Board on 1
April 2005, amended and restated on 26 March 2012 and the
contents of which are in compliance with the code provisions of
the CG Code.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all directors’
and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

either:

()  to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management; or

(i)  to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office of
appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the group;

to review and approve compensation payable to
executive directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration and that, as
regards the remuneration of a non-executive director who
is a member of the Committee, his remuneration should
be determined by the other members of the Committee;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(i)  to advise shareholders of the Company on how to vote
with respect to any service contracts of directors that
require shareholders’ approval under Rule 13.68 of Listing
Rules; and

() to report back to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so (such as a restriction
on disclosure due to regulatory requirements).

During the year 2016, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on executive directors’
remuneration packages and terms of employment. The
Committee also formulated and evaluated the remuneration
policy and structure for the directors and senior management of
the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the

MEREREEZME @)

() B ERE CEMRA) F13.681%
SRR AE 2 EAEEREE QETT
FORMARBIBERIBHEZ &

) ERIFZDAEREERGIFARMTREE L
R (PIINREEREMRFBEE) =

BEgAMEARATHAERANESTSER
R-FE—RF FHEEGRATESTZH

M MERERRNETSREIEZ-R8
SNHFI R EARFEERERERAR
2 F BN R R N A5 o

2 SFAMESCEBA 5K

remuneration of the members of senior management by band %E;E @ﬁ:%ﬁ /_\E A=+—HIEEE
for the year ended 31 March 2016 is set out below: REMWERE D 2o REBABNH S
UNNE

Number of

Individuals

AE

Up to HK$1,000,000 % $21,000,0007% 7T 5
HK$1,000,001 = HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 JT £2,000,0007% 7T 4
HK$2,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 2,000,001/ 7L £5,000,0007% 7T 3

Further particulars in relation to the remuneration of directors
and the five highest paid employees’ remuneration as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March
2012. The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of Directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive director
and three independent non-executive directors, including Mr.
Ma Kai Yum (Chairrman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man
Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See King.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. FR REZEESHAH— X @H - RRELES
The attendance record of the members of the Nomination X E 7 HFE08ku0 T~ :
Committee are set out in the table below:

Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number

of meetings

HESRXE/

Directors BE HEBRRE
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 11
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BERE kL 1/1
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B XA 1/1
Mr. Wong See King HERBEE 1/1

A set of new written terms of reference, which described
the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 26 March 2012 and the contents
of which are in compliance with the Code Provisions and
Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Ng Yan Kwong,
who is also the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director
of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Commerce
of the University of Newcastle in Australia and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the CPA Australia. Mr. Ng has complied with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules for taking not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is overall responsible for maintaining an effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Group’s assets and its Shareholders’ investments. The Board
oversees the operations of all the businesses units within the
Group and continuously reviews and makes improvements in
its risk management and internal control framework. Suitable
candidates are appointed by the Board to join in the boards of
all subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
to attend the board meetings and to oversee the operations of
such companies. The management of each business area is
accountable for these operation and performance of the business
under its area of responsibility. The Board conducts reviews of
the effectiveness of the system of internal controls as well as the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the accounting and financial reporting functions, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Board conducted semi-annual reviews on the internal
control and risk management system of the Group covering all
material control including financial, operational controls and risk
management pursuant to the Codes and considers that all the
material internal controls and risk management in the Group
are adequate and effective during the year. The Board will keep
review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems on a regular basis to ensure that the
systems in place are adequate.

COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships
with the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communication:

()  the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board;

(i) updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.carrianna.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group;
and
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS (Continued)

(i) the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and
investors.

(iv) the rights of the shareholders of the Company are set out
in the Bye-laws of the Company.

(v)  the shareholders may put forward their proposals or
enquiries to the Board by sending their written request to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Chairman and the directors are available at annual general
meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders of the
Company or other interested parties.

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

The Board shall be on the written requisition of shareholders
of the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at the SGM, forthwith proceed duly to convene the
SGM (“Requisition”). The Requisition, which may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must state the objects of the SGM and
deposited at the Company’s head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which SGM may be convened by the Board, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the aforesaid date of the deposit of the
Requisition.
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CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)
(Continued)

All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a

result of the failure of the Board to convene such a SGM shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Attendance of the Directors at the last annual general meeting
which was held on 24 August 2015 was as follows:

W RO 73 B R R 4 ok & (TR R
R kel

REZBXREFRESTEREAFZBRERIA
EMELZMERER HEARAKNRAEM
WEEHLmE-

EEN_T-—HAFNAZTEBERTZ ER
BERBFERGENHEBRAT

Number of

attendance
Directors BE= IR
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) ENBxE (E8FE) 0/
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) % NREE (F/E) 1/1
Mr. Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer) PERBEE (TTHAER)

(Note 1) (FftEET) 1/1
Mr. Ng, Yan Kwong RBENEE 1/1
Mr. Ma, Hung Ming, John BRsE kL 0/1
Mr. Chan, Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer) BRis& %4 (7T A8 %)

(Note 2) (FF7E2) o1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Lo, Ming Chi, Charles BT kL 0/1
Mr. Lo, Man Kit, Sam B R E 1/1
Mr. Wong, See King HERBEE 1/1

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John and Mr. Lo
Ming Chi, Charles were unable to attend the last annual
general meeting of the Company due to other prior business
engagements.

Note 1:  Mr. Leung Pak Yan was appointed as Chief Executive Officer
on 1 August 2015 and as Executive Director on 16 October
2015.

Note 2:  Mr. Chan Sheung Lai resigned as Chief Executive Officer and

Executive Director on 31 July 2015.
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PROPERTY

Turnover for property segment for the year ended 31 March
2016 was HK$245,163,000 (2015: HK$126,319,000),
increased by 94% from last year. Segment profit was
HK$159,821,000 (2015: HK$121,516,000), increased by
32% from last year. Excluding property revaluation gain and
related taxes, segment profit was HK$135,835,000 (2015:
HK$58,494,000), increased by 132% from last year. Increase
in turnover was mainly due to property sales revenue increase
in Grand Lake City project of Yiyang, Hunan Province by
HK$119,703,000 to HK$155,902,000. In addition to the
increase in property sales revenue, the associate company,
South China International Purchasing Exchange Centre Limited,
also provided profit contribution.

During the year, Phase 3 of Grand Lake City started to deliver
completed properties to buyers and revenue was booked
accordingly. Phase 3 of Grand Lake City has a total of 737
residential units with total area of approximately 40,000 sg.m.
Average selling price was about RMB4,500 per square meter.
Up to mid-June 2016, about 540 units had been sold with 366
units booked as revenue in this financial year. The remaining
200 units are expected to be sold before the end of the coming
financial year ending 31 March 2017. On the other hand, Phase
4 of Grand Lake City, named as Peacock City, has completed
construction planning and is planned to start construction in
second half of 2016. Peacock City occupies 324,000 sg.m. of
land with total construction area of 968,000 sg.m. of residential
properties and shopping malls to be developed in 6 years.
Stage 1 of Peacock City occupies 66,700 sg.m. of land with
total construction area of about 200,000 sg.m., out of which
156,000 sg.m. will be residential units. Planned construction
period is 18 months and is expected to be completed by early
2018. Sales of residential property is planned to start in mid
2017 with total forecasted sales revenue of RMB700 million.
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Grand Lake City Phase 3
L QB S =H]

Carrianna Friendship Square rental income maintained
at the same level of last year. The major growth
contributor of rental income was commercial
properties of Grand Lake City in Yiyang, Hunan
Province.

Huna\n/ Yiyang Gartrianna Commercial Street RIS S WA R EEIL Y SR
HHTE B i 2 500 B @ WA B &S hn o

WE s EE I E R AT
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The Group’s 50 percent owned associate company, South
China International Purchasing Exchange Centre Limited,
develops the ‘Home Town’ project in Dongguan, which
includes 410,000 sg.m. of furniture, construction materials
and household goods mall and services apartment. Progress
of the construction of the 4 six storeys shopping malls and
2 towers of services apartment of the project during the year
was satisfactory. The 110,000 sg.m. east shopping mall has
passed preliminary government construction inspection and
is undergoing internal decoration work. The central shopping
mall will be developed as a Red Star Macalline furniture mall
by Red Star Macalline Group after the land with construction
in progress was sold to their Dongguan operating company
during the year. The east side shopping mall is planned to
start operation at the end of 2016 together with the Red Star
Macalline furniture mall.

On the other hand, the north and west side shopping malls
with total construction area of 160,000 sg.m. and two towers
of 43,000 sg.m. services apartments have also been built
to roof top. These two shopping malls are planned to start
operation by end of 2017 or early 2018 and the services
apartment is also planned to be delivered to buyers at the
same time. Home Town project has 836 services apartments.
As at mid June 2016, near 600 apartments were sold and
the remaining units are expected to be all sold by early 2017.
Sales revenue is expected to be over RMB400 million and is
expected to be booked as revenue in financial year ending 31
March 2018. During the year, Home Town sold a piece of land
of roughly 61,000 sg.m. together with construction in progress
to the Dongguan operating company of Red Star Macalline
Group and brought in RMB21,500,000 profit to the associate
company.

During the year, investment properties of the Group continued
to provide stable rental revenue. Total rental income was
HK$89,261,000 (2015: HK$90,120,000), slightly reduced by
1% from last year due to depreciation of RMB against HKD. In
RMB term, rental income actually increased by 2%. Carrianna
Friendship Square rental income could only maintain the same
level of last year due to slow down of the Shenzhen retail
market. The major growth contributor of rental income was
commercial properties of Grand Lake City in Yiyang, Hunan
Province. For the coming year, rental income is expected to be
stable.
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“Home Town” project has 836 services apartments.
As at mid June 2016, near 600 apartments were sold,
progress of sales was satisfactory.
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HOTEL, RESTAURANT AND FOOD

Turnover for restaurant, food and hotel segment for the
year ended 31 March 2016 was HK$622,015,000 (2015
HK$543,973,000), increased by 14% from last year. Segment
profit was HK$69,903,000 (2015: HK$94,509,000), reduced
by 26% from last year. The increase in turnover were mainly
due to contribution of 9 months sales HK$66,235,000 from
Profit Smart Group of food factory and bakeries which the
Group completed acquisition on 1 July 2015 and the increase
in turnover from Delicious restaurants by HK$68,956,000
to HK$165,114,000. Increase in turnover from these two
businesses was partially offset by reduction in turnover from
Carrianna restaurants and hotels operated in the mainland.
Reduction in segment profit was mainly due to various one
time adjustments of operating profit in last year amounting to
HK$32,702,000. These one time adjustments include write
back of payables and provisions due to closure of Beijing,
Wuhan, old Kunming and old Hainan Carrianna Restaurants,
fair value gain from contingent consideration of Delicious
Restaurants and other non-recurring income. Excluding these
write-backs, recurring operating income of the segment
actually increased by HK$8,096,000, 13% from last year. Other
than the increase in profit from Delicious and Profit Smart
businesses, Carrianna mooncake profit also increased by 10%
from last year. Carrianna restaurants operating results was
roughly the same as last year while Carrianna hotels operating
losses increased due to fierce competitions and government
continued to control expenses in luxury star hotels.
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For the coming year, the Group will continue to develop mass
market food and restaurant businesses and mid-price business
dining. The Group also plans to expand the Hainan food factory
and to add production line for other package food products in
2018. Negotiation for purchase of Industrial land is underway
and construction is expected to start in early 2017. After 2
years of restructuring, Carrianna now operates 7 restaurants in
the mainland, 2 inside Carrianna Hotels in Foshan and Yiyang,
one each in major Carrianna moon cake market of Kunming
and Hainan and 3 in Shenzhen. On this foundation, new
restaurants will be opened with smaller size serving specialties
food, provided shops with good traffic flow and acceptable rent
are available.

Growth for Hong Kong restaurants and bakeries and food
factory was satisfactory in this year. Total turnover for Delicious
and Profit Smart Group was HK$231,348,000 with combined
operating profit of HK$11,697,000. Numbers of Delicious and
Gusto restaurants increased from 12 to 16 at year end date of
31 March 2016. The Group plans to increase 4 to 5 restaurants
for the coming year. For Profit Smart Group, the Group also
plans to increase 4 to 5 Empery bakeries for the coming year
from its existing 14 bakeries. For the coming year, the Group
will be operating about 40 retail outlets of restaurants and
bakeries in Hong Kong. Together with direct sales from food
factory, total current monthly turnover of the two businesses
are roughly HK$24,000,000 and turnover for the coming year is
expected to be over HK$300,000,000.
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Delicious (Mongkok Bute Street Shop) Delicious (Yau Ma Tei Shop)
RE (AN ) RE (Bt E)

Gustation Restaurant (Tsuen Wan Discovery Park Shop) Gustation Restaurant (Shatin Kwong Yuen Shop)
I O ( 3 5R AT ) IEER (D HBURIE)

Empery Bakery (Kwun Tong Hip Wo Street Shop) Empery Bakery (Shatin Kwong Yuen Shop)
Rt (FREBAES) et OPHEIRE)
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Hainan Carrianna Restaurant
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nzhen Carrianna Friendship Square Restaurant
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Foshan Carrianna Hotel
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Yiyang Carrianna Intermnational Hotel
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$158,207,000 (2015: HK$229,248,000),
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars of HK$72,609,000, HK$85,474,000 and
HK$124,000, respectively. The Group’s free cash and bank
balances and structured deposits were HK$172,697,000
(2015: HK$303,353,000).

The Group’s total borrowings amounted to HK$936,594,000
(2015: HK$1,006,935,000) comprised interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and derivative financial instrument.
All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings bear interest
at floating rates. Netting off cash deposits pledged for
borrowings, the Group’s net bank and other borrowings were
HK$832,693,000 (2015: HK$887,122,000). Net bank and other
borrowings less free cash and bank balances and structured
deposits were HK$659,996,000 (2015: HK$583,769,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the Group’s
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, net of cash
and cash equivalents, structured deposits and pledged time
deposits as percentage of the Group’s total equity, was
approximately 19% (2015: 15%).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 28 May 2015, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement for the acquisition of 60% equity interest in Profit
Smart Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as “New Sheen
Holdings Limited”) which is the holding company for operating
Profit Smart Group, at a cash consideration of HK$20,400,000
(See announcement dated 28 May 2015).

The share transfer agreement was entered with the owner and
operator of Profit Smart Group bakery business and subject to
an earnout payment which was calculated by any excess to
annual profits of HK$5,400,000 at a price-earnings ratio (“PE”)
of 6.4. Profit Smart Group was engaged in the operation of
the bakery business under the names of “Empery” (Z2%f ) and
“PakLok” (B #%%) . Profit Smart Group operated 10 bakeries
and 1 factory in Hong Kong.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

(Continued)

The transaction was completed on 1 July 2015 and Profit
Smart Group became a subsidiary of the Group on the same
date.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND FUTURE
COMMITMENT

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contingent liabilities relating to guarantees given to banks for
mortgage loan facilities granted to purchasers of properties of
approximately HK$219,800,000 (2015: HK$223,710,000).

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
properties under development, properties held for sale,
time deposits, structured deposits and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$1,492,674,000 (2015: HK$2,443,653,000)
were pledged to secure certain banking, trade finance and
other facilities granted to the Group. In addition, rental income
generated in respect of certain investment properties of the
Group was assigned to banks to secure loan facilities granted
to the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland China
with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi, respectively. Majority of the sales, purchases and
expenditure incurred by the operating units of the Group were
denominated in the units’ functional currencies and as a result,
any significant changes in Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars
may have possible impact on the Group’s results and financial
positions.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group’s staff consists of approximately 900 employees in
Hong Kong and approximately 1,300 employees outside Hong
Kong. Employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis
within the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus
system.
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The directors herein present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group and an indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business, can be found in the Business and
Financial Review set out on pages 29 to 39 of this annual
report. This discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2016 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 64 to 220.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK3 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year payable to
the shareholders.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 19 August 2016 to Monday, 22 August 2016, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 18 August,
2016.

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 26 September 2016 to Friday, 30 September
2016, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual
General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 23 September 2016.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table set out below summarises the published results,
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.
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TEBINANEEBEABMBFE 2C R
X BE BELFERERD DEEER
KSEZEECYHHRER - HWRBEBL T EKLE
BERPBRER 2D -

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1-HLEE

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
“E-xE —ET-1% —E-NF —E-—=F —T--F
TET TR THL THT TR
RESULTS E4
REVENUE KA 867,178 670,292 1,013,101 748,479 1,172,769
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 134,426 157,263 216,314 167,579 156,792
Attrioutable to: JE1E
Owners of the parent BAREEA 121,030 120,744 195,629 153,427 113,633
Non-controlling interests kR 13,396 36,519 20,685 14,152 43,159
134,426 157,263 216,314 167,579 156,792
ASSETS, LIABILITES ANDNON-  BE BER
CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 5,834,498 6,263,881 6,195,232 6,483,074 5,932,280
TOTAL LIABILITIES “afE (2,299,906)  (2,446,303)  (2,342,878)  (2,810,158)  (2,549,055)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS ~ JEiRR#E% (96,744) (183,263) (143,005) (137,991) (267,370)
3,437,848 3,634,315 3,709,349 3,534,930 3,115,855
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 34 and 35 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2016.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2016, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provision
of The Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounted to
HK$358,296,000, of which HK$37,617,000 has been
proposed as final dividends for the year. In addition, the amount
of HK$1,394,299,000 previously included in the Company’s
share premium account may be distributed in the form of fully-
paid bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling HK$144,000 (2015: HK$244,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the Group’s sales to the five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining the highest environmental and social standards to
ensure sustainable development of its business. The Group
has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands
a better future depends on everyone’s participation and
contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental
and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.
The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided
high quality products and services to its customers so as to
ensure sustainable development.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Non Executive Director:
Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman)

Executive Directors:

Ma Kai Yum (Chairman)

Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 1 August 2015
and as Executive Director on 16 October 2015)

Ng Yan Kwong

Ma Hung Ming, John

Chan Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned as Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
on 31 July 2015)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Lo Ming Chi, Charles

Lo Man Kit, Sam

Wong See King

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Lo Ming Chi, Charles will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with Bye-law 102(B) of Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Leung Pak Yan will retire from office, and being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
directors, and as the date of this report still considers them to
be independent.

BOARD CHANGES AND CHANGES IN
DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules is set out as follows:

BOARD CHANGES

Mr. Chan Sheung Lai resigned as Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 31 July
2015.

Mr. Leung Pak Yau was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of
the Company on 1 August 2015 and as Executive Director of
the Company on 16 October 2015.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 9 to 13 of
the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Leung Pak Yan and Mr. Ng Yan Kwong had entered into a
service contract with the Company. The contract has no fixed
terms of engagement and is subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws and termination by either
party giving three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, Mr. Ma Kai Yum and Mr. Ma Hung Ming,
John had no service contract with the Company as at the end
of the reporting period.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

(Continued)

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fee are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
March 2016 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouse or
minor children to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EFERFETRAB N KD KM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN ARz ER RIRE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2016, the interests and short positions of the R -Z—<XF=ZA=+—H ARQAGFRZESE
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, N T Z/TH A 8RR Q78 AT (] # 4 N A
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of (F&ER (FEHERHEEN) ([ (BEHELHEE
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of &) 1) EXVER) 2 i n B M &+
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) as recorded A 2 i KA R  BELNRANRGIRE (&
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant % N EIE &) E352(5 B FAFHE 2 &
to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the A : B R A 2 ZXESFAIZE ST
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model E&ARQF KRB ZEREARIT
Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES g 2 5B
(a) The Company (@) A2
Underlying Percentage
Number of ordinary shares held shares of the
and nature of interest pursuant to Company’s
Personal Family Other  share options issued share
Name of director Capacity interests interests interests (note 1) Total capital
REBEREZ EALH
BEEBRUEREEME HERSG BRTRE
2R &% HAER RikER Hfbgs (M) At BAk
Ma Kai Cheung Bengficial owner, 248,280,172 9,300,000 259,129,025 3,000,000 519,709,197 4145
BNE interest of spouse and (note 2) (note 3)
benefciary of trust (HizE2) GER))
BRfip A EEEDR
RREXEA
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, interest 59,270,260 3,200,000 101,201,040 1,200,000 164,871,300 13.15
SN of spouse and (note 4) (notes 5 & 6)
beneficiary of trust R (it 35776)
ERHEA FRESR
EREXREA
Leung Pak Yan Beneficial owner - - - 9,000,000 9,000,000 0.72
287 E&EBA
Ng Yan Kwong Beneficial owner 13,000,000 - - 5,500,000 18,500,000 1.48
RER ExfBA
Ma Hung Ming, John Beneficial owner, 1,022,000 2,044,000 - 2,000,000 5,066,000 0.40
B interest of spouse (note 7)
EafBAREBER (F3E7)
Lo Ming Chi, Charles Beneficial owner - - - 150,000 150,000 0.01
SRE E&fBA
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)
(a) The Company (continued)

Notes:
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Q)

The underlying shares represent interests of options
granted to the Directors and senior executive under the
Share Option Scheme to acquire shares of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 35 to the
financial statements.

The shares were owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the spouse of
Ma Kai Cheung.

Ma Kai Cheung and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire
issued share capital of Regent World Investments Limited
(“Regent World”) and 70% of the entire issued share
capital of Bond Well Investments Limited (“Bond Well”).
At the end of the reporting period, Regent World owned
184,121,625 shares and Bond Well owned 75,007,400
shares of the Company.

The shares were owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the spouse of
Ma Kai Yum.

Ma Kai Yum and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire issued
share capital of Grand Wealth Investments Limited (“Grand
Wealth”) and Peaceful World Limited (“Peaceful World”).
At the end of the reporting period, Grand Wealth owned
74,651,040 shares and Peaceful World owned 19,050,000
shares of the Company.

Peaceful World owns the entire issued share capital of
Real Potential Limited (“Real Potential”). At the end of
the reporting period, Real Potential owned 7,500,000
shares of the Company. The interests of Real Potential in
the Company are therefore deemed to be the interests of
Peaceful World in which Ma Kai Yum is also deemed to
have interests for the reason as stated in note 5 above.

The shares were owned by Choi Ka Man, Carmen, the
spouse of Ma Hung Ming, John.
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EERFETRABR KD KM
R 2 B KR A (s)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)
LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued) A A E )
(b) Subsidiaries (b) B 2 =
Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share
Name of Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary director Capacity shares held shares shares)
= A
ERTRABOH
WELRAERE = 5t FrERO#E R 47 5 R (EBR)
Ginza Development Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 15 Ordinary 2.5
Company Limited
SUEERBRAA SNE ERBEAA gl
Ginza Development Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 18 Ordinary 3
Company Limited B
S USBRARAT B ERZHA LR
Gartrend Development Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
Limited deferred
ERERBRAA BNE ERBAA BRERE ik
BRI
Gartrend Development Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
Limited deferred
RRERERAA SN ERBAA BRERE N F
BIERL
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 9,000 Non-voting N/A
R deferred
SNE ERBEBA BRERE GNikd
RER
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 1,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
SR ERBEAA BRERE TEH
BRI
BREZHEM Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BRAT ) . -
ENE ERERA NEH TEH
LaEE ﬁﬁ%i@ Ma Hung Ming, Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
ﬁf‘ﬁ John -
Rt ERBEBA A TER
REEEFER Ma Hung Ming, Beneficial owner N/A N/A 10
BRAF John
Sk ERBEBA TEA TERA
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)

In addition to the above, Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and Mr. Ma
Kai Yum have non-beneficial personal equity interests in
certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Group solely
for the purpose of complying with their minimum company
membership requirements in prior years.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, none of the
directors and chief executive had registered an interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company, or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS AND CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as detailed in note 45 to the financial statements, no
director nor a connected entity of a director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any
of the Company’s subsidiaries of fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES

2005 OPTION SCHEME

On 10 October 2005, a share option scheme (the “2005 Option
Scheme”) was adopted by the Company for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the 2005 Option Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group and consultants of
any member of the Group. The 2005 Option Scheme became
effective on 10 October 2005 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, would remain in force for 10 years from that date.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company convened on
24 August 2015, the Company terminated the 2005 Option
Scheme and adopted a new share option scheme (the “2015
Option Scheme”) with a validity period of 10 years.

Subject to the exercise periods, all options (to the extent not
already exercised) granted prior to the termination of the 2005
Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the 2005 Option Scheme.

The principal terms of the 2015 Option Scheme are as follows:

1. Purpose of the Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2015 Option Scheme is to
grant options to eligible participants, recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the eligible
participants have made or may make to the Group and
will provide the eligible participants with an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group,
track and retain or maintain relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long-term growth of the Group, and additionally in
the case of executives, to enable the Group to attract and
retain individuals with experience and ability and to reward
them for their past contributions.

2. Participants of the Option Scheme

The eligible participants will be eligible to participate in the
2015 Option Scheme. In determining the basis of eligibility
of each eligible participant, the Board would take into
account such factors as the Board may at its discretion
consider appropriate. The Board shall have absolute
discretion to determine whether a person shall qualify as
an eligible participant.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue and
percentage to the issued share capital as at 30
September 2015

125,388,753 shares (approximately 10% of the total
issued share capital).

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options to be granted
under the 2015 Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group including the 2005 Option
Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant in any twelve (12)-month
period shall not exceed one per cent. (1%) of the
issued share capital of the Company for the time being
(“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of Options in excess
of the Individual Limit in any twelve (12)-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant shall
be subject to the issue of a circular to the shareholders
and the shareholders’ approval in general meeting of
the Company with such participant and his associates
abstaining from voting. The number and terms (including
the exercise price) of the options to be granted to such
participant must be fixed before the shareholders’
approval and the date of board meeting for proposing
such further grant should be taken as the date of grant for
the purpose of calculating the exercise price under note
(1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

The period during which a share option may be exercised
will be determined by the directors at their absolute
discretion, save that no share option may be exercised
more than 10 years after grant.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

02

Payment on acceptance of an option

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate notice of grant constituting acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee, together with
a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents. Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable and shall not
be deemed a part payment of the exercise price of an
Option.

Any offer to grant an option may be accepted in respect
of a lesser number of shares for which it is offered
provided that it must be accepted in respect of a Board
lot or an integral multiple thereof and such number is
clearly stated in the duplicate notice of grant constituting
acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to
grant an option is not accepted by the acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents, it shall be deemed
to have been irrevocably declined.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an
eligible participant shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than
the highest of:

(@) the official closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the
Option (“Offer Date”);

(b) the average of the official closing prices of the
shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
(5) Business Days immediately preceding the Offer
Date; and

(c) the nominal value of the Shares.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

8. The remaining life of the 2015 Option Scheme

The 2015 Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 24 August 2015
(being the date of fulfiment of all conditions on the
adoption of the 2015 Option Scheme).

As at 31 March 2016, the Company had granted 20,900,000
shares options pursuant to the 2015 Option Scheme.

The following table discloses the movements in the Company’s
share options outstanding under the 2005 Option Scheme

during the year:
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Number of share options
i1
Date of Exercise
At1 Granted  Exercised Lapsed At 31 grant of Exercise price of At grant
April during during during March share period of share date of
2015 the year the year the year 2016 options share options options options
(Note 1) (Note 2)
4 " HKS per share  HKS per share
—E-1f RER RER RER  ZEB-RX i TEBERE TEBRE RERE
mA-A & K3 X% =R=t-R BREEH HE B RHZAH
(K1) (B32) n
gRET FRiET
Non-Executive Director
&%
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
ENBLE 17-12-2016
Executive Directors
HiEs
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
BR#EEE 17-12-2016
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 1o 0.71 0.7
10-5-2017
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 1o 0.7 0.7
REXEE 10-5-2017
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 2-7-2013 2-7-2013 10 1.51 1.51
1-7-2016
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 - - 22-10-2012 22-10-2013 o 0.824 0.824
REELE 21102017
(Note 3) 3,000,000 - 1,000,000 2,000,000 - 22-10-2012 22-10-2014 10 0.824 0.824
(BH5¥3) 21-10-2017
3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 - 22-10-2012 22-10-2015 0 0.824 0.824
21-10-2017
2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 - 2-7-2013 2-7-2013 0 1.51 1.51
1-7-2016
19,500,000 - (4,000,0000 (7,000,000 8,500,000
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Number of share options
Date of Exercise
At1 Granted  Exercised Lapsed At 31 grant of Exercise price of At grant
April during during during March share period of share date of
2015 the year the year the year 2016 options share options options options
(Note 1) (Note 2)
, 4 HKS per share  HKS per share
ZE-1f RER RER RER  ZEB-RX i TEBRE TEBRE RERE
mA-H B % X% =R=t-R BEEEH el B EHZEH
(hi1) (B32) -
FRET FRET
Independent Non-Executive
Director
BUBTES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles 150,000 - - - 150,000 18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
BRBEE 17-12-2016
150,000 - - - 150,000
Other employees 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2015t0 1.03 1.03
toES 2-1-2017
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2016 to 1.03 1.03
2-1-2018
400,000 - - - 400,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 10 0.71 0.71
11-5-2017
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 2-7-2013 2-7-2013 10 1.51 1.51
1-7-2016
5,400,000 - - - 5,400,000
In aggregate
& 25,050,000 - (4,000,000) (7,000,000) 14,050,000
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The following table discloses the movements in the Company’s FXFEBEFAAQRIRE - ﬁ F g R

share options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme &t &|1E N KRITHE 2 ﬁ%ﬂx% HE):

during the year:

Number of share options
BREHE

Date of Exercise
At1 Granted Exercised Lapsed At31 grant of price of At grant
April during during during March share Exercise period of share date of
2015 the year the year the year 2016 options share options options options

(Note 1) (Note 2)
HKS per share  HK$ per share
~Z-1% RER RER RER  ZB-RE B TEBRE  TEBERE REBRE
mA-H B it %% =B=t-H BRERN i) B EHZAW

(WizET) (Wiz2)
BRAET BRAT

Executive Directors

HiTE

Mr. Ma Kai Yum - 1,200,000 - - 1,200,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 to 15-10-2020 0.81 0.81

BNSEE

Mr. Leung Pak Yan - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 16-10-2015 1-8-2016 to 31-7-2020 0.81 0.81

- 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 16-10-2015 1-8-2017 to 31-7-2021 0.81 0.81
- 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 16-10-2015 1-8-2018 to 31-7-2022 0.81 0.81
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 to 15-10-2020 0.81 0.81
RBEEE
- 12,200,000 - - 12,200,000
Other employees - 2,800,000 - - 2,800,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 to 15-10-2020 0.81 0.81
HitEE - 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2016 to 15-10-2019 0.81 0.81
- 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2017 to 15-10-2020 0.81 0.81
- 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2018 to 156-10-2021 0.81 0.81
- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2019 to 15-10-2022 0.81 0.81
- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2020 to 15-10-2023 0.81 0.81
- 8,700,000 - - 8,700,000

In aggregate

e - 20,900,000 - - 20,900,000

Notes: B

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the 1 P AR AR T AR A E’ZE@ REMELE BRGE
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. BEETHEHBMSGEA -

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment 2. BT 7@?2?5%@] 07T A A Bl IR X
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in AR AR RRI AR ES M TR -
the Company’s share capital.

3. Mr. Chan Sheung Lai has resigned as an executive director of 3. & lﬁ %_e RECBEIRARAZHTES
the Company with effect from 31 July 2015. The outstanding BFELAZ T —HEB-RELHK
share options of Mr. Chan were lapsed on the same date. Tﬂfzﬁﬁﬂﬂé ERRE B K-

4. The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately ~ 4.  EEZEBBAETT(E B M AT A QR B A IN4EF 15

before the date on which the share options were exercised was
approximately HK$1.17 per share.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above during the period under review, no
options under the 2005 and 2015 Option Schemes were
exercised, cancelled or lapsed.

As at 31 March 2016, the Company had 34,950,000 share
options outstanding under the 2005 and 2015 Option
Schemes. Should they be fully exercised, the Company will
receive HK$33,993,000 (before issue expenses). The fair
value of these unexercised options measured in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies (note 2.4 to the financial
statements) amounted to HK$11,634,000.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2016, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was
known to the Directors, the following persons or corporations
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company which was required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO:

GlLEY 3 TNk gat

B DT EEIN REBEHE — ST RF
N —F— R FREARERT ST T 60 e A
FETTRE R

N_E— /\£|E A=+—H RBE-_ZZ
hTERZZE-—HAFERETE A2 TE

34950000(‘5%1&%1415&17@ fia 1% F1&
AT - BIANA R UK EI33,993,000% T ( [5%
BITHASAD cZEHMRITEBREZ AFE
11,634,000/ L I IR B AN B 2 S 5T BR A
2 (M BRERWE2.4) °

T ® Kk ®

RIB-RF=ZA=1T—H REXQFZ
(FBHLEBEKRD) B336FFE 2ELMA
R ANGESAA ToIALHAR (IE
FARRAFEFTHEIBITRAR) EARRZK
I K ARRR O A Em SRR WERE (B
7 M HIE GD1) SEXVERSE25 B K FE35 &b A
ARRABHEH R :

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES i P s =4
Number of Percentage of the
ordinary Company’s issued
Name of shareholder Capacity Notes shares held share capital
) - AR
BRRERE 227) iz ZEBREE ERTREES
East Asia International Trustee a 360,330,065 28.74
Trustees Limited EFEA
Golden Yield Holdings Limited Interest in controlled b 259,129,025 20.67
oorporatlons
SENRER
Regent World Investments Limited Holding corporation b 184,121,625 14.68
:]; J‘L/'\
Wealthy Platform Limited Interest in controlled c 101,201,040 8.07
corporatlons
SENRER
Bond Well Investments Limited Holding corporation b 75,007,400 5.98
BIRA Al
Grand Wealth Investments Limited Holding corporation c 74,651,040 5.95
T?‘E HJ"- /\
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)

Notes:

a.

East Asia International Trustees Limited (“EAIT”) is the trustee of
a discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden
Yield Holdings Limited (“Golden Yield”), EAIT was indirectly
interested in 259,129,025 shares of the Company. EAIT is also
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Yum
and his family are the objects and through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Wealthy Platform Limited (“Wealthy Platform”), EAIT
was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares in the Company.
As at the end of the reporting period, EAIT was effectively
interested in a total of 360,330,065 shares of the Company.

Golden Yield by owning the entire issued share capital of Regent
World and 70% of the entire issued share capital of Bond Well,
was indirectly interested in a total of 259,129,025 shares of
the Company. The total shares held by both Regent World and
Bond Well are the same block of shares as disclosed in “Other
interests” of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung under the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Wealthy Platform by owning the entire issued share capital of
Grand Wealth and Peaceful World and indirect owning the entire
issued share capital of Real Potential through Peaceful World,
was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares of the Company.
The total shares held by Grand Wealth, Peaceful World and
Real Potential are the same block of shares as disclosed in
“Other interests” of Mr. Ma Kai Yum under the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who, as at 31 March 2016,
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company in the register that was
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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a. East Asia International Trustees Limited
(TEAIT) BENBAERERKIERR
mAMKZH—BE2EEIENETIA I
FEiBH 2B B2 R]Golden Yield Holdings
Limited ([ Golden Yield | ) ify [ # #% & &~ 2
[1259,129,0250% A% 17 © LI 51 - EAITIR [R] B 73
BNREERERKRIERT = AMKIA
—HEEEENEEA TEREZENW
J& A B]Wealthy Platform Limited ( [ Wealthy
Platform ] ) i fE % #E B 782 §1101,201,0408%
R REFEER EATEREEARRIAH
360,330,0650% A% 17 ©

b.  Golden Yield#£#F5 Regent World & #2817
i 7R K2 Bond Well% #8 B 3 1T B AR 2 70%M
fE ¥ 7 B A~ 1 7l & $£259,129,025[% I 17
Regent World X Bond Well& 245 5 A% 17 &
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c.  Wealthy Platform#% 5 A Grand Wealth
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ft15 » Grand Wealth » Peaceful World X Real
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATION OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS (RULE 13.18 OF
CHAPTER 13)

The agreement for the following loan to the Group imposes
specific performance obligations on the controlling shareholders
of the Company:

BB b w e o TR RJA R E R AT
BEREZ2R# (F+=%%13.181%)

TIHE T AEEER 2 AR EARR ZE
BERRARERITEEL:

Outstanding balance of Specific

banking facilities as at Final maturity of performance

31 March 2016 banking facilities obligations
HK$'000

R-ZZB-XRE=ZA=+—H BITERREEHA BEBTERE
REBRITERGREHE
FET

123,239 15 March 2021 (Note)

—E- 5= A+HA (H3E)

Note:

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, the Honorary Chairman and the controlling
shareholder of the Company holding 41.45% shareholding interest in
the Company, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, the Chairman of the Company
holding 13.15% shareholding interest in the Company, undertake to
maintain for a total of at least 51% of the shares of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions for the year are set out in
note 45 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions

which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

o8
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors; at least 25% of the
Company'’s total number of issued shares were held by public
as at the date of this report.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard under the
Model Code for the year ended 31 March 2016.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 14 to 28.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See
King.

The audit committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters including the review of the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2016.
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ERGMEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

According to the Corporate Governance Code, the Company
has established its Remuneration Committee in April 2005.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Man
Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles and Mr. Wong
See King. A set of written terms of reference, which described
the authority and duties of the remuneration committee, was
adopted by the Board on 1 April 2005, amended and restated
on 26 March 2012.

The Remuneration Committee’s objectives are to establish and
maintain an appropriate and competitive level of remuneration
to attract, retain and motivate directors and key executives to
run the Company successfully. The Remuneration Committee
will ensure that the remuneration policies and systems of the
Group support the Group’s objective and strategies.

The remuneration details of directors during the year are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive
director and three independent non-executive directors of
the Company, including Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman), Mr. Lo
Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See
King.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board confirmed that the Company has received from
each of its independent non-executive directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and still considers all of the independent non-
executive directors to be independent.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to develop and grow while maintaining
its healthy financial position and solid business foundation to
create long-term shareholder value.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2016
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Independent auditors’ report
B S A% B R

et
EY:x

To the shareholders of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries set out on pages 64 to 220, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and
its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016, and of their financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

27 June 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or LLoss
EABRE R

Year ended 31 March 2016 #EZ=-F— NF=HA=+—HI FE

2016 2015
—B-REF —ET—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FHET FET
REVENUE WA 5 867,178 670,292
Cost of sales fHE AN (481,922) (323,021)
Gross profit E A 385,256 347,271
Other income and gains, net EAM A R as - R 101,844 140,303
Selling and distribution expenses §HE K iHF i (171,221) (142,087)
General and administrative expenses — & &ﬁﬁlﬁaﬂ S'Z (135,404) (118,999)
Other expenses, net Bk % (38,199) (10,418)
Finance costs B7T G ID N 7 (33,702) (32,681)
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate 71 — B =& A&
wmA (&) 43,198 (10,994)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE A % R 6 151,772 172,395
Income tax expense Frisfim sz 10 (17,346) (15,132)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEBF 134,426 157,263
Attributable to: JT%(EZ
Owners of the parent ISINCIE7FEIN 121,030 120,744
Non-controlling interests 3E¥ e i 2 13,396 36,519
134,426 157,263
HK cents HK cents
AL (L
EARNINGS PER SHARE B RAIEBERE
ATTRIBUTABLE BB AEMN
TO ORDINARY EQUITY BREF
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic HK 9.65 9.66
Diluted ] 9.64 9.59
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A2 WA Bk

Year ended 31 March 2016 #HZ=-F— N NF=H=+—HIFE

2016 2015
—E-XRE “E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FHET FHET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 134,426 157,263
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS HZmHEiE
Other comprehensive loss to be BRERBREENSESE
reclassified to profit or loss in BERnzHEMEmEEE:
subsequent periods:
Available-for-sale investments: AHHERE
Changes in fair value NEEZE (130,629) (138,967)
Exchange differences on BMEGINETE 2 TE N ERR
translation of foreign operations (109,053) 9,146
Reclassification adjustment on HEBINEB 2 EHHLE
disposal of foreign operations Bk 39 622 414
Share of other comprehensive DME—REERRZ
income/(loss) of an associate Hiz2ml A (EE) (7,731) 1,068
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEEHMW2HEEE
FOR THE YEAR (246,791) (128,339)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AEEZERBAS
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (/&518) 445 (112,365) 28,024
Attributable to: H‘%fﬁ :
Owners of the parent ISYNSIEZ PPN (116,912) (8,269)
Non-controlling interests 3E? IR HE 2 4,547 37,193
(112,365) 08,024
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b R &

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

2016 2015
—EB-REF —T—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FHET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment e & ] 13 600,060 605,926
Investment properties A 14 1,563,410 1,555,317
Prepaid land lease payments A A E IR 15 28,672 31,212
Goodwill B 16 90,318 72,145
Other intangible assets HEMEEEE 17 359,394 359,394
Interests in associates REE AR 2w 18 400,936 242,860
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE 19 250,969 383,323
Financial assets at fair value through 22 B 1| B K i 18 25 P
profit or loss BEZEHEE 20 - 4,679
Properties under development BRPYE 22 941,640 1,074,092
Debtors and deposits FEUBE R N i & 24 27,208 -
Pledged time deposits EEFEBRTR 26 86,818 88,844
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 4,349,425 4,417,792
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development BREPYE 22 51,239 186,081
Properties held for sale RIELEMSE 22 883,195 814,344
Inventories FE 23 25,686 31,041
Debtors, deposits and prepayments  JEUERFR &€ RIFEMRIE 24 224,655 297,482
Loan to an associate LT —HBERRIZER 18 - 81,960
Due from directors JE U % = 018 25 13,696 3,306
Due from non-controlling JE U FE ¥R A AR 3R IR
shareholders 45(c) 100 7,083
Financial assets at fair value through &2 2 BB K p 18 25 P
profit or loss BEZEMEE 20 89,946 33,745
Structured deposits EBETR 21 14,490 74,105
Restricted cash BRHIRe 26 6,971 10,712
Pledged time deposits BT T 26 16,888 29,452
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEER 26 158,207 229,248
1,485,073 1,798,559
Investment properties held for sale  #F1EHE&E 2 EWE 14 - 47,530
Total current assets MEEERE 1,485,073 1,846,089
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SABMBEMRE

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

2016 2015
—EB-REF —T—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
{hr=g FERT FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade creditors JENE ZBER 27 (101,858) (116,343)
Sundry creditors, accruals and EMEMERR BEAERAK
deposits received Bz e (343,862) (403,594)
Provisions B 28 (13,772) -
Due to directors FETE B RIA 45(c) (1,317) (11,960)
Due to non-controlling shareholders & {5 JE42 J% 1% 58 50 0A 45(c) (36,939) (12,956)
Interest-bearing bank and MEZRITREMES
other borrowings 29 (652,885) (773,598)
Finance lease payables ENmERE 30 - (607)
Derivative financial instrument TTHEERmTIA 32 - (1,517)
Deferred income EELRA 33 (21,962) (23,566)
Tax payable FET TR (205,227) (189,956)
Total current liabilities MBBEEE (1,377,822) (1,534,097)
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 107,251 311,992
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT X E#MERRBEE
LIABILITIES 4,456,676 4,729,784
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEME
Due to non-controlling shareholders &< JE4% J% I R 5K IR 45(c) - (21,576)
Interest-bearing bank and MEZIRITREMBEE
other borrowings 29 (283,514) (231,820)
Derivative financial instrument TESMITA 32 (195) -
Deferred income BB A 33 (160,119) (169,998)
Deposits received Bl (12,157) (11,277)
Provisions B 28 (12,882)
Contingent consideration A RAE 38 - (2,564)
Deferred tax EEF IR 31 (453,217) (474,971)
Total non-current liabilities ERBBER (922,084) (912,206)
Net assets BEFAE 3,534,592 3,817,578
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EAMBRRE
31 March 2016 —ZF—~XF=ZH=+—H
2016 2015
—E-REF —T—FHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FHET FET
EQUITY [
Equity attributable to owners of BRGEENA B #E
the parent
Issued capital BEITRA 34 125,389 124,989
Reserves s 36 3,312,459 3,509,326
3,437,848 3,634,315
Non-controlling interests IEFE IS #E 2 96,744 183,263
Total equity EmRE 3,534,592 3,817,578

Ma Kai Yum
51 /N
Director

EF

68

Ng Yan Kwong
REX
Director

EF



PRSP MR BRA ] | 201649

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ek T8 LS

Year ended 31 March 2016 #HZ=-F— N NF=H=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SN L
Leasehold Avalable-
land and for-sale
Share building Share Exchange Capital investment Non-
Issued  premium  revaluation opfion  Goodwil ~ fluctuation  redemption Reserve  revaluation Capital  Retained controling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve funds reserve reserve profits Totd  interests equity
&L AftiE
BEfT ht  REF  BRE ES v REEf AR

BE  4EE  EhEE B HEEE RBEE EDRE  RR Bl ETERE  REEN it Ea  EneE
Notes ~ HKS000  HKS000  HKBOOO  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS0O0  HK$O000  HKS'000
it Tér  TEn T TAr  TEnr  TEr TEn TEn FEx TR TER TEr TEn TEn

At 1 Aprl 2014 RZE-RmE
TA-A 124,889 1,388,351 56,060 9392 (86,230 185,806 316 581 310,998 33086 1,686,100 3,709,349 143005 3,852,364
Proft for the year REEEF - - - - - - - - - - 120,744 120,744 36,519 157,263
Other comprehensive income/ A5 EE 2
(loss) for the year: WA/ (B8):
Change In fai value AfHEREL
of avalable-for-sale LTEES
investments - - - - - - - - (138967) - - (138967) - (188967)
Bxchange diferences on hERNEEL
translation of foreign EXZE
operations - - - - - 8472 - - - - - 8472 674 9,146
Reclassification adjustment ~ HERNER
on disposal of foreign ENAERE
operations 3 - - - - - 414 - - - - - 414 - 4
Share of other He-REe
comprehensive income of ~ AFZEM
an associate 2ERA - - - - - 1,068 - - - - - 1,068 - 1,068
Total comprehensive FERB2ENA
incomefloss for teyer ~~/ (&if8) - - - - - 9954 - - (13897) - 1074 B269 87198 289
Deregistration of subsidlaries  EHBAE 3 - - - - - - - - - - - - (621) (621
Acquistion of subsidiaries  EEH B AT B - - - - - - - - - - - - 4,087 4,087
Controution from non- FERRETE
controling sharefolders - - - - - - - - - - - - 3541 3941
Acquistion of non-controling ~ MEERHELRE1Z
interests in a subsidiary FRES - - - - - - - - - (6,260 - (6,260) 6,160 (100)
Dividends paid to BRERR
non-controling shareholders % 2 RS - - - - - - - - - - - - (02 (o102
Issue of shares upon exercise T EBRIE
of share options fRkH & 34(a) 100 1422 - 492) - - - - - - - 1,030 - 1,030
Equity-setted share option IR £E 2
arangements e - - - 959 - - - - - - - 959 - 959
Final 2014 divicend
- - - - - - - - - - (62,494) (62,494) - (62,494)
At 31 March 2015

124989 1389773 56,060 9859 (86230) 195760 316 51 172,081 26826 1744350 3634315 183263 3817678

* Retained profits have been adjusted for the proposed final 2015 * BEAFEMNE2FH AN REEFEHEIR

dividend in accordance with the current year’s presentation, TE-RAFRPAKREFELAR (W HRE
which is described in note 2.4 to the financial statements. BFE2.4pT3 ) ©
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GoHEREHXR

Year ended 31 March 2016 &

EZF—N

NF=ZA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRTEEAEL
Leasehold Available-
land and for-sale
Share  building Share Exchange Capital investment Non-
Issued  premium revaluation option  Goodwill fluctuation redemption  Reserve revaluation Capital ~ Retained controlling Total
capital  account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve funds reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
BELY iLE
BEGH K kBT BRE EX Ex REEf FER
Rx  EER EfEE BE HERE ROEE BERE Bk BF EXRE  REER &3t BE BRAE
Notes HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
i Térn  Tén  TER TEn Tén  TEn TEn Térn  TEn  TEx TEn Tén  TEn TEn
At 1 Aprl 2015 RZE-1%F
FA-R 124989 1,389,773 56,060 9,859 (86,230) 195,760 316 581 172,031 26826  1,744350 3,634,315 183,263 3,817,518
Profit for the year RERER - - - - - - - - - - 121030 121030 13396 134426
Other comprehensive REEENZE
ncome/{oss) or the year: A/ ()
Change in far vl AEHERE?
of avalable-for-sale LTEEE
investments - - - - - - - - (130629 - - (130629 - (180,629)
Exchange diferences on hERNEBL
tranglation of foreign EXZE
operations - - - - - (100,204 - - - - - (100,204) (8,849)  (109,053)
Reclassifcation adjustment ~ HEFHER
on disposal of foreign LEFNE
operations Fibd 3 - - - - - 622 - - - - - 622 - 622
Share of ofher ﬁ [l
comprehensive income of A FIZEH
an associate %EW\ - - - - - (1,731) - - - - - (1,731) - (1,731
Total comprehensive income/  AEEA2E
(loss) for the year WA/ (88) - - - - - (107,313 - - (130629 - 121000 (116912 4547 (112,365)
Deregistration of subsidiaries B2 8] 3 - - - - - - - - - - - - (4517) (4517)
Acquisition of subsidiaries e TE“’ 3 - - - - - - - - - - - - 2,239 2,239
Controution from non- FERRRLE
controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - 292 292
Acquisition of non-controling ~ KERHBLEZ
Interests in subsidiaries FERER - - - - - - - - - (48014 - (8014 (53,729)  (101,743)
Dividends paid to non- BREER
controling shareholders BEzkRE - - - - - - - - - - - - (35351  (35,351)
Issue of shares upon exercise 1T B 1E
of share options fRAEST 34o) 400 45% - (1,630) - - - - - - - 3,206 - 3,206
Equity-settled share option (BB EE 2
amangements BREZH - - - 2780 - - - - - - - 2,780 - 2780
Transfer of share option RRRERER
resenve upon forfetre o~ EHEBRERE
share options - - - (1,944) - - - - - - 1,944 - - -
Final 2015 diidend Z3-1f
FERES 1 - - - - - - - - - - eI (a1617) - Te)
At31 March 2016 RIB-1E
ZA=t-R 125380  1,304,209* 56,060* 9,065 (86,230  88.447* 316 581* 4,402 (21,188 1,829,707* 3,437,848 96,744 3,534,592
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves — * I 25 7% 5 8R3,312,459,0008 . (—ZZE—F
of HK$3,312,459,000 (2015: HK$3,509,326,000) in the F :3,509,326,000/8 70 ) B BIEEL A B 75

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

N e B
Al eRE
Year ended 31 March 2016 #HZ=-F— N NF=H=+—HIFE

2016 2015
ZEB-AF —T—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FExT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXKEBHERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 50 A g ) 151,772 172,395
Adjustments for: FHEER
Bank interest income RITHIBULA 6 (5,475) (7,314)
Other interest income o Ath F 24 A 6 (10,428) (6,280)
Dividend income from available- AHEERE Y
for-sale investments SN 6 (21,358) (21,240)
Dividend income from financial BEATFEYERNER
assets at fair value through PRIZBVERMEEZ
profit or loss & B A 6 (1,996) (2,271)
Gain on disposal of investment HEREYHEZ W=
properties 6 (7,729) (22,514)
Depreciation e 6 42,038 39,250
Equity-settled share option NEmEE
expense R 2,780 959
Finance costs 9758 B 7 33,702 32,681
Fair value losses/(gains), net: /N \‘{’@fﬂé/ (Yezs)
HER
Financial assets at fair value BT ESRER
through profit or loss BatREz
TREE
— Held for trading -BEEE 6 11,152 (6,062)
— Designated as such upon - R EREZ
initial recognition BHEx 6 2,036 (1,786)
Derivative instruments PTETA
— Transactions not qualifying —PTREEHER
as hedges L5 6 33 624
Fair value adjustment of FAREBERAFERE
contingent consideration 47 (2,908) (6,315)
Release of deferred income iR IR NS 33 (269) (21,183)
Loss/(gain) on deregistration of THEMB AR 2
subsidiaries E8B (WE) 6 354 @®71)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEME  BEM&E
items of property, plant and BE 2 EE
equipment, net (Wz) - 558 6 (316) 212
Impairment of trade debtors, net JEUE ZERFN 2 A
FRE 6 28 8,982
Recognition of prepaid land lease AN IHEERE
payments R 6 782 839
Share of loss/(profit) of an JEAG — B & R A
associate &8, CaFl) (43,198) 10,994
Changes in fair value of "EYELATFE
investment properties, net HE) HEE 6 (23,985) (63,022)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HWBEARZ
& 6 (20,885) -
Provision for onerous contracts BEAHOEE 6 24,124 -
130,254 108,078
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SRV eHER

Year ended 31 March 2016 #Z=-F— NF=HA=+—HI FE

2016 2015
—EB-REF —T—AHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Increase in properties under TERYZ 238
development (39,745) (133,904)
Decrease in properties held for FEHEMH 2
sale DA 73,469 5,781
Decrease in inventories FER D 3,994 6,907
Decrease/(increase) in debtors, JEYERF e R
deposits and prepayments B RERLD
(&) 30,250 (35,388)
Decrease in trade creditors BB ZEEFUR L (11,584) (23,822)
Increase/(decrease) in sundry H i ERRR
creditors, accruals and EErER R WIZS
deposits received i, Om ) (55,406) 18,766
Increase/(decrease) in deferred EEW A 2,
income ORA) 681 (126)
Increase in deposits received B Z 12 0 14,733 1,452
Increase in amounts due from JE Y ZE 5 RIE G N
directors (10,390) (1,530)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts JERTE ERIA
due to directors #hn, Ok ) (10,643) 8,890
Cash generated from/(used in) RIS
operations (R z2#8 % 125,613 (44,896)
Interest element of finance lease BEMEERSNRZ
rental payments F B &B 1D 7 (12) (49)
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREBNERK (181) (1567)
Oversea taxes paid BTN (10,700) (13,227)
Net cash flows from/(used in) REEBR (FTA)Z
operating activities REMEFHE 114,720 (58,329)
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Year ended 31 March 2016 #Z=-F— NXFE=HA=+—HIFE
2016 2015
—E—XRE —ET—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
Bt 5T FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZH2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received EURER1TF B 5,475 7,314
Other interest received ﬁ fth 2 WA 2 15,346 10,621
Realised fair value loss on derivative T4 % F‘EIEZ EER A
financial instruments FEEE
— transactions not qualifying as —TREHHPERED
hedges R 5 (1,355) (3,151)
Dividend received from available- B E ET
for-sale listed investments HERE 19,455 19,456
Dividend received from available- U A] &
for-sale unlisted investments ELEMIRERE 1,903 1,784
Dividend received from financial BUIERAFETIERERE
assets at fair value through profit HHREZEHMEER
or loss B 1,996 2,271
Purchases of items of property, BAME BEX
plant and equipment HIEEHE (55,741) (80,067)
Proceeds from disposal of items of H&EWE - HE &
property, plant and equipment ‘“1%15 B B TS 5KI8 1,066 1,890
Purchases of financial assets at fair & A% A F B8R &
value through profit or loss REZPEREZ
SRBE (95,260) (34,995)
Proceeds from disposal of financial ~ H &R A F(ESIER K
assets at fair value through profit EATE SHRRIEZ
or loss S REEMSHIE 30,504 108,251
Additions to prepaid land lease TEAT L b FE & FRIESE N
payments - (17,441)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W s KB A 38 (21,110) (27,417)
Proceeds from disposal of HEREY % FRi55KI8
investment properties 55,259 31,456
Decrease/(increase) in pledged time & F #i7F5% 2
deposits w (3B n) 2,026 (27,280)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted BREIFEE 2
cash w, () 3,204 (538)
Investment in structured deposits EBUETRZEE (5,903) (72,868)
Redemption of structured deposits & [@l 45 & 17 2K 65,046 25,054
Investment in an associate & — s QA (54) -
Repayment of loan to an associate [/ — & A ET BEEN 45 12,897
Repayment of loan from associates H“* BNRIEEER - (4,179)
Advances to an associate LT —RHEERFZ
B (45,556) -
Net cash flows used in investing ®EE @J Ffr Az
activities He B HE (23,654) (46,938)
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Year ended 31 March 2016 #Z=-F— NF=HA=+—HI FE

2016 2015
—E—XRE —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B FExT TAET
CASH FLOWS FROM BMETHFEBZRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares B 7710 B e i Ty 35 1T
upon exercise of share options 10 Fris /*K 3,296 1,030
New bank loans FTIRIRITE 528,051 513,905
Repayment of bank loans Tféfi%ﬁﬂﬁf%% (574,513) (410,297)
Repayment of other loans EEEMES - (12,594)
Acquisition of non-controlling W B e Hﬂzﬁ i
interests (11,381) (100)
Contribution by non-controlling JEFERR AR B E
shareholders 292 3,541
Changes in balances with non- FEIERR AR R EREEE &) -
controlling shareholders, net FRE 9,808 1,808
Capital element of finance lease A& A 2 A
rental payments &R E D (595) (727)
Dividends paid BRE (37,617) (62,494)
Dividends paid to non-controlling AT I IR AR R AR B
shareholders (35,351) (10,102)
Interest paid ERFE (33,200) (31,947)
Net cash flows used in financing BEEBAZ
activities REmEFHE (151,210) (7,977)
NET DECREASE INCASHAND ®R&RkREZEHEH
CASH EQUIVALENTS B B (60,144) (113,244)
Cash and cash equivalents at FzHekBEeEE
beginning of year IE E 244,238 356,364
Effect of foreign exchange rate SEHNTE  FE
changes, net (9,992) 1,118
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS &#zH&R
AT END OF YEAR RE&ZEEHEAR 174,102 244,238
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES REeERREEE
OF CASH AND CASH HEERZDW
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as FEUBMRRARANZES 2
stated in the consolidated RekReFEER
statement of financial position 26 158,207 229,248
Time deposits with original maturity 4 & 5 R 21| HA 5 >
of less than three months when 7 =& A & 7
acquired, pledged as security ERA TIRTT
for certain banking facilities and EENEHRTERZ
short term bank loans TFHFER 26 16,888 29,452
Bank overdrafts RITEX 29 (993) (14,462)
Cash and cash equivalents as HRERERERANEYZ
stated in the consolidated RekReEEER
statement of cash flows 174,102 244,238
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CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located
at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,

Bermuda.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally
engaged in investment holding, property investment and
development, and the operations of hotel, restaurant and

food businesses.

2 al J & # R

FEMEEZERERAG (ARA])
m—HRBEBREAMEKZ 2 BR AR -
AR A = BRI Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,

Bermuda °

FR AR REMBAR (5 KK
BNEIZXRBRAKREZER WERE
REBRIANGEBIE BB R R mER -

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W 2> B 4 BB R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KRBIEEMBAR ZFRBLOT:
follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration Class of equity registered interest attributable to
Name and business interest held share capital the Company Principal activities
EmEL, BRITEE/ ANEEGRE
8 R EE FisRERR R A B FEER
2016 2015
ZE-RE | ZZ-hF
Amica Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Property investment
DEMEZBRRA B LRk 28T WERE
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.” British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
EREXHEES EER EY REER
Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$8,000,000 73 73  Restaurant operations
Restaurant Limited*
EZW AN ERBERRA BE LER 8,000,000/ 7T i 0
Carrianna Chinese Food Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$900,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
F=frlan (F4) B LEk 900,000 7T REZR
BRAR
Carrianna Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$25,000,000 100 100  Property investment
and development
EEREEERAF BE Limk 25,000,000/ 7T MERERER
Carrianna (Shenzhen) People’s Republic Registered capital HK$80,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd.*® of China (‘PRC")/ and property
Mainland China development
E2H ORI EE FEEAREAE AMER 80,000,000/ 7T RABRRMERER
BRAFO (@El),/
AR

75



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2016

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt B & I ik

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

AEl R EHE

Bl )

W 2 =) M B R (g0

(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration Class of equity registered interest attributable to
Name and business interest held share capital the Company Principal activities
HEMAEL/ BRITERE/ ERFEGRE
a8 MR EE L FsRERR B A BAL TBEK
2016 2015
—AE | ZT-0F
China East International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 83 83  Investment holding
Materials City Limited
ERABRMEAERAR Bk LTak 1,000,000/ 7T REZR
Crown Tech Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited
EBREBRAA B EER 1B REZR
Delicious Group Dining Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,733,601 60 60  Restaurant Operations
Services Limited*
REKFERRBBRAR FAE LER 10,733,601 7T i Ha
Earn Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
NEEEERD RBRAHES EER 1= REER
Elite Brave Development British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
BBEERBRAR HERLHEE LER 1% REEK
Goldfield Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
REEXARAA B LER 28T NELRE
Huge Moral International British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
EEEEBRAR RERUEE LER 17T REEK
Profit Smart Group Ltd“ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$5,598,059 60 60  Food business
MERREEERA B LER 5,598,059/ 7t BmiE
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$200 100 100  Property investment
BE LRk 2007 NERE
Non-voting HK$1,000,000 - -
deferred
shares
B TR 1,000,000 T
ERER AR
Tak Sing (Panyu) Fashion PRC/Mainland China ~ Registered capital HK$51,000,000 100 100 Property investment
Company Limited*
ENTESREGRAR " FE/REAE HMER 51,000,000% 7T S
B (B0 %E PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB14,700,000 100 100 Hotel and restaurant
BRRARFR operations
hE/ AR A B A AR H14,700,00070 BERBEEE
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sy 2 = Y )
CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 28 k&EEH @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W g 2 & A B &R (s
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration Class of equity registered interest attributable to
Name and business interest held share capital the Company Principal activities
KL BRIEE/ AN A AL R
£ AR FERERR R AR A ARk TEER
2016 2015
“B-RE | ZT-0F
FINEEMBERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRRAE
HE/REAE Baliiew AR 5,000,000 mREE
BEEEHRBERAE®  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital ~ RMB31,000,000 65 65  Food business
hE/PEARE FHEL AR 31,000,000 RRAE
wEEEMEEEEEE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital ~ RMB100,000,000 90 90  Hotel operations
BRRAE
HE/REAE AR AR 100,000,0007T BERE
Carrianna (Hunan) PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital ~ RMB385,000,000 92.21 87.5  Property investment
Enterprise Co., Ltd. and development
(“Hunan Carrianna”)*©
EEBOHE)ELERART RE/ REKE Baliiew AR 385,000,000 NERERER
([HRERR]) o
25 B R W R PRG/Mainland China  Registered capital 1US$46,000,000 83 83 Property investment
(EEB)BRAR and development
RE B AR B A 46,000,000 7T NERERER
FIEZPHRRERAF*®  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 68 68  Restaurant operations
HE/HREARE HRER AR %6,000,0007 il Hi
BEEREPERRSE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB50,000,000 65 65  Restaurant operations
BRRF
HE/REAE Balliew AR 50,000,000 mREE
EREZHRHAFMAEY  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital US$2,000,000 75 75 Food business
hEPEARE AR 2,000,000% 7 BREH
Sleek Treasure Ventures British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$77,200 60 60  Investment holding
Limited*"
B &4 PR 2 R0 EREXHES Limk 77,2005 7T REZK
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1.

78

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
* Direct subsidiaries of the Company

# The statutory financial statements of these companies
were not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

M Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
@ Sino-foreign joint venture companies

® Domestic enterprises

During the year, the Group acquired Profit Smart Group
Holdings Limited (formerly known as “New Sheen
Holdings Limited”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Profit Smart Group”) from Mr. Chu Chun Fung (the
“Seller”). Further details of this acquisition are included in
note 38 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year, formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group, as well as certain investment
holding and other companies, which in the opinion of the
directors, are of specific importance to/purpose for the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

2\l J B R a0

W 2 =) M B R (g0

* ARABEENMB AR

L RERRAZEEMBRRLELRE
LZXE BBk ok & 5B E
PR a% 2 B bk B & 5T 6 = 7% P

£
oo SNEEERE
@ HINEEDLE
B RNERE

RER REBRIKRHEELE (TET])
W M Bk =B A R AR (AR 37
RIERBERAF ) REMBAR (HHE
[FISRERE ) -~ LEW B SR IR 2 —FF1E
X IS HRA P 7E38 -

E=ZRR UNEMIIAKRRR ZH BT
REIBTENFEANZRESMAKANE
BEEFECEIERND  UEKESAR
HETREEREEMARHAEE R
BEE/AEERKAN -ESRRERE
AR E AR ZER B BER
BRITRK e



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
leasehold land and buildings, investment properties,
derivative financial instruments, and certain financial
assets which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2016. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;
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2.1 H#ER

SZERNBRRDRBEL G ARG
(FEEHAE]) B2 B EMEH
SRR ([BEAMHREER]) (B
FRBEREMBHREEL  BAEGEL
(IFBgstEA) RRE) FBEAR
SHRAIREBEB RGN 2 BERTE R
BoPBRMARMELKAERE
AR FEREZETHEL W NET
REVE TESRTIARETERE
ERIN - ZEMBEBRRTIABITZES)
BRBHA ABEEDAERERED
ZFTe

R

RAEVBBRRERAEEEEZE_Z—X
FZA=+—HLFEZHBERE K
BRARSANPERAEREFNNER
(BREBUER) EXAKEAXHF
BE2REREHREBASHRAE @R

He B B REHSMED (AE TR
SERBENTEREHRBBLEDN
SRR 2 B % 5 L 3R - BIAVSIE )
o

AR EEAMEEREEINREHR
REHBOREHELEN JIAKER
AEERCHRAHREHRNENE

SERMAEMEBEENRER 81

(@) HEREHREMBREEERANEG
WLk
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

80

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of
any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

2.1 HWEE (9
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b) BEMAEDTHMEELNET: &
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MR -FBSEBRAREZEERARE
s WA A RAEBEKE AR
SHRBZ RS TREINGERER2EIK
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

OPERATING CYCLE

The operating cycle of the Group for the property
investment and development business is the time
between the acquisition of assets and their realisation
in cash or cash equivalents. Due to the nature of such
business, the normal operating cycle is longer than 12
months. The Group’s current assets include assets (such
as properties under development and properties held for
sale) which are sold, consumed or realised as part of the
normal operating cycle for the property investment and
development business even when they are not expected
to be realised within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The adoption of the above revised standards has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) relating to the disclosure
of financial information with reference to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current
financial year. The main impact to the financial statements
is on the presentation and disclosure of certain
information in the financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

82

in these financial statements.

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 11

HKFRS 14
HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to

HKAS 16 and HKAS 38

Amendments to
HKAS 16 and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27 (2011)

Financial Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Investment Entities: Applying
the Consolidation Exception’

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations'

Regulatory Deferral Accounts*

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers®

Leases®

Disclosure Initiative'

Clarffication of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements'

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of
2012-2014 Cycle HKFRSs!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2016

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018

N Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019

4 Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its
annual financial statements beginning on or after 1
January 2016 and therefore is not applicable to the Group

° The original effective date has been deferred/removed and
a new effective date will be determined at a future date
and early application of the amendments continues to be

permitted.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs, upon initial
application but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial performance and financial
position.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of
the Group’s investments in associates.

PRSP MR BRA ] | 201649

Notes to Financial Statemen“rs
Wt it & I ek

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

2.3 Bl fHig RAERZHE M

BimE g )

AREB ERFHHE] R ERT B EM ISR
FEANINRERE 22 - T8
BHZFH] MBERTBEM B REE
AR Y ANEE 2 MR LW R
ERERTE -

24 FEGHBUKRZME

U RN RE 8 <

e AT REAEERATOR0%Z
P R A 12 R 4 1 R MRS S T B HL AT
EEAYE R - BAYEHESEHR
RANAMBREBRAREZEN
1B3EE B S FIRH R B HR -

AEERBERARNKRE  JHRAEE
RIS SDEAFTEMEEERERE
TRBEBRENGES M HR R KT
RoHNAIBEFEN BN EHRD
TEH AR - U E — B

AREB IR E A RWBREE LM
EEBADRIFAGABRRERMEAR
fEE WA © LS B RN E AT
REERAERES IAKEERTE
SRR T E B R HERD EL A (T
B AEEHEHBERRRERZHHRE
Rz MEEGAREE R E QR
BRERREH EHAERBRSME
EEERERNRFERIBRIN - WHEH =D
AITELRE T AERARERE 2

RAERENE D

83



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2016

Notes to Finapcial Statements
Wt it & M sk

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

84

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and certain financial assets at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation technigues for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets,
investment properties and non-current assets classified
as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

M

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i)

(i)

(V)

(V)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Hotel properties Over the lease terms
Leasehold land Over the lease terms
Buildings 2.5% to 3%
Leasehold improvements 5% to 20%
Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% to 20%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Investment property is transferred to non-current assets
held for sale when it is expected that the carrying amount
will be recovered principally through sale rather than from
continuing use. For this to be the case, the property must
be available for immediate sale in its present condition,
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for
the sale of such property and its sale must be highly
probable.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)

For the sale to be highly probable:

° the board of directors must be committed to a plan
to sell the property and an active programme to
locate a buyer and complete the plan must have
been initiated;

° the property must be actively marketed for sale at a
price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair
value; and

° the sale should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from
the date of classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. Assets and liabilities classified as
held for sale are presented separately as current items
in the statement of financial position. On reclassification,
investment property continues to be at fair value.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN
GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

PRSP IR BRA ] | 201649

Notes to Financial Statemen“rs
Wt it & I ek

31 March 2016 —ZE—XF=HA=+—H

24 FEGH UK ZME (9

BAEm B2 RS EE (5
AHEHETEEERS:

o i%ﬂmﬁk AEHEYEE
SWEENTKRZTEZERS
%JA/,\EE% BB

o ZMEZHBELAENEEERAF
BBz AEERE 1‘0 TiH &

s RHEEEEHEESEAME—F
MTER B AR & BARFER

DEARIELE ZIERBEEKREER
BEATVEREEN RN ZREETE -
DHERBIELEZEERBEEBET
RVBRRAKRFOREIBEER - ENH M
B REMEEBIZ N TEFE-

B % (P58 R

18 Bl W B < 4 J2 B B IR 1) 20 R AR R R P
AAE-XBAHKKRB2EBTLEE
HRATZEENKRERMz AFE.
BIVEEZ ERFHESERY
NERM-ERHPAER B EERR
RAAEEFHANER IR EPRE
TNETYE B R BE R E B RE A RE - £
AR B EE < B N IH A
ELRNEFBEFEE RS-

93



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2016

Notes to Finapcial Statements
Wt i & M sk

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

94

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN
GOODWILL) (Continued)

Intangible assets of the Group represent the rights to
purchase pre-determined lots of land pursuant to legal
binding agreements. Intangible assets are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment
losses. Intangible assets are amortised to properties
under development as part of land costs in accordance
with the actual acquisition patterns of these pre-
determined lots of land.

LEASES

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and
financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases,
including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss
so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases are charged to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise land costs,
construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees
and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to the sales proceeds
of properties sold in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses and the anticipated
costs to completion or by management estimates based
on prevailing market conditions.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of
the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial
assets, which are recognised in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation and the loss arising from impairment are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity and debt
investments. Equity investments classified as available
for sale are those which are neither classified as held for
trading nor designated as at fair value through profit or
loss. Debt investments is this category are those which
are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may by sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit
or loss. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the
available-for-sale financial investments are reported as
interest income and dividend income, respectively and are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near
term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances,
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due
to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest
rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the
amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against
the period in which the fair value has been below its
original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through
the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair
value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for
sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria
as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However,
the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative
loss measured as the difference between the amortised
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Future interest income continues to be
accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the
asset using the rate of interest used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed
through the statement of profit or loss if the subsequent
increase in fair value of the instruments can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or
loans and borrowings, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the
near term. This category includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
interest rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the sales proceeds of properties sold in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses or by management estimates based on
prevailing market conditions.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash which are not restricted as to
use.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in the statement of
profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions/
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the statement of profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

110

(@)

from the sale of properties, when the significant
risks and rewards of the properties’ ownership
are transferred to the buyers, which is when the
construction of relevant properties has been
completed and the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers and collectability of the related
receivables is reasonably assured. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to
the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position;

from the sale of goods (other than properties), when
the significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership, nor
effective control over the goods sold;

income from restaurant and food businesses, at the
point of sale to customers;

rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms;

hotel, property management and other service
income, in the period in which such services are
rendered;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

()  interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(g dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates share option schemes for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and
other employees of the Group, any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group) who render services and/
or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) and advisors of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees/advisors render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. \Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 35 to the
financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes (the “CP Schemes”)
operated by respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their covered payroll expenses to the CP
Schemes to fund their benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the CP Schemes is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the CP Schemes.
Contributions under the CP Schemes are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the CP Schemes.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. In
prior years, final dividends proposed by the directors were
classified as a separate allocation of retained profits within
the equity section of the statement of financial position,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in
a general meeting. Following the implementation of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item. (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue recognition

The Group has recognised revenue from the sale of
properties held for sale as disclosed in note 5 to the
financial statements. The assessment of when an
entity has transferred the significant risks and rewards
of ownership to buyers requires the examination of
circumstances of the transaction. In most cases, the
transfer of risks and rewards coincides with the date when
the equitable interest in the property vests with the buyer
upon release of the respective property to the buyer.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

As disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements,
the Group provides guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks relating to the mortgage
loans arranged for certain purchasers of the Group's
properties. These guarantees will normally be discharged
upon issuance of the real estate ownership certificates
which are generally available within three months after
the buyers take possession of the relevant properties.
In order to obtain mortgages, the buyers would have
settled no less than 20% of the total contract amount
in accordance with the related PRC regulations upon
signing the sale and purchase agreement. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that such settlements
provide sufficient evidence of the buyers’ commitment
to honour contractual obligation of the bank loans. In
addition, based on the past experience, defaults of
mortgage facilities by the buyers which resulted in the
bank guarantees being called upon were rare and the
financial impact was immaterial. Further, as disclosed in
note 48 to the financial statements, the credit risk of the
Group under the circumstance that a purchaser defaults
on the repayment of its mortgage loan during the term
of the guarantee is very low. Accordingly, the directors
believe that significant risks and rewards associated with
the ownership of the properties have been transferred to
the buyers upon the delivery of the properties to them.

RSP MR BRA ] | 201649t

Notes to Financial Statemen“rs
Wt it & I ek

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

K& kA B R A A e

H B (8

e 25 % 32 (80

W B E N AT E AEE R
EFHETHAREENEYEFEHR
B RBEREN RIBMERME
R ZEERBEENEHERES (—R
REFEEEMMEG=EAR)EL
BRI - REVSIRIE  BHBAREER
BETEBEARTEERI AT IR
0% A RBERE - ANBEERS
THRUBHE HALBITHRTERY
AMBEM I BEBAELR EHE
RARIB 8 2B BUR 1T IR (R4 B B (K -
BRI ELREK N - RN TSR
KU EFABFT IR - E B N ER B NE
HEBHIRBERERNBRT K&
By EEREKRAR -Ei EERE &
MR B BT R
BAAKEEBREHEBEE S -

117



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2016

Notes to Finapcial Statements
Wt it & M sk

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

3.

118

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
the arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of these properties which are
leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and
properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Judgement is made by management in
determining whether a property is designated as an
investment property or a property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention of holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development if the properties are intended for sale after
their completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of the
properties, the properties held for sale are transferred to
completed properties held for sale and are stated at cost,
while the properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation are transferred to investment properties and
are subject to revaluation at each reporting date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Estimates for net realisable values of properties
under development and properties held for sale

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties
under development and properties held for sale according
to their net realisable values based on the realisability
of these properties taking into account management’s
estimates of the selling price based on prevailing market
conditions, less applicable variable selling expenses
and the anticipated costs to completion (including land
costs). As at 31 March 2016, based on management’s
best estimates, there was no material impairment for
properties under development and properties held for
sale of HK$992,879,000 (2015: HK$1,260,173,000) and
HK$883,195,000 (2015: HK$814,344,000), respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount
of goodwill at 31 March 2016 was HK$90,318,000 (2015:
HK$72,145,000). Further details are given in note 16 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged independent professionally qualified
valuers to perform the valuation of the investment
properties of the Group at the end of the reporting period.

In the valuation, the valuers consider information from a
variety of sources, including:

(@) direct comparison approach and reference to the
recent transactions for similar premises in the
proximity; and

(b) discounted cash flow analysis which discounts the
projected cash flows generated from the properties
at an appropriate market rate of return to arrive at
the fair values of the properties.

The carrying amount of investment properties of the
Group as at 31 March 2016 was HK$1,563,410,000
(2015: HK$1,602,847,000). Further details, including the
key assumptions used for fair value measurement, are
given in note 14 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of contingent
consideration

A business combination of the Group during the year
involved post-acquisition performance-based contingent
consideration. The Group recognises contingent
consideration at its fair value which is determined in
accordance with the terms under the relevant agreement
and with reference to the estimated post-acquisition
performance of the acquired subsidiaries. Judgement
is required to determine key assumptions (such as
growth rate, margins and discount rate) adopted in
the estimation of post-acquisition performance of the
acquired subsidiaries. Changes to key assumptions can
significantly affect the amount of future liability. Contingent
consideration shall be remeasured at its fair value resulting
from events or factors emerge after the acquisition
date, with any resulting gain or loss recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. As at 31 March
2015, the carrying amount of contingent consideration
was HK$2,564,000.

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the
PRC. As a result of the fact that certain matters relating
to income taxes have not been confirmed/determined
by the relevant tax authorities, objective estimates
and judgements based on currently enacted tax laws,
regulations and other related policies, and interpretations
and practices in respect thereof are required in
determining the provision for income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts originally recorded, the differences will
have an impact on the income tax and tax provisions in
the period in which the differences realise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for
LAT is based on management’s estimates and according
to their understanding of the requirements of certain
PRC tax laws and regulations, and interpretations and
practices in respect thereof. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the relevant tax authorities
upon the completion of the relevant property development
projects. As the relevant tax authorities have not yet
finalised their LAT assessments for certain property
development projects of the Group, the final outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.

Recognition and allocation of construction costs
on properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as
properties under development during the construction
stage and will be transferred to properties held for sale
upon completion. An apportionment of these costs will
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss upon
the recognition of the sales of completed properties.
Before the final settlement of the development costs
and other costs relating to the sale of the completed
properties, these costs are accrued by the Group based
on management’s best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as the
costs of such phase. Costs that are common to phases
are allocated to individual phases based on the estimated
saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any
increase or decrease in the development costs and other
costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the restaurant, food and hotel segment is engaged
in restaurant and hotel operations and the provision
of food and beverage services; and

(b)  the property investment and development segment
comprises the development and sale of properties
and the leasing of residential, commercial and
industrial properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resources allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that bank interest income, certain fair value gains
or losses from the Group’s financial instruments, finance
costs as well as corporate and unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the agreed market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2016/At 31 March 2016 BE-E-—AE=ZA=1+—HILEEA
R-ZB-RF=ZHA=+-—8H
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Total
BRREE REE @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TER TER
Segment revenue: AEUA
Revenue from external customers RENPRE ZBA 622,015 245,163 867,178
Intersegment revenue AEbELZ WA 1,507 4,651 6,158
623,522 249,814 873,336
Reconciliation: il
Elimination of intersegment revenue WisE D B2 WA (6,158)
Total revenue LGN 867,178
Segment results AEHEE 69,903 159,821 229,724
Reconciliation: G
Bank interest income RITHBWA 5,475
Unallocated other income and gains, net KA B E U\ Rz - F 8 997
Corporate and other unallocated expenses 1% J £t A D B 52 (50,722)
Finance costs B TS P AR (33,702)
Profit before tax BREE A& Al 151,772
Other segment information: HithpHER:
Changes in fair valug of RENEZATHE
investment properties, net 2E) T - 23,985 23,985
Gain on disposal of HEREME 2 Wz
investment properties - 7,729 7,729
Fair value losses on financial assets BAFEHRRNEGS
at fair value through profit or loss, net REZEMEELZ
~rFERE 38
- unallocated —-RHE 13,188
Fair value loss on derivative instruments ~ $TATAZ AFEER
- transactions not qualifying - THEEAERL
as hedges, net X5 FE
- unallocated —RKDHE 33
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2016/At 31 March 2016 BE-E—AE=ZA=+—HLEEA
(Continued) R-ZEB-—XRE=ZA=+—H (&)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Total
RRREE REE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TER TER
Other segment information: (Continued) Htt2 &R : (&)
Share of profit of an associate FE{E— B = R Al F - 43,198 43,198
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries HHENBAEZER 354 - 354
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—ERB LRz KE - 20,885 20,885
Provision for onerous contracts BREANEE - 24,124 24,124
Equity-settled share option expense NEREE 2 BRERS
- segment -n& - 412 412
- unallocated vl 2,368
2,780
Other interest income HiF 2 A
- segment — D - 4,918 4,918
- unallocated Vol 5,510
10,428
Impairment of trade debtors WE SRAAME 28 - 8
Recognition of prepaid land REN LA E A
lease payments 782 - 782
Depreciation e
- segment — 7 35,214 4,572 39,786
- unallocated Vol 2,252
42,038
Interests in associates BEN AR 174 400,762 400,936
Capital expenditure BARE
- segment — 7 50,876 12,035 62,911
- unallocated xR 824
63,735*

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant
and equipment, excluding assets from the acquisition of
subsidiaries.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2015/At 31 March 2015

RSP MR BRA ] | 201649t

Notes to Financial Statemen“rs
Wt it & I ek

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

4. BETHER @)

BE-_Z-—RE=A=+—RH1LFE~
R_E—FAF=A=+—H

Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Total
g MERE
BB E REE @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTEL TET
Segment revenue: SHBA:
Revenue from external customers REBINFER ZA 543,973 126,319 670,292
Intersegment revenue A2 WA 1,306 6,770 8,076
545,279 133,089 678,368
Reconciliation: FHE -
Elimination of intersegment revenue WEED HE 2 WA (8,076)
Total revenue UGN 670,292
Segment results DWEE 94,509 121,516 216,025
Reconciliation: G
Bank interest income RITHBWA 7,314
Unallocated other income and gains, net & B E MR Rz 558 13,565
Corporate and other unallocated expenses % R E AP E X 1 (31,828)
Finance costs IRCIN (32,681)
Profit before tax 58 A 7 172,395
Other segment information: Hittp HER
Changes in fair valug of REMEC AT EES F58
investment properties, net - 63,022 63,022
Gain on disposal of investment properties &R & ¥1% 2 Wiz - 22,514 22,514
Fair value gain on financial assets at BRTEFIRERRBRD
fair value through profit or loss, net BEZEREELZ
AFENE FE
- unallocated xR 7,848
Fair value losses on derivative instruments  #14 TA 7 AFEER
- transactions not qualifying - TR AR
as hedges, net X5 FE
— unallocated ~ KR 624
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEHBER (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2015/At 31 March 2015 (Continued) HE-_T—RAF=-A=t—HLEFE
n= T AF=A=+—H (&)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Total
il MERE
R RBE REE @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTET TET
Other segment information: (Continued) H#t 2 &R : (&)
Share of loss of an associate Eih—FRBE R RER - 10,994 10,994
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries Bl ENCIPAl € 871 - 871
Equity-settled share option expense NERGEE 2 BRERS
- segment -5 - 210 210
- unallocated xR 749
959
Other interest income HF 2 A
- segment — D - 4,918 4,918
- unallocated vl 1,362
6,280
Impairment of trade debtors, net BRESERRE F8 8,982 - 8,982
Recognition of prepaid land REN T HBEHR
lease payments 839 - 839
Depreciation e
- segment -nH 28,408 8,419 36,822
- unallocated xR 2,428
39,250
Interests in associates BN RS 172 242 688 242 860
Capital expenditure BARX
- segment - 141,363 18,755 160,118
- unallocated vl 817
160,935

*k

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property,

plant and equipment, and additions to prepaid land
lease payments, excluding assets from the acquisition of

subsidiaries.

* BARXBRABYME BFENM

i

ANERN T HBEERIE - TR ER B

BRBMBEE-



4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(a) Revenue from external customers

RSP MR BRA ] | 201649t

Notes to Financial Statemen“rs
Wt it & I ek

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

gE7 I E R

i 1 B R}
(@) KEMFEFZWA

2016 2015

—E-REF —E—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Hong Kong B 281,669 141,063
Mainland China AR B K B 585,509 529,229
867,178 670,292

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

B AERTIRIER PR
& M E e

b) FEHEE

2016 2015

—E—-REF —E—hFE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

Hong Kong BA 254,292 240,141
Mainland China R OK BE 3,730,138 3,700,805
3,984,430 3,940,946

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments.

No revenue from any external customer accounted for
10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the years
ended 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

EIERBEEEMIRBEEM
EzEmER TN EESmIA-

HE-_ZT—XRNF=ZA=+-—HHKEK_-Z
—hAF=ZA=+—HILFE WERSH
ERINF R 2 WA AEBRBKAZ
10%3k LA _E o
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5. REVENUE 5. A
Revenue represents gross restaurant and food business WABERNBERRMEBRALER
income and net invoiced value of goods sold, after PEEEMEEFERBBEEENLES
relevant business tax and allowances for trade discounts; FringE IR EEE REMARTE 2 WA
income from rendering of hotel and other services; HEMEMSHKIE: ke W kgl 248
proceeds from sale of properties; and gross rental income DU KRR o

received and receivable during the year.

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASHTIT
2016 2015
—E—-RF —E—HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Income from hotel, restaurant BIEBRERBRMEBIRA
and food businesses 622,015 543,973
Gross rental income e WAL 89,261 90,120
Proceeds from sale of properties HEMEFTE IR 155,902 36,199
867,178 670,292
I\ N2 N \,
6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. Fr B wi i Al
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBERBANZF SR, (GTA) AT
(crediting): KIE
2016 2015
—E-REF —E—RhF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FERT FHET
Cost of inventories sold and EEFERERERE
services provided DN 481,922 323,021
Depreciation e 13 42,038 39,250
Recognition of prepaid land HRIBEN L HE R E
lease payments 15 782 839
Lease payments under operating A B £ 1 M E F 4L &
leases for land and buildings: MAzHE -
Minimum lease payments =K 44,268 41,685
Contingent rents gAME - 208
44,268 41,893
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. Fx B A A e
2016 2015
ZE-RF —T—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FExT FHET
Auditors’ remuneration Gk 4,020 3,497
Employee benefit expense EERAMAX
(excluding directors’ (EEHM (M)
remuneration (note 8))*: BRON) *
Wages, salaries and bonuses T& ¥eMIiEsl 170,586 122,739
Equity-settled share option DARERR 45 E 2
expense RS 1,020 210
Pension scheme contributions 3Rk 4 5T 2|4 7
(defined contribution (REHFKEED
schemes) 6,527 9,239
178,133 132,188
Foreign exchange ME N Z5 558
differences, net 13,998 (2,108)
Impairment of trade debtors, net FEWE ZERF 2 RE JFEE 24 28 8,982
Fair value losses/(gains), net: NEEEBE (W) -
FRE
Financial assets at fair value BATEYERE
through profit or loss RERFPEEZ
— Held for trading —BEEE 11,152 (6,062)
— Designated as such upon — R FHEREZ
initial recognition BT 2,036 (1,786)
Derivative instruments PTHEIER
— transactions not — I &
qualifying as hedges HHEBRIZRS 33 624
Gain on disposal of investment  HE®RE W E 7 W
properties (7,729) (22,514)
Changes in fair value of KEMEATEEE:
investment properties, net F R 14 (23,985) (63,022)
Direct operating expenses RO o REMEESE
(including repairs and CEEEBERW
maintenance) arising on (BREEERRE)
rental-earning investment
properties 2,108 1,508
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. B B w7 Al a0
2016 2015
ZE-XREF —T—hfF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT FHET TFAET
Bank interest income RITH B UA (5,475) (7,314)
Other interest income E A ) B U A (10,428) (6,280)
Dividend income from available- A] {ft £ &3% & ~
for-sale investments IR B A (21,358) (21,240)
Dividend income from financial &2 FEF R MR IBzEH
assets at fair value through BREZERMEEZ
profit or loss % 8 A (1,996) (2,271)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & —EH B A7 2 Uz (20,885) -
Provision for onerous contracts G 1{E & #) B & 24,124 -
Loss/(gain) on deregistration of ~ sE M B A E 2 &8,
subsidiaries (z) 39 354 871)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEME WE R
items of property, plant and BB BB (W)
equipment, net SRR (316) 212
# Inclusive of an amount of HK$125,209,100 (2015: ! BEIMIBREEFERERHREZ
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HK$83,019,000) classified under cost of inventories sold
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WA
2016 2015
—EB-RF —T—hF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Interest in respect of: B
Bank loans, overdrafts and RITER - BIR
other loans H A& ® 36,988 44,434
Finance leases BEMEA 12 49
Total interest expense on WIER A FEHERERNEREF
financial liabilities not at fair BREZEMBEZFE
value through profit or loss 2 1858 37,000 44,483
Less: Interest capitalised B BAMEF B (3,642) (12,516)
33,358 31,967
Other finance costs: H A B TSR AN -
Increase in discounted amount HERTERIAREZ
of contingent consideration arising T35 & REIE N
from the passage of time 344 714
33,702 32,681
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

8. #FM e

BE ETARR BB R AHEH 55383(1)
@ b)) ORNMEREBAR (KBRES
FImER) ROl FE2BEBEAFEZE S
Eay/INE

2016 2015

—E-REF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Fees e 600 600

Other emoluments: EA{th B4

Salaries and allowances e KoERL 8,988 8,723

Bonuses paid and payable* BT R ERTEA 2,594 3,793

Equity-settled share option expense  AREZS 458 7 BEIAERI X 1,760 749
Pension scheme contributions RIRFT B

(defined contribution scheme) (E&RERETED) 218 217

13,560 13,482

14,160 14,082

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled
to bonus payments which are approved by the Group’s
remuneration committee with reference to the Group’s
current year profit and the individual’s performance.

During the year, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group, under
the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised
in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. #FEME )
(Continued)
(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE A) BIFHTES
DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive REEENBUIERITESHEES N
directors during the year were as follows: ™
2016 2015
ZE-RF —E-hfF
Fees Fees
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles R E 200 200
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam E XL 200 200
Mr. Wong See King mRBEE 200 200
600 600
There were no other emoluments payable to the REZIWEEAMEN B LIEMITE
independent non-executive directors during the year ENFHH(ZE—RF |
(2015: Nil).
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’
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. ®EM 2 =
(Continued)
4= AN 4=
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND A B) JATEER —ERITES
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and  share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense  contributions  remuneration
21 NEREE B
& REH ZBRE 2 e
ne R A 253 % am
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TERT TET TERT TET
2016 ZE-RE
Executive directors: HIES:
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENREAE - 2,355 1,264 299 70 3,988
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai, Jimmy*  BRi&1&% £+ - 931 35 135 6 1,107
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REKEAE - 1,990 665 498 62 3,215
Mr. Leung Pak Yan** 2EREE - 1,645 630 828 10 3,113
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SR ELE - 612 - - 18 630
- 7,533 2,594 1,760 166 12,053
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENERE - 1,455 - - 52 1,507
- 8,988 2,594 1,760 218 13,560
Salaries Bonuses Equity-settled Pension
and paid and share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions remuneration
2 Bt NEREE RAKE
Pi3 RS ZBRE e e
we 2 AT A% fH% 2Hm
HK$'00 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THT THR TR THT
2015 —T-RF
Executive directors: HrEs:
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENRELE - 2,294 1,616 - 70 3,980
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai, Jimmy — BRE2 %4 - 2,386 1,040 749 18 4,193
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REREE - 1,931 921 - 62 2914
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BREEE - 668 - - 15 683
- 7,279 3,577 749 165 11,770
Non-executive director: FHiTES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENEBRAE - 1,444 216 - 52 1,712
- 8,723 3,793 749 217 13,482
* Resigned as executive director on 31 July 2015

*k

Appointed as executive director on 16 October
2015

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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9.

10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2015: four) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of
the remaining one (2015: one) non-director and highest
paid employee are as follows:

9.
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Lfi#FHMe sz kA

RAFE AEBLUSEFHESSHE
mE(ZT—hF WOR)EF EHMHM
HEHINN EXHF BT —R (ZF
—hF —R)WHEEREEHEELZ
BT

2016 2015

—E—-REF —E-TEFE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

Salaries e 1,025 1,058
Equity-settled share option expense AR 17 45 & B8 A 4 7 421 -
1,446 1,058

The remuneration of the non-director highest
paid employee for the year fell within the band of
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (2015: HK$1,000,001 to
HK$1,500,000).

FEEZERHFRERENAFTE ZH M
B 721,000,001 7% 7T £1,500,000/% 7T #
BA(ZF—HF:1,000,0018ETE
1,500,000 7T.) °

INCOME TAX 10. Fi 13 B
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of BEBENEHEIBRBFAREEEE 2
16.5% (2015: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits STERBUE A IK16.5% (T —RHF
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits 16.6% ) 2 T R 5T H 4 o 7 B R B JE AR
assessable in Mainland China have been calculated at the Pt M) 2 IR T iR P B K B 2 BRIT R &
rates of tax prevailing in Mainland China. 8-
2016 2015
—E—-RE —E—FEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Current — Hong Kong BNE—F B
Charge for the year RFEEZH 1,296 628
Current — Mainland China BVAR — A B K e
cIT B EMSH 43,166 40,244
LAT THIEE 3,476 871
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE (10,453) (39,160)
Deferred (note 31) EIE (FFES1) (20,139) 12,549
Total tax charge for the year AFEEMIBS HBEE 17,346 15,132
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. Fr 15 B
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit BREALEEMEFEBARRANEZ
before tax at the Hong Kong statutory rate to the tax MR B ERHEFTE 2 REAXY
charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: EERINT
2016 2015
—EB-RF —E-hF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Profit before tax B 3% A1 st A 151,772 172,395
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory BRBEBEETE16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) —E—AF:165%)
AHEZHIE 25,042 28,445
Higher tax rates of specific provinces 5 7E & 17 5k & HU A& B 81 2
or enacted by local authorities BafE 15,150 15,109
Adjustments in respect of MBEHEZ
current tax of previous periods EHATIE AR (10,453) (39,160)
Adjustment in respect of deferred tax  Hti8 7+ Hiff 2 IR iE £ 18
of previous periods {EL A& (17,473) -
Loss/(profit) attributable FEAE — R B & R R
to an associate &R, CEFl) (7,128) 1,814
Income not subject to tax BARBUMA (23,459) (19,488)
Expenses not deductible for tax AATHIRE 5 52 13,188 17,199
LAT TR ER 3,208 755
Tax losses utilised from FERBTHR 2
previous periods HIEEE (6,257) (701)
Tax losses not recognised AERHRIEEE 25,528 11,159
Tax charge at the Group’s BEAEEERHE
effective rate PR BIEX 17,346 15,132
The share of tax attributable to an associate amounting ’Vﬁﬂ’ifﬁ—ﬁﬁﬂﬁikﬂ 7% 819,488,000
to HK$19,488,000 (2015: HK$693,000) is included in B (ZZ— A% :693,0008 ) B &t
“Share of profit/(loss) of an associate” in the consolidated ]\,&?é}%@ Rk [ G — A& 2 aE
statement of profit or loss. /(B8] A
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DIVIDENDS 11. k8
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Proposed final — HK3 cents (2015: EN - AR B ARSI
HK3 cents) per ordinary share —E—RF 3B 37,617 37,617
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to RNERFzEBRPREBFERQRRE

the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 1,253,734,531 (2015:
1,249,882,057) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent. The weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the
basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise
or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

12.

REGARZRIBE RS LHER
JTAIEE

B 7y 6] 8 8 ik B A O\ A
i Ik % A

ERERZNTIREG QR L ARERS
BAEERFERNRFACETL B
A% 2 It 19 81 253,734,531k (==&
— R4 :1,249,882,0570% ) 5t &

BREER A HRES AR EBEER
BABEAERGENTE -EBRPT
RA BB AR ESRE
ABANAMRABZFRDETERRE
E’M&ﬁ%ﬁ@ihﬁﬁﬁ%f&
AR BRRRREBEERITHY
BRI 8
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. B} 72 5] 3% 3 % 6 ¥ A N 4G
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 1 & A a0
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share ERERREERN DREBEATSIER
are based on: =
2016 2015
—E—-XRE¥ —E-hF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT THET
Earnings EF

Profit attributable to ordinary equity ~ FIRETEFREREF 2
holders of the parent, used in the B RAEBREREA
basic earnings per share calculation & {k 4 7 121,030 120,744

Number of shares

ignig Q|
2016 2015
—E—XRE —E—hEF
Shares i &l
Weighted average number of ordinary AR st EFREREF ~
shares in issue during the year used G A E 277 L@ A%
in the basic earnings per share N5 8
calculation 1,253,734,5631 | 1,249,882,057
Effect of dilution — weighted average 8 v &2 — LB
number of ordinary shares: Nt E
Share options =gl 1,357,670 8,573,413
1,255,092,201 | 1,258,455,470
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. W¥ -~ W5 Kkt
EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
Hotel Landand  Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor Construction
properties buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
nE BER B
BENE 1uRET NEEE #E RERRHE EH ERIR aE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TR TERL TR TER FEL TER FET

31 March 2016 —§-X¥=B=t-H
At 31 March 2015 and RZE—REF
at 1 April 2015; “A=+-Bk
—Z-REMA-A:
Cost o valuation BRAELEE 418,987 187,643 145,811 36,178 88,451 26,156 41,566 944,792
Accumulated depreciation ZETERAE
and impairment (83,770) (47,676) (98,107) (15,968) (73,121) (20,224) - (338,866)
Net carrying amount FEFE 335,217 139,067 47,704 20,210 15,330 5,32 41,566 605,026

At 1 April 2015, net of accumulated  R=Z—HFEA—8 -

depreciation and impairment BB RHTERRE 335,217 139,967 47,704 20,210 15,330 5,932 41,566 605,926
Additions RE - 4,961 20,383 3,859 11,787 1,000 12,745 63,735
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38)  YrEE it B A 7 (Hi538) - - 725 2,845 1,057 609 - 5,236
Transfers ot - 46,534 - - - - (46,534) -
Depreciation provided FRTEERE (Fi6)

during the year (note 6) (11,486) (10,144) (8,817) (3,034) (5,568) (2,989) - (42,038)
Disposals HE - - (30) (5) (342 (180) (193) (750)
Exchange realignment E3zECES (18,803) (7,879) (1,914) (590) (1,078) (182) (1,603) (32,049)
At 31 March 2016, net of i Sae:d

accumulated depreciation and ZA=+-8"

impairment BB ERRAE 304,928 173,439 67,051 23,285 21,186 4,190 5,981 600,060
At 31 March 2016: RIE-RF

=A=+-8:
Cost or valuation R ESR(EE 395,163 229,717 160,167 41,258 90,833 24,576 5,981 947,695
Accumulated depreciation and ZEERRE
impairment (90,235) (56,278) (93,116) (17,973) (69,647) (20,386) - (347,635)
Net carrying amount FEFE 304,928 173,439 67,051 23,285 21,186 4,190 5,981 600,060
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

142

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

13. W %~ BB & ik i (a0

Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor  Construction
properties buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles  in progress Total
HE i
BENE  THREF NERE BEREE KEREE ] TEIR BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAR FAL FEL FAL FAL TAL
31 March 2015 “Z-RF=ZA=+—H
At 1 April 2014; RZT-MEF
mA—B:
Cost or valuation B EREE 416,530 116,113 115,183 32,935 82,792 29,256 17,186 809,995
Accumulated depreciation and REERRE
impairment (71,502) (38,786) (101,837 (15,027) (74,494) (19,101) - (320,747)
Net carrying amount REFE 345,028 77,327 13,346 17,908 8,298 10,155 17,186 489,248
At 1 April 2014, net of accumulated R =Z—NFMA—H-
depreciation and impairment BB EERRE 345,028 77,327 13,346 17,908 8,298 10,155 17,186 489,248
Additions NE 436 64,578 35,195 4,600 8,095 64 30,526 143,494
Acqisition of subsiclaries (note 38)  YtiE T B2 7] (Hi3E38) - - 7,817 - 4,118 3 - 11,938
Transfers =33 - 6,327 - - - - (6,327) -
Depreciation provided FRHERE (Kit6)
during the year (note 6) (11,879) (8,783) (7,890) (2,194) (4,756) (3,754) - (39,250)
Disposals LE - - (929) (152) (465) (556) - (2,102)
Exchange realignment ERAE 1,626 518 165 48 40 20 181 2,598
At 31 March 2015, net of RZE—REF
accumulated depreciation and ZA=+-R"
impairment BNREGHHERRME 335,217 139,967 47,704 20,210 15,330 5,932 41,566 605,926
At 31 March 2015: RZZ-1F
ZA=+-8:
Cost or valuation R EREE 418,987 187,643 145,811 36,178 88,451 26,156 41,566 944,792
Accumulated depreciation and REMERRE
impairment (83,770) (47,676) (98,107) (15,968) (73,121) (20,224) - (338,866)
Net carrying amount REFE 335,217 139,967 47,704 20,210 15,330 5,932 41,566 605,926

As at 31 March 2015, the net carrying amount of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment held under finance
leases included in the total amount of motor vehicles was

HK$1,246,000.

RZBE—AE=A=1+—H REGBE
HERBARERASBZAEEY
¥ BB MREZ REFEA1,246,000

BT



13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were
revalued at 31 March 1995, by independent professionally
qualified valuers at open market value based on their
then existing use. Since 1995, no further valuation of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been carried
out, as the Group has relied on the exemption, granted
under the transitional provisions as set out in paragraph
80A of HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”, from
the requirement to carry out further revaluations of its
property, plant and equipment which were stated at
valuation at that time.

Had these leasehold land and buildings been carried
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, their total carrying amounts
would have been approximately HK$1,044,000 (2015:
HK$1,146,000).

At 31 March 2016, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$24,199,000 (2015: HK$92,084,000)
were pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 44).
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13. W %~ B B B ik (a0

BUEXABERGEMBIRERRAA
B EEZAAMER-—AWNLAF=A
—+—HHEASEETHELHWRETF
HETEH B NNAEFR A5EZHE
ErHMREFIEETE—PEH R
EAarEERBREE ST ERE16
SR E - R K] P ES0ARFTE
ZIBERERE R 2 BRHRENE R
HEVERZYE BERZEBETE—
WEHZHE-

5% S & T RAEF AR £ AR R
T ERERREBEAR HRKRE
EFEX) 51,044,000 T (ZE—RHF:
1,146,000/ 7T ) °

R-_ZTE—RNEZA=Z+—H8 Xx&H
HAEREFEL24,199,0008 L (==
— R 192,084,000 L) & T ¥E
HEREEEER EAREEERS
FHRITEE 2R (Ki3E44) o
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14.

144

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. K& ¥
2016 2015
—RE —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
=2 FExT FET
Carrying amount at beginning of R EH 7 BREE @ ZIHE
year, at valuation 1,602,847 1,547,416
Disposal & (47,530) (8,942)
Net gain from fair value NEBERAERELZFEA
adjustments 6 23,985 63,022
Exchange realignment PE H, % (15,892) 1,351
Carrying amount at 31 March, at A=A=+—HBZEHEE
valuation ZHE 1,563,410 1,602,847
Less: Amount classified B D RARBERE 2/
as held for sale* - (47,530)
1,563,410 1,555,317

*

In the prior year, the Group entered into certain sale and
purchase agreements with independent third parties
to dispose of certain investment properties located
in Shenzhen, the PRC with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$47,530,000 for a total consideration of
HK$55,259,000.

The above assets, which were expected to be sold within
twelve months from 31 March 2015, were classified as
non-current assets held for sale as at 31 March 2015 and
were presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

During the year, such investment properties were disposed
of with a gain of HK$7,729,000 recognised in profit or loss
(note 6).

REF AEBEBIFE=ZAINE
R (855,259,000 T H ERREEA
47,530,000/ 702 & TR AR EDERI 2
REMETUETEE HZE-

FHEHR —F
f@"i’

—hAF=A=1+—~H
BAARHEZEEC D BRR

—hE=ZA=+t—"HBHELEZ
#mé)ﬁéﬁ?jﬁ’\ﬁ“\ﬁﬁ%#%i‘%mﬁ

BEY -
RER -

6) e

ﬁ%ﬁfahémizu& =
7,729,000 L E R B

5 HERR (B aE



14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The directors of the Company have determined that
the Group’s investment properties consist of three
classes of asset, i.e., residential, commercial and
industrial properties, based on the nature, characteristics
and risks of each property. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 March 2016 based on
valuations performed by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting
Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at
HK$1,563,410,000 (2015: HK$1,602,847,000). Each
year, the Group’s management decides to appoint
which external valuers to be responsible for the external
valuations of the Group’s investment properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s management has discussions
with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed for
financial reporting. Certain investment properties are
leased to third parties under operating leases, further
summary details of which are included in note 42(A) to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2016, the Group’s investment properties
with a carrying amount of HK$1,257,094,000 (2015:
HK$1,128,917,000) were pledged to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 44).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties
are included on pages 221 to 223.
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14. K& W% 80

ARREZERBEZMEZIEE  FiE
REBEBEEAEBREMEH=-BEE
Bl (AMEE - mBERIEME)EK-
RIE—RNEF=ZA=1+—H K&EBZ
REYERBRBEL XS EKGER
BT EET A ERE AR AT 2
EE{H4A1,563,410,0008 L (—E—H
F :1,602,847,000/87C) - HFFE A&
BrERERAELRETINSGEEMBER
SEEEYE N E - BIEERE
EMisMHE B8 BUMKELEHRFE
ERE ZIREIZEIEWMHE#&L
T EREGEMNmEERR LRGE
BERo %?&iﬁ%%%&%&ﬂﬁﬁﬂ%
F=H E—IHREFBEDHRUBR
=M TE42(A) A

MN_BE—-RE=ZF=+—8 X£EFE
M1E1,257,094,0008 7T (—ZF — A F :
1,128,917,000/ 7T ) 2 L E W % E1E K
B ERBAEBMES TRITEEZE
1R (M5E44) »

AEBIREMR ZHE
221%223H ¢

FHBHANE
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. K &M% (=)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY NR R

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: s

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2016 using
R-ZE-R"E=ZB=1+—-H
FAUTEBETZATENE
Quoted

prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

TRINFAKEREME 2 A FEAE

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERBTE EATEE BEATTBE
ZHE BAE BAE
(5-%) (B=®) (B=8) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THT THT
Hong Kong: B
Commercial properties EEXZES - - 64,500 64,500
Industrial properties TEME - - 87,463 87,463
Mainland China: H B KB -
Commercial properties EEXZES - - 1,401,668 1,401,668
Industrial properties TEME - - 9,779 9,779
- - 1,563,410 1,563,410
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. K &YW ¥ (=)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) 2F R R )

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2015 using
RZE-RF=A=1+—H
FRNTEREET2ATENE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

NEREMS  BAUEE EXTAUEER
ZHRE BAE BAE

(8—8) (£=8) (F=H) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET BT FAET
Hong Kong: B

Commercial properties BENE - - 63,200 63,200
Industrial properties IE0%E - - 77,548 77,548

Mainland China: AR B A
Commercial properties BEME - - 1,451,730 1,451,730
Industrial properties IEME - - 10,369 10,369

- - 1,602,847 1,602,847
Less: Commercial properties located Ji : i1 A R BIAE 58 A
in Mainland China classified RIEHECHENE
as held for sale - - (47,530) (47,530)

- - 1,665,317 1,565,317

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER BIEEENEME —REE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no W2 ATFEAERTERFE=ZFHREA
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2015: Nil). SER(ZE—RAF E)-
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 4. &M% (=)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) AREES X ¥
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised SHERE=ZRATFEEEANZ AFER
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: EHEK:
Hong Kong Mainland China
E# B ARE
Commercial Industrial Commercial Industrial

properties properties properties properties

EES/ES IRN= [EES/ES IRN=

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THT THT
Carrying amount at 1 Apri 2014~ R=-F—NFWA—HZ
REE 59,900 71,652 1,396,611 19,253
Net gain from fair value RERRRAZ A TEAE
adjustments recognised Wz %eE
in profit or loss 3,300 5,896 53,826 -
Disposal HE - - - (8,942)
Exchange realignment R AR - - 1,293 58
Carrying amount at 31 March 2015 R=Z—HF
—RA=+—-REEE 63,200 77,548 1,451,730 10,369
Net gain from fair value nEEER L ATE
adjustments recognised ABNE T
in profit or loss 1,300 9,915 12,770 -
Disposal HE - - (47,530) -
Exchange realignment i 5 % - - (15,302) (590)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2016 A =T — /<%
—A=t—BzKAE 64,500 87,463 1,401,668 9,779
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
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14. K& W% 80

2 1R B s

TERBARE WX GEMRBZ A ERM

the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: REBHAE:
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range
fhE & i EATUBREGAE gE
2016 2015
“E-XE | Z2-5F
Hong Kong:
BE:
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$4,320 to HK$4,320 to
(er square foot) HK$12,000 HK$12,000
BEME BELEE e mE (8 FHER) 43208 7TZE | 432082
12,0005 T 12,000/ 7T
Industrial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$1,450 to HK$1,250 to
(per square foot) HK$2,750 HK$2,500
IEN% BRLEE fhetmE (BT HHER) 1,450%8TE | 12508 L%E
2,750 7T 2,500/ 7T
Mainland China:
B ARE
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach  Estimated market price HK$19,716 to | HK$17,890 to
(per square metre) HK$78,238 HK$79,670
BEME BELEE fhEmE (8FHXK) 19,7168 TE (17,8008 L%
78,2387 1T 79,670/ 7T
Income capitalisation Estimated rental value HK$60 to HK$69 to
(per square metre per month) HK$241 HK$313
LON-V:N |73 fhEtlE (BT AEA) 6078 T2 69ETLE
2418 S13ETT
Discount rate 9.5% 10.5%
FrHx
Industrial properties Income capitalisation Estimated rental value HK$14.4 HK$15.0
(per square metre per month)
IENZE WAB A% e BE (BT AEA) 14487 15.0% 7T
Discount rate 7.5% 7.5%
FRx

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated with reference to the recent transactions for
similar properties in the proximity with adjustments for the
differences in transaction dates, building age, floor area,

etc. between the comparable properties and the subject

properties.

BREBEZLEE RPED2ZHBAER
UM E AT B LG XA E
LEMERGBENEZRZZ A B
BEEESFZZREFHHE-
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14.

15.

150

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Under the income capitalisation approach, fair value is
estimated by taking into account the current rent passing
of the property interests and the reversionary potential of
the tenancy.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental
value and the estimated market price per square foot/
metre in isolation would result in a significant increase/
decrease in the fair value of the investment properties.
A significant increase/decrease in the discount rate in
isolation would result in a significant decrease/increase in
the fair value of the investment properties.

K&EWE )
2NF R R )

BREBWAEROE RFETDEEZD

Xkm s BAESKTERBEEZE

NETE °

At HERGFTRE (BF TR K E
BAEEN, OB ERIREYENR
FEKREZM B TR EEFHARE
g, WA B EBBREMENRTER

hER 1 0 e

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15. 78 ft £ st 1 & 2K I8
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Carrying amount at beginning of year R #] 2 BRHEIE 32,023 15,279
Addition during the year RERNRE - 17,441
Recognised during the year (note 6) R ERFER (M :16) (782) (839)
Exchange realignment ME W, B (1,804) 142
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—BZEEE 29,437 32,023

Current portion included in debtors, — BIER 3 {5 £ 45 7 fE YR BR 74«

deposits and prepayments Ee RENREZA (765) (811)
Non-current portion JEBNEAEL D 28,672 31,212

=
B
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16. GOODWILL 16. i &
31 March 2016 —E-XE=ZA=+—H
HK$’000
FERT
At 1 April 2015: R-ZZE—RFMNA—H
Cost BN 77,096
Accumulated release upon sale of HECERVERELD
developed properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment RETRE (3,663)
Net carrying amount IREDFEE 72,145
Cost at 1 April 2015, net of accumulated R-ZZE—RAFEWNA—HZKA
release and impairment MR R Y RORE 72,145
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) Ue BB BT B A A (Bf5E38) 18,173
Cost at 31 March 2016, net of accumulated RZE—RFEZA=+—HZ
release and impairment B - 0Bk REHEH RRE 90,318
At 31 March 2016: RZE—RF=ZA=+—8:
Cost X 7S 95,269
Accumulated release upon sale of developed HECBRRMERTED
properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment RETRE (3,663)
Net carrying amount REFE 90,318
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. ﬁﬁ % (%)
31 March 2015 —ET-RAF=A=+—H
HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2014 RZE—UFNA—H:
Cost B AR 45,062
Accumulated release upon HECERMERTED
sale of developed properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment Z2FHRE (3,663)
Net carrying amount FREFE 40,111
Cost at 1 April 2014, net of accumulated RZE—MFOA—H KA R R
release and impairment L RRE 40,111
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) W B B B~ &) (M9EE38) 32,034
Cost at 31 March 2015, net of accumulated RZE—RAF=ZA=+—HBH2ZHRAE"
release and impairment bk 2 EL KRE 72,145
At 31 March 2015: RZE—RAF=-H=+—8:
Cost BN 77,096
Accumulated release upon HEDERVERTEL
sale of developed properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (3,663)
Net carrying amount R FE 72,145
IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL R R

152

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for

impairment testing:

° Mainland China restaurant, food and hotel cash-

generating unit;

o Hong Kong restaurant and food cash-generating

unit; and

° Property investment and development cash-

generating unit.

HEBEHMBBZEEENEEAT
ReEEBNUERERR

e HEKEAE RANMEEHRSE
AL

s ZEBBBLRBBASELEBMN: R

s VERENERBRSELEB(-



16. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units are as follows:
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16. 7 & (@)

R USRI AT )

BEZERAE EGAE —EReELE
fzgnF

2016 2015
—E-RF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

Mainland China restaurant, PEARREEE BRMRB/E
food and hotel 8,721 8,721
Hong Kong restaurant and food BEEEERREM 50,207 32,034
Property investment and development #73% & K 3% & 31,390 31,390
Carrying amount at 31 March RZAZ+—HZEBEE 90,318 72,145

The recoverable amounts of the above cash-generating
units have been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets/forecasts covering a five-year period/the
expected development project period approved by senior
management. The discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections range from 7% to 17% (2015: 7% to 17%).
The growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows of the
Mainland China restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating
unit and the Hong Kong restaurant and food cash-
generating unit beyond the five-year period range from 3%
to 5% (2015: 3% to 5%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the above cash-generating units for 31 March 2016
and 31 March 2015. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins
is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budget/forecast year, increased for
expected efficiency improvements and expected market
development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

PR eEABMZAIKBEHBEDIRIR
BEeMERABIEZ AT T
RIBEHMZHKEEE FEAFEFRARS
MEBANFEZFREEET -REm
EEAERZITRENTFT7%E17% (=
TE—HFE T%E1T7T%) - FBBAFH
PRAEEE RALBERSELS
NARESOERRMAECELENZ
HeEREANEREN FI%ESR (ZF
—HF 3%E5% ) EITTEE -

HFEE-RXF=ZA=t+—HEKZ-Z
—RAFZA=Zt+—HZLUNREELS
U EREER BEARE BEER
HIR @ mERAEITEHERE N TK
BZEETEREZWOT:

BEEREN -REEERELKRERN
PrisEBECERE REERRE TR
FEN—FREZFHEBREN X
AIEMBER RS RFEATSERMEL
EAS -

PR R —FrfEM 2 I R BARF R IAR
KRR ERBEEM AR 2 FERR L
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. K th ¥ & &

2016 2015
—E-RF —T—HF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT TBT
At beginning of year: REFEH] -
Cost BN 533,559 533,559
Accumulated amortisation ZEH (174,165) (133,827)
Net carrying amount R E 359,394 399,732
Cost at beginning of year, net of RENZ A
accumulated amortisation Ik Rt E 359,394 399,732
Amortisation provide during the year* 4F /A & 57 &~ - (40,338)
Net carrying amount at 31 March REA=+—B2EEZE 359,394 359,394
At 31 March: R=A=+—8:
Cost BN 533,559 533,559
Accumulated amortisation ZEH (174,165) (174,165)
Net carrying amount REEE 359,394 359,394

As further described in note 2.4 to the financial
statements, the amortisation was included in properties

under development as part of the land cost.
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
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18. Wi 2 6] 2 HE

2016 2015

—E—-RE —E-TEFE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Share of net assets DIREEFE 65,564 34,960
Due from associates JE UK B 2 ] 206,256 160,699
Loans to an associate BT —EBERRZER 129,116 129,161
400,936 324,820

Portion classified as current assets 18 &R B E & 261D - (81,960)
400,936 242,860

The amounts due from associates and loans to an
associate included in non-current assets are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment,
except for the loan mentioned below. In the opinion of the
directors, these balances are considered as part of the
Group’s investments in the associates.

As at 31 March 2015, a loan to an associate amounting
to HK$81,960,000, secured by the pledge of the entire
share capital of South China International Purchasing
Exchange Centre Limited (“SCI”), interest-bearing at
12% per annum and repayable in December 2015, was
included in current assets. During the year, the repayment
date was extended to December 2017 and such loan of
HK$81,960,000 was included in non-current assets as at
31 March 2016.

Particulars of the material associate are as follows:

SEAIERBE B Z R S AR 2 FRIA
KT —BBERRZERGRER
R DEERLE K B E R S (T & R
BRIN) - BERR ZFRBEBRWARAE
BB E R RREZ—#D e

R-EBE-—RAFE=A=+—H $£TF— M
BERNRIZERAERERBBEREER S
FLBRAR ([FEEEER]) 23 RAE
EH LB F12% 2 F R EW AR
T—HF+ = AEEZEF81,960,000
BRRIIARBDEE-REAN - BEEHH
BEEERE_FT—+F+_-_AB%E
7%81,960,0008 TER —E—XF=A
=+—RHIAFEREBEE-

TEBERBFBOT

Place of Percentage of
Particulars incorporation equity interest
of issued Business and attributable
Name shares held structure business to the Group Principal activity
HEMBILR
£ HEERTROEE E Y EEBY AEERERET L EEXER
2016 2015
“E-RE | ZZ-5F
SCI¥ Ordinary shares (unlisted) Corporate Hong Kong 50 50  Investment holding
EFER L@k (kL) N B REER

# Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

O WEKEBLKE M EB LK
BEMEBIENMEB MK ES
HEDE T
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

SCI is considered as a material associate of the Group
and is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements. SCI and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “SCI Group”) are mainly engaged in the
property investment and development.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of the SCI Group adjusted for any

18. P EAEl 2 (8)

EFHEAREEAAEE R EBREA
Bl WA B M SRR A A AR
EHEERNMEMB AR (S [ EEEK
SEDEBERFEVERERBERESR-

TMRINREMBEREE MBENGE
(EMEABRZEMNEREHARE) K

differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the BB MBMERANRABEYK:
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
2016 2015
—E-KR¥ —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Current assets MENVEE 631,512 76,222
Non-current assets EMBEE 963,529 975,777
Current liabilities nBEE (1,152,859) (593,146)
Non-current liabilities EMBBE (290,789) (379,097)
Net assets BEEFE 151,393 79,756
Less: Net assets attributable to B FEEREREMEEFE
non-controlling interests (596) -

Net assets attributable to EFBIREE A

owners of SCI EhEEFE 150,797 79,756
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest 823+ ASER BN E & 2 AN EEH

in the SCI Group included in non- REMBEREE 2 SR

current assets:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7 £ B A7 #E 2 Lt 13 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the AEBERMLBERRZ

associate EEFE 75,399 39,878
Unrealised interest income eliminated 7 & 38 51| 8.1 A %5 54 (9,835) (4,918)
Amount due from the associate JE IS B i X B 5ROR 206,082 160,527
Loans to the associate BTBERRZER 47,156 47,201
Carrying amount of the investment & & BRHE{E 318,802 242 688"
Revenue WA - -
Profit/(loss) for the year REFRF (BER) 86,396 (21,988)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  Hitt 2 EU A~ (E18) (15,462) 2,136
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for ARG E 2 MU A~

the year (E18) B 70,934 (19,852)

*

Excluded a loan to the associate amounting to

HK$81,960,000 (2015: HK$81,960,000).

TEEGETHZER

al

BE381,960,000/%

7T (ZZF— F 4 : 81,960,000/ 7T ) °



18.

19.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not
individually material:

TSR A MHE AT IR 7] | 201657 H
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18. & A Z R ()
TEIIRAEBERNTEA B LR
BRI S ER -

2016 2015
—E-RF —E—RF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRBERNR ZERZ
Group’s interests in the associates ~ 428RMEE 174 172
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 19. & & &
INVESTMENTS
2016 2015
—E-REF —E—hFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Listed equity investments in REB LETRAKRE
Hong Kong, at fair value /NS 222,347 352,975
Unlisted equity investment, at cost ~ FE ETRAIEE - A A 28,622 30,348
250,969 383,323

The listed equity investments represented the Group’s
entire equity interests in China South City Holdings
Limited which were designated as available-for-sale
financial assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon
rate.

During the year, the gross loss in respect of the
Group’s available-for-sale listed equity investments
recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to
HK$130,629,000 (2015: HK$138,967,000).

The fair values of these listed equity investments are
based on the quoted market price.

As at 31 March 2016, the unlisted equity investment
with a carrying amount of HK$28,622,000 (2015:
HK$30,348,000) was stated at cost less impairment
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the directors are of the opinion that its fair
value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not
intend to dispose of it in the near future.

EHRARE AR RE R ErRBIERA
RARZ 2B HE HEERAHILE
T RE E SR B E I A SR E A K o

FRAREREAMEERAER
AHEELTRAREZERARE
#/%130,629,0008 7t (ZF — A F -

138,967,000/ 7T ) °

sz%tﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁzw?ﬁﬁﬁi%i&%
RZE-XRNE=ZA=+—-8B EF@E
8 528,622,000t (& —H &
30,348,000/ 7T ) 2 FE E MR AN B I%
BRABRREYIER A& B AFEME
HEBREZUNBREEIAHEATESE
AR SRR 2 o AEBAER A R A5 R H
EIELFTMIRAIKE -
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20.

158

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20. ¥ 2 F 1 50 IR Bt 48 % PR
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS HzemERE
2016 2015
—"EF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Hong Kong listed equity investments, &/& FMRARE - IEHE
at market value 51,233 26,383
Hong Kong listed debt investments, &#& EMEKIEE  EHE
at market value 5,948 6,102
Singapore listed debt investment, I EmEHIRE  RTiE
at market value 1,186 1,260
Unlisted investments, at fair value FLMIRE RAFE 31,579 4,679
89,946 38,424
Less: Current portion R, - BNER &R 17 (89,946) (33,745)
Non-current portion FERNERER 17 - 4,679
The listed equity and debt investments at 31 March 2016 RZE—RE=H BERZE

and 31 March 2015 were classified as held for trading.

The unlisted investments at 31 March 2016 and 31 March
2015 were, upon initial recognition, designated by the
Group as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss as they are managed and their performances are
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management and investment strategy,
and information about the investments is provided on that
basis to the Group’s key management personnel.

=+
=t+—H FmEKRLRER

RZBE-—RE=ZA=+—RAKk=Z—1
FZA=1+—R FLMRETINRINZE
R R AR EIEE /A FEIIRR
RESTREZEMEE REARZKS
REDNDRERE 2RREERRER
B RN FEEEEERFEERR
MARZEIRE 2B IRZELER AR
EEZTI2EBRABRH-



20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

21.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The fair values of the above investments were based on
the market values provided by financial institutions or
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 March 2016, the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of HK$16,492,000 (2015:
HK$4,679,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 44).

STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and
represented several deposits placed with banks. The
Group designated the structured deposits as investments
at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with
HKAS 39. As at 31 March 2016, the aggregate fair
value of the structured deposits was approximately
HK$14,490,000 (2015: HK$74,105,000) and total realised
and unrealised fair value gains of HK$46,000 (2015:
HK$1,237,000) were recognised by the Group during the
year.

At 31 March 2015, structured deposits with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$50,150,000 were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 44).

The fair value was based on the market values provided
by financial institutions at the end of the reporting period.

20.

21.
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A 50 B B it 48 g R
Mz & E ()

PR E 2 A EDREBEEREM
MEINFERRZTIGRE[SELE-

R—ZZE—XRNE=ZA=+—H0 4*4%H
BB /16,492,000 L (Z T — A F:
4,679,000/ 7T ) 2 A AR R RE
mPREZCMEEDIERR EAR
SBFERRITEE ZER (H5E44) ©

M Tk 17 K

EBUEGER DR AFEYEREFER
RITEBETR - AEBEREEES
FHERIEIR A E B IEFRIEE /K
AFEEERIESFEREEZRE R
ZE-RFE=ZA=+—H £BHEEX
2 BN {E B #914,490,0008 7L (= F
— R 74,105,000/ 7T ) A K B &38 &
R I N FE W 2 48 8E46,00078 7T (=
T—AHF 1,237,000 T) ERF RN A
REBRER-

R-_E—REF=ZA=+—0 HRHEEE
/50,150,000 7T 2 & 7 RE1EK
B IEAREEMERETIRITEEZ
AR (FeE44) o

RNFHEDREREERNRERARERZ
mEAEE-
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22. PROPERTIES UNDER 2. BREPHEXERFHERED X
DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES
HELD FOR SALE
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BRphE
2016 2015
—EB-RF —T—hF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT TFET
At beginning of year REH] 1,260,173 1,082,225
Additions NE 39,745 174,242
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHB AR (69,477) -
Transfer to properties held for sale ~ EEEH{EHE 2 % (195,794) -
Exchange realignment ME W, R (41,768) 3,706
At 31 March Wn=A=+—H 992,879 1,260,173
Properties under development TEEIR A TEIR % T 2 B R+
expected to be completed: ER
Within normal operating cycle BERRBEEZ ARKE
included under current assets* FEER A 51,239 186,081
Beyond normal operating cycle BEERBEEZHBLE
included under non-current assets* gt 941,640 1,074,092
992,879 1,260,173
Properties under development FEHRUATEEREERA
expected to be completed within BT KAlUgE 2R Y5
normal operating cycle and
recovered:
Within one year* —FR* - 186,081
More than one year* il —F 51,239 -
51,239 186,081
* Based on the current best estimates by the Group’s senior * REAEBSREREEEL 2 ERN&
management. EfdEr e
The Group’s properties under development are located in REE 2 BRP YL BIARRE-
Mainland China.
Included in the Group’s properties under development FAREB 2ERERMERR T
are land use rights with an aggregate carrying amount of —R"F=ZA=T—-—HREAKEEMAELD
approximately HK$558,594,000 at 31 March 2016 (2015: £558,594,0008 Tt (ZE—RHF:
HK$585,035,000). 585,035,000/ 7T ) 2 T 3b i FfE
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22.

23.

24.

PROPERTIES UNDER
DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES
HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
(Continued)

At 31 March 2015, the Group’s properties under
development with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$475,981,000 were pledged to secure certain banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 44).

Further particulars of the Group’s major properties under
development are included on pages 228 to 231.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s properties held for sale are located in the
PRC. As at 31 March 2016, properties held for sale
with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$91,183,000 (2015: HK$573,546,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
44).

22.
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FRPYERSFEDLED X
()

BRPWE @)

RZE—RF=ZA=+—H AEEE
H#2{E475,981,000/8 T2 B EAMED
ERH 1ERAEEMERSE TIRITRE
B2 R (Kists4) -

AREFBZ FBERPYEZE
N F228FE 2318 °

SR (R R 3

Zﬁil?ﬂﬁﬁﬁf@%mﬁéﬂh B o

7’ /\ ¢ )EJ + —H- gﬁﬁ z-
Tﬁfﬁm 183,000 T (Z T — A F:
573,546,000/ 7T ) 2 I EH EWMHECAE
EH - (EAAEEMERSE TIRITEE
Z R (MI5E44) -

B

INVENTORIES 23. i &
2016 2015
—E—XE —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FET
Food and beverages B kst 25,686 31,041
DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 24. E MRk~ & R AT E

PREPAYMENTS

Included in the balance is an amount of HK$83,757,000 EEREL3E83,757,0008 7 (ZE—HF

(2015: HK$88,352,000) representing the trade debtors of
the Group.

88,352,000/ 0) AAEE 2 EWE SR

2016 2015

—E—RE —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Trade debtors JEULE Z BRI 109,393 117,739
Impairment BB (25,636) (29,387)
83,757 88,352
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24. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

An aged analysis of such trade debtors as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of

provision, is as follows:

24. JE W Bk K~ 4% & R TE A Ak R

(%)

R|EMKR ARARWE HRFIZER
SR UPSEinll Ryl iy U N

162

2016 2015
—E—-RE —ZE—RHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

Current to 30 days BNHEEZ=30H 9,120 6,731
31 to 60 days 31E60H 3,223 946
61 to 90 days 61%E90H 628 3,857
Over 90 days B3890 H 70,786 76,818
83,757 88,352

CREDIT TERMS

For hotel, restaurant and food businesses, the Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly on cash
or credit card settlements. For property sales, credit
terms vary in accordance with the terms of the sale and
purchase agreements. All trade debtors are recognised
and carried at their original invoiced amounts less
impairment of debtors which is provided when the
collection of the full amount is no longer probable. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
debtor balances. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management.

In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade debtors relate to a large number of
diversified customers. The Group has received a
guarantee from a third party in respect of certain trade
debtors amounting to approximately HK$50,729,000 as
at 31 March 2016. Other than the above, the Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
these balances. Trade debtors are non-interest-bearing.

{5 B f& 3

SBEE ERERREBM S AREE
HEPZEZER—RUARSHEAS
REST AMEHEMS EEEFKA
ERESARZGIMEE - FBRK
BHRFNDREFREZSRNRNTH
A BE A BN B SRR R 2 R U E S0k
FORMBEREBNAR - NREBSKEH
e AR MEIE R AR R A R B 1T BRI B
mREEEE RS RERETER-

ZRE L ER AR ERKE S RP
RRENRZBEUEPZEE -A&E
ERFREE=ZTMER BEER_-F
—RFE=ZA=T—HNETESENR
AR X 4950,729,0007% 7T © BRI 3Pt 2
S AN G A0 B LR A R A (R
HAEMBEERA -EHRUEFIG S

EHEME
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24. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 24. JEW MR K~ &2 BT A SKE

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade
debtors are as follows:

(4)
BHRWIRR 2R ER B ZEMT

2016 2015

—E-XE —E—-hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

At beginning of year REH] 29,387 20,445
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) 2R E &2 (K 5E6) 28 9,214
Amount written off as uncollectible ~ {EA&T BT Uk B 2 fif i & 58 (2,279) (1695)
Impairment losses reversed (note 6)  JREET B E (Hf:E6) - (232)
Exchange realignment ME W A (1,500) 125
At 31 March W=A=+—H 25,636 29,387

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
debtors is a provision for individually impaired trade
debtors of HK$25,636,000 (2015: HK$29,387,000) with
a carrying amount before provision of HK$30,797,000
(2015: HK$38,386,000). Such provision was determined
after taking into account the ageing of individual debtors’
balances, the creditworthiness of the debtors, the
repayment history and historical write-off experience.

The aged analysis of the trade debtors that are not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

FETFTRRE ZERERZREREEFR
BRERENEREEKE ZERRELZ
B 525,636,000 T (—Z — HF:
29,387,000/ 7L ) " 2 Z MR R < BB
Ai BF T 18 /&30,797,0008 T (ZE—H
F : 38,386,000/ 70 ) c 2B H 2 ER &
KBEBMEANERFEKEREHR ZE
e EWERR 2 E AR BRES KB
MRS FE-

BERBEZ BYRRFRE DT

2016 2015

—E—-RE —ET—hF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FERT FET

Neither past due nor impaired K HIs R IRE 9,120 6,738
Less than 1 month past due @ By D — 1R A 3,187 4,482
1 to 3 months past due BE—Z= =i A 664 410
Over 3 months past due wHAEB A =18 A 65,625 67,723
78,596 79,353
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24.

205.

164

DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Trade debtors that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a large number of trade debtors for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Trade debtors that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent debtors that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

Included in the balance of debtors, deposits
and prepayments is an amount due from a third
party of HK$23,900,000 (2015: HK$37,900,000),
which is unsecured, bears interest at 16%
(2015: 15%) per annum and repayable in
December 2016 (2015: December 2015).

DUE FROM DIRECTORS

Particulars of amounts due from directors, disclosed
pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the Hong Kong
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

24.

20D.

ME R B K @ R TR K
(8)

FEUE 5 B 508 ML HASE #HE R fC 8% 2
RERWE ZEF - BRFARBEIHK
RIBLME °

EBHERBECEBEEZRASEZ A
EARBERERIFERRRBZBILES
AN REBEBELR NAREERR 5
REEBME AR EEERYRELE
EAREY ARFREKDAIRESLD

BB ZA Bt L 1 A (DR (B 34 o

sEATEURBR TR & R FEN FR0E 2 5%
A IE W — % 5 = 5 7 1823,900,0005% 7T
— T —F 4 37,900,000/ 7T) B A&
SR IR ERT16% (ZE—RHF:
15% )5t B WAEAR -—ZT— R NFE+ A
TR ZT-RFETZA)E
5‘%0

ME W % K

RI5E A QA EH #3831 (d)IFE L EFE
NAl (BBEEEANZER)EHEIZLZ
MERBEZEREEHERENT

Maximum

Maximum At amount

At amount 31 March outstanding
31 March outstanding 2015 and during the At
Name 2016 |during the year 1 April 2015 prior year 1 April 2014

—T-h%¥

RAFE =ZA=+—H° RBTER
RZB-R%F HAEE RZIT-RF HAEE RZT-RF
ne =ZA=t+-H ZEEEHE mA—A ZE®THE mA—A
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER FET TEL TR
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENEBRAE 12,259 12,259 3,031 3,031 776
Mr. Ma Kai Yum SNRELE - 972 - 727 727
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BkthrE 1,437 1,437 275 275 273
13,696 3,306 1,776

The amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

FEWE FF IR S EE I % 8 L EEE
B



26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS
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26. e kBl FHEH - Z W H
Bl Rk g4 £F K

2016 2015
—E-KR¥ —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FH&T
Cash and bank balances e MRITHERF 164,659 213,991
Time deposits TE BT 104,225 144,265
268,884 358,256
Less: Pledged time deposits for B BREFIRTTER
long term bank loans Bz EHFER (86,818) (88,844)
Pledged time deposits for RETHRITEER
certain banking facilities and RERITEFRE 2
short term bank loans 7E BiTF 3K (16,888) (29,452)
Restricted cash (note) BRHIEE (M) (6,971) (10,712)
Cash and cash equivalents HeMkREFEMEER 158,207 229,248

Note: According to relevant contracts, property development
companies of the Group are required to place at
designated bank accounts certain amounts as
deposits for potential default in payment of mortgage
loans advanced to certain property purchasers. Such
guarantee deposits will only be released either after the
property ownership certificates are submitted to the
banks as collateral or when the property purchasers have
repaid the full mortgage loans to the banks.

fier: REHEBALN AEREZMEER
REAFR—ETBRIEERTA
AR IZIBHAZETHEER
RUEEFR ZBERLEHFEREHE
ERITESFEEZFRAXZME
BRARTNERBRBHAET
TRERR o
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26.

27.

166

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances and time deposits of the Group denominated
in Renminbi amounted to HK$85,474,000 (2015:
HK$102,088,000). The Renminbi is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
Renminbi for other currencies through banks authorised
to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and time
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

TRADE CREDITORS

An aged analysis of the trade creditors as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

26.

27.

BekdleFMEH 2 RH
Bl ka4 % a0

RWEMR AEBENUNAREGE
WREERTEFREHFTRA
285,474,000 L (=& — R F:
102,088,000/ 7T) - AR FEA] B
HIMBEMERE - A - IR B RRER
CHNEE B G B R 45 B - S TE RS EE
BIRHRTE)  AEEEESBREFTE
TIMNEEB 2 RITHBRARKBEME
&,Fgo

RITRSRBARITHERNEZFEHF
KEDAE -RIFAEBE KBRS F
KEHERFERZHRA— N F—
BE=ZEAIF AL TEZEHE DR
TF RN R - RITETF R EHEFRT
BN EEE BT A E QiR e iRTT
o

ME £ & 5 Bk 3k

RBEHR BNEZRFIIRERTAH
ZHRE DT

2016 2015

—E-RE —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAET

Current to 30 days BIEAZ=30H 92,849 104,045
31 to 60 days 31260H 3,331 6,132
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,580 2,207
Over 90 days H#BB90H 4,098 3,959
101,858 116,343

Trade creditors are non-interest-bearing and are normally
repayable within the normal operating cycle.

ENEZERREHNEMERARER
LERMANEE-
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28. ¥ fi

Provision for

28. PROVISIONS

Provision for

onerous restoration
contracts costs Total
BEEARE BERESERE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET THET TFET
At 1 April 2015 R-Z—RFMA—H - - -
Addition provisions FTIG B 24,124 3,070 27,194
Exchange realignment ME B (540) - (540)
At 31 March 2016 RZE—RF
—HA=+—H 23,584 3,070 26,654
Portion classified as NEAETREEE
current liabilities 2B (13,072) (700) (13,772
10,512 2,370 12,882

The provision for onerous contracts is made for
obligations under non-cancellable onerous operating
lease contracts when the underlying properties are not
used by the Group and the least net costs of exiting from
the contracts exceed the economic benefits expected to
be received under them. The provision is expected to be
utilised over the terms of the underlying operating lease
arrangements to 2018.

The provision for restoration costs relates to the Group’s
obligations to reinstate its leased properties to their
original state or to a condition, as specified in the
respective tenancy agreements, at the end/upon the
termination of the relevant lease terms.

The provision for reinstatement costs was determined
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by the
directors of the Group with reference to past experience
and available information. The assumptions and estimates
are reviewed, and revised where appropriate.

EHEMEIERAKREER BAH
ZIRAREKAFREBBAE HETIEY
R WE Z BN B AR A
ER2MHESWAET ZEEELEES
MEE -BREARRRE_T-\FZ
MR EREREZ GFFESA -

B R A B AR BN A B B fE R
SRR SHEEENEREEFHEE
W Pt 2 AR EH AR 2 BEEA

ERRABELN2EREERRATES
BEMURBAESEESAELZETR
REMAEFHMETE - ZFBRELMGEF TR
FRRER] (WE ) °

167



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2016

Notes to Finapcial Statements
Wt it & M sk

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND

168

29. It B 2 AT R 3 b fa B

OTHER BORROWINGS
2016 2015
ZE-RE “T-RF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%)  Maturity HK$’000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
ERAZE  FHA TEx | ERMZE  3HA TET
Current
B
Bank overdrafts - secured 29-31 Ondemand 993 45  Ondemand 4,954
RITBEY-CHERA REX REX
Bank overdrafts — unsecured - - 32-33 Ondemand 9,508
RITEX—EHR REL
Bank loans - secured 22-6.6 by March 2017 410,917 2.2-80 byMarch 2016 604,909
RITEF-EER —Z-t§=AH “E-RNF=A
Current portion of long term 1.2-49 by March 2017 139,055 12-3.0 byMarch 2016 110,603
bank loans - secured
HEBRBFETER-—CHEF —E-t§=AH ZE-RF=A
Long term bank loans repayable 1.9-34 Ondemand 78,068 2.5 Ondemand 18,334
on demand - secured
REXRERRARITER REX BEX
—BEH
Other loan - unsecured 8.5 On demand 23,852 8.5 by December 2015 25,290
HiEn-—EHR REXR —“E-1F+=HA
652,885 773,598
Non-current
FE N
Bank loans - secured 1.2-49 2017-2025 283,514 12-3.0 2016-2025 231,820
HeEH-mER “E-tEE “E-RNER
—E-RE -
936,399 1,005,418




29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
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9. fEZ#AT R EAEE @0

2016 2015
—RF —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Analysed into: pai
Bank overdrafts repayable BARERKFKEEZ
on demand RITEX 993 14,462
Bank loans repayable: IRITEFGERE
Within one year or on demand —F N IZBEREEE 628,040 733,846
In the second year F_F 99,677 65,649
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-FEFRF
(EEMF
BEERN) 162,273 130,802
Beyond five years AFLAE 21,564 35,369
911,554 965,666
Other borrowings repayable: ARATHRAEEZ
HMEE:
Within one year —F A 23,852 25,290
936,399 1,005,418

Included in the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are borrowings with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$66,786,000 as at 31 March 2016 (2015:
HK$214,284,000) which are denominated in Renminbi.
The remaining interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are secured by the pledge of certain assets
of the Group as further detailed in note 44 to the financial
statements.

R-_ZE—RNEZA=+—H &#AE
B e scRITREMEEFBER
8 566,786,000 7T (ZZE — R F:
214,284,000 7T ) 2B B A A R &
B HEHRMBZRITREMBEELUET
BEER

REEETHEZRITREMEETIA
— %8

BHAEBETEERER #
EEANIREE E LA
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30. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

The Group leases certain motor vehicles for its property
investment and development business. These leases were
classified as finance leases with their lease terms ended

during the current year.

At 31 March 2015, the total future minimum lease
payments under finance leases and their present values

were as follows:

30. EftmEME

AEBREMERENBREGMEE
ETABE - ZEHERARBERNAF
ERKIEZHERE-

R_E-—RF=A=+—H ®EHE
BN ZARFERENREBENERE
LURNE

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease lease
payments payments
2015 2015
=EBER K
HEBER K ZBE
—E—RF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Amounts payable: 5 B S 2 5R0E
Within one year —F A 619 607
Total minimum finance RIEmMEREN AR
lease payments 619 607
Future finance charges RARFEER (12)
Total net finance lease payables e BB ENIAL TR 607
Portion classified as current liabilities 7 8 &R B & & 3015 (607)

Non-current portion

FERNER AR
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31. DEFERRED TAX 31. %% i B A
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year AFEERELERIBEGE BT :

are as follows:

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES i B IE A R
2016
—E-RE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from Revaluation
related acquisition of of investment
depreciation  subsidiaries properties Total
H R
BBEENE NRAEEZ REME
WHERBE  ATERE Eff @t
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TERT TERT TERT
At 1 April 2015 R-E-HFNA—A 24,327 259,592 192,696 476,615
Deferred tax credited to AFEEBERPIALZ
the statement of profit or loss BRI (H3E10)
during the year (note 10) (99) (19,740) (503) (20,342)
Exchange realignment B 5 B - 79 (1,694) (1,615)
Gross deferred tax liabilities N_E—~E=F=+—H
at 31 March 2016 ZERHERERE 24,228 239,931 190,499 454,658
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. BB (w0
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS i A B IH & A
2016
—E-RE
Losses available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profits
7] A LA BE AR 3R
FERFBLER
K2 EE
HK$’000
FExT
At 1 April 2015 R-_ZE—REMA—A 1,644
Deferred tax charged to the statement of REEB@mRP R ZIELERHIE
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (FF3E10) (203)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2016 RZE—RF=ZA=+—8~
B I EERE 1,441
For presentation purposes, the deferred tax assets and HEIME EERBEEERBEDR
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of RE AR AT LAY -
financial position.
2016
—E-RE
HK$’000
FExT
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the Rire BRI R ERZ
consolidated statement of financial position EIEF BB EFE 453,217
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. %% B A (a)
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES i HE B & R
2015
—T-1F
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in adjustments
excess of arising from Revaluation
related  acquisition of  of investment
depreciation subsidiaries properties Total
RN
BRAEBANE ARELZ REME
MTERHE ATEAE Bt wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TET TET
At 1 April 2014 RZZE—NFEMA—H 24,340 260,353 179,325 464,018
Deferred tax charged/(credited) rEEBEERT
to the statement of profitor loss 1%/ (3t A) 2
during the year (note 10) BRI (FIFE10) (19) (781) 13,252 12,458
Exchange realignment i 5 R - 20 119 139
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZE-RF=A=+—H
at 31 March 2015 ZERHIEEEEE 24,327 259,592 192,696 476,615
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. BB (w0
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS i A B B E
2015
—E—HF
Losses available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profits
A A LA B R 2R
& SR i
31 2 E5 18
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2014 RZE—NEMA—H 1,735
Deferred tax charged to the statement of AFEEEERFHRZ
profit or loss during the year (note 10) EFEREIE (K15E10) 91)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2015 RZE—HRF=A=+—82
BB EEEMLE 1,644
For presentation purposes, the deferred tax assets and REIME EEHEEERABEDER
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of AR AT A -
financial position.
2015
—E—HF
HK$'000
FAET
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE BT SR R R FERR
consolidated statement of financial position EEFIEAEFRE 474,971
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$255,991,000 (2015: HK$225,595,000), subject
to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department, that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. The Group also has estimated tax
losses arising in Mainland China of HK$180,035,000
(2015: HK$148,499,000) that will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Other
than as disclosed above, deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses as it is
currently not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2016, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$819,688,000 at 31
March 2016 (2015: HK$720,804,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.
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31. %% A B IE (@)

AEBBAEREEAEZHEEIB
255,991,000 L (=% — A F :
225,595,000/ 7T ) ' BB BB B
JE ML BB 0] AR B AR DA B 2= A S
B2 AR B2 R E R 5 A K 85 o
AEBTEAEREPEKRE Z(GEHIE
/E518180,035,000/8 0 (—ZFE— A F -
148,499,000/ 7T ) * i Itk 55 &5 18 Al 7
—FERFAEIHE - Al AR RER
P m A SH o bR EXXFrIREEE SN AR E
AR AT AI BEEE A B 40 2 FE R B & A1 AR
VER S B A 2 I SR IBE 18 - SR
I EEBRREEHBEE-

BE (PRGEMSTOR) NP BEARE
PRI ZINEFIRIMIEET IR 2 IS
BRBBI0%EHIH -BEAREE —F
ENF-A-—HBER WEAR-F
TEtFET _A=+—HRBRAELZA
) o fiaf P B K Bk BRI SMR B F P B B
R BEABRBRG A RREE
TR BT - NE B 2 5BA L F R5%3k
10% ° B - NEE B F R A E K
R 2 B ARI — T NF—H—
FEEL 2 BFM DIk SR IEN
o

RZE—ARF=ZA=+—8 ~AEEBI
KRB RFER Y B BB TENH 2
P8 A Al 2 KB B R 2 BN RE
RELEHRE -BERE ZSHBRAFRN
ARARDEZEBFZHEE TR R
—E-ARFEZA=Z+—8 -\BHFEK
EWBARZIRERB s Bt =5
A ££#9819,688,000 & T it AR BIE
IERIEEE (T — R 720,804,000
BIT) e

A7 ) 60 EL R BRS04 2 A P B
Bk R -
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32. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 32. fikemIH
INSTRUMENT
Liability
aE
2016 2015
—E—-XREF —HRF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Interest rate swap ) & 45 B 195 1,517
Portion classified as non-current D ¥EAIERNER 2 201 (195) -
Current portion Bl ER &6 10 - 1,517

33.

176

The Group uses an interest rate swap to minimise its
exposure to movements in interest rate in relation to one
of its floating rate term loans with a nominal amount of
HK$55,000,000 (2015: HK$200,000,000). Such swap did
not meet the criteria for hedge accounting.

This derivative is not designated for hedge purposes and
is measured at fair value through profit or loss. Fair value
loss of derivative financial instrument of HK$33,000 (2015:
HK$624,000) was recognised in the statement of profit or
loss during the year.

The above derivative financial instrument was measured
at fair value at the end of the reporting period and was
determined based on interest rate yield curve.

DEFERRED INCOME

The deferred income represents cash subsidies received
from a government authority in respect of a property
development project in Mainland China. Deferred income
of HK$269,000 was released to the statement of profit
or loss during the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015:
HK$21,183,000).

33.

& E 5 B % % £ %855,000,0007% 7T

—Z—F% 200,000,000 7T ) 2 F|=&
BHLURER R EEE — BB RETE
BERZHE - ZEHAYTFEE PR

Zimt

AOTE T AW EIETE (E SR A% KR A
FEREBRTREIAGFE -ZENTE
T/ T A2 AFEEES3,0008 7T (=
T —Nh%F:624,00087T) ERFAFA
BER-

NEPTESRIARRERRZ ATE
SFENMERN R Yot R RETE -

98 I A

B AR KRR BT EBPIRER — B+
BAEMEERASIZASHY -HE
—E-RFZA=Z+—HIFE Bx
RAIEIEW A 5269,000/8 7T (—F—
£ :21,183,000/8 7T ) °
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34. k&

2016 2015
—EB-RF —T—hF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Issued and fully paid: BT RAERA
1,053,887,536 (2015: SREE0I0E TS
1,249,887,536) ordinary shares T IR1,253,887,5361%
of HK$0.10 each (ZE—FHF:

1,249,887,536/% ) 125,389 124,989

During the years ended 31 March 2016 and 31 March
2015, the movements in share capital were as follows:

(@)

The subscription rights attached to 1,000,000 share
options were exercised during the prior year at the
weighted average subscription price of HK$1.03 per
share (note 35), resulting in the issue of 1,000,000
new ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each for a total
cash consideration of HK$1,030,000. An amount of
HK$492,000 was transferred from the share option
reserve to share premium account upon the exercise
of the share options in the prior year.

The subscription rights attached to 4,000,000
share options were exercised during the year at the
subscription price of HK$0.824 per share (note 35),
resulting in the issue of 4,000,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration
of HK$3,296,000. An amount of HK$1,630,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to share
premium account upon the exercise of the share
options.

HE-_ZT—XXF=ZA=+—BRKk=_ZE

E/ I NE

(@)

Bt B #21,000,00019 B A% # 2 R B8
BEREFERINEFIREES
B%1.03% 7T T LATTE (M 5E35) -
3B B %%771,000,0008% = A% EI{EO.1
BrLsomEmER HeREREAR
1,030,000/ 7T AL F 1T RN
1% - © ¥8492,0007% JU E M BE AR i
REERERD&ER-

4,000,00017 & Iz #EFT A5~ SR BE 1
ERAFEANEREESTRR0.824
ST ETTE (M 5E35) - BE BT
4,000,000k X EE R0.18 T2
gL - 4838 ¢ (E 43,296,000
77T ° ©%81,630,000/8 TTE R TIE
BRENOHBRERBERERSD
B AR
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 34. kA (@)
A summary of the transactions during the year with FARR LA RB D ETRAES) 2
reference to the above movements in the Company’s RHGMEBMAT

issued share capital is as follows:

Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
BT
RH&E ERTRE ROEER @it
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i3 TET FET FET
At 1 April 2014 NZT—-MF
mA—A 1,248,887,536 124,889 1,388,351 1,513,240
Share options exercised BT BkE (a) 1,000,000 100 1,422 1,522
At 31 March 2015 and W_E—LF
1 April 2015 “A=+—8k
ZE-0F
MmA—A 1,249,887,536 124,989 1,389,773 1,514,762
Share options exercised BT BkE (b) 4,000,000 400 4,526 4,926
At 31 March 2016 R_E—RF
=A=+—H 1,253,887,536 125,389 1,394,299 1,519,688
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operated two share option schemes (the
“2005 Option Scheme” and the “2015 Option Scheme”)
during the year for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Schemes include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees
of the Group and consultants of any member of the
Group. The 2005 Option Scheme expired on 9 October
2015 and the 2015 Option Scheme became effective
on 24 August 2015 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
permitted to be granted under the 2015 Option Scheme
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant of the 2005 Option Scheme
and 2015 Option Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting with such participant and his associates
abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors
of the Company. If the offer to grant share options to
directors or any of their associates, is in excess of 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with
an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, the grant is subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting
which the grantee and his associates shall abstain from
voting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer. The amount payable
on acceptance of an option is HK$1. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors.
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35. I % HE 5 #

FA-ARFREWERRETS (=
EENFHEREAE I M —T—RFE
BiEEE])  REAREEBIEL AR
ZBBERSEE RSB &R - &t
HZABER2EERRBARAES (B
EBUIFNTESR) AEBEHEMETR
AEBEIMKE AR 2R —FFH
FHEREAEER_ZE—RFTANA
fEim M —E-RFBREAEER
E-RFENAZTEBERRER kK&
FERTTRBEHER FEZEETFR
FBEM-

RIE-_FT A FRERES HERY
ZRARITERRE LR ERNEITEE
ARRRNEDEHITRMDAEZ210% > =
ETERFBREF SN _F—AFBERK
BBz BR A ER2EEREBELE
AT ERPAMEMA1218 A HE S
BBARAR TR D EITRAZ1% < (E[
E— RN BIREBBIRE BIF
KIRRAEBRAS LibE MABSHE
ENEBAEATARERR-

BRTESBRBLFELESARRE
MIFHTEFRE - HEZRTESX
BEZEABHEAL 2 BREBEAR
AN B BT 9 0.1% K AME 1218 A
Hif - EE (BETRHPEARRLZK
{&) 8 485,000,000/ 7T * R HF 278
EEBERRNERRE L& MBEBS
HERNHEBEALTARERRE -

BREERLE B RBRANEXRE
EMBRERTNRIERIET -KTHE
BENTENHESEE -
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39.

180

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by
the directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer
date, which must be a business day; (i) the average
of the closing prices of the shares stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the
2005 Option Scheme and 2015 Option Scheme during
the year:

39.

W M st B a0

BRECZTEENHESET LEAR
UTEEBEZESE  (ANARRMDNES
HH (ZANEREHEA) RERMEAR
WERAS2WHE: (RMDAEER
FHHAAEEEARBRMET A RE
FFT5 2 FHWTE : Ki)RHEE -

BRI IR TS A AR ERURE 3
RERAE LRR-

ERFER —STRAFERETEIRL
TE-RFBREFETRARITEZE
PerELnT ¢

2016 2015
—E-RE “T-RF

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

T3 TS
TEE BREHA TEE BREHE

HK$ HK$

per share per share

ShiEgx FRET
At beginning of year REA 1.10 25,050,000 1.16 31,050,000
Granted during the year REREH 0.81 20,900,000 - -
Exercised during the year RERTTE 0.82 (4,000,000) 1.03 (1,000,000)
Forfeited during the year RERZ M 1.02 (7,000,000 - -
Lapsed during the year RERLKHR - - 1.51 (5,000,000)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 0.97 34,950,000 1.10 25,050,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for share options exercised during the year was HK$0.97
(2015: HK$1.10) per share.

RERITEBERER ZNEFHRE
AERCITETL(ZE—RAF 1108
JC) °
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 35. M Mk #E 5 & ()
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share RIEBRRHARITECBREZITEE
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period MATF AT

are as follows:

2016 —E—-RE
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
R E TEE TEHH
HK$ per share
BRER
4,150,000 1.300 18-12-2006 to 17-12-2016
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2015to 2-1-2017
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2016 to 2-1-2018
2,900,000 0.710 31-12-2013 to 11-5-2017
5,000,000 1.510 2-7-2013 to 1-7-2016
6,000,000 0.810 16-10-2015 to 15-10-2020
1,300,000 0.810 16-10-2016 to 15-10-2019
1,300,000 0.810 16-10-2017 to15-10-2020
1,300,000 0.810 16-10-2018 to15-10-2021
1,000,000 0.810 16-10-2019 to15-10-2022
1,000,000 0.810 16-10-2020 to15-10-2023
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2016 to 31-7-2020
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2017 to 31-7-2021
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2018 to 31-7-2022
34,950,000
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

182

35. Bk HE R B ()

2015 —E—RHF
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREZE THEE THEHE
HKS$ per share
BRET
4,150,000 1.300 18-12-2006 to 17-12-2016
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2015to 2-1-2017
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2016 to 2-1-2018
2,900,000 0.710  31-12-2013 to 11-5-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2013 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2014 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2015 to 21-10-2017
7,000,000 1.510 2-7-2013to 1-7-2016
25,050,000
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to * E%%%ﬁﬁfg’ﬁ*ﬂ%ﬂ Hx‘}ZZIHx

adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year
was HK$5,662,000 (approximately HK$0.27 each), of
which the Group recognised a share option expense of
HK$2,561,000 during the year ended 31 March 2016.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant,
using a binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

gzﬁ AR 2 E i B EE

RERN KEEREZAFEAR
5,662,000/ 7T (4 & ix0.27% L) + H
PAREBEREE T —"F=-A=+—
AIEFE 2R RER2,561,000/%
TTo

RERART 2 BEERE ZBREZ AT
BEUARTEZ —BABEALT IR TE
PR 2 AR AR R B (A ET - TRIIH
PriEMZER 2B AER

2016

NS

Dividend yield (%) AR B K (%) 3.76
Expected volatility (%) T8 HA R 18 (%) 442 -57.3
Historical volatility (%) JE 5208 18 (%) 442 -57.3
Risk-free interest rate (%) #2 [3 Fx 1) 2 (%) 1.731
Expected life of options (years) B B AE A (F) 3-5
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) EFHRE (BB 0.81



39.

36.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the
actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

The 4,000,000 (2015: 1,000,000) share options exercised
during the year resulted in the issue of 4,000,000 (2015:
1,000,000) ordinary shares of the Company and new
share capital of HK$400,000 (2015: HK$100,000) and
share premium of HK$4,526,000 (2015: HK$1,422,000),
as further detailed in note 34 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
34,950,000 share options outstanding under the 2005
Option Scheme and 2015 Option Scheme. The exercise
in full of the outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 34,950,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of HK$3,495,000,
and share premium of HK$30,498,000 (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 34,950,000 share options outstanding
under the 2005 Option Scheme and the 2015 Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 2.79% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 69
and 70 of the financial statements.

39.

36.

PRSP MR BRA ] | 201649

Notes to Financial Statemen“rs
Wt it & I ek

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

W M B a0

B 2 TREA R AR IBE £ 22
RBIRAIBEH R M TTERER - FEHIK
e 2 AR /R SE R IR AT FEUR R SRB E 2 R
®ATEERER-

WERTIARFEFE 2 MR URER
o

F£RND171# 24,000,000 (ZFE—F
% :1,000,0001n ) 8 B # & B 8% 17
4,000,000/ (== — F £ : 1,000,000
BR) AR A Bz i R & T A% 45400,000
7T (ZZF — A 100,000/ 7T ) A K
B 17 % 184,526,000/ T (Z T — R4
1,422,000/ 7t ) (40 B 7 3R 2% M £ 34 P
HE—BEE) o

RBEBRR RE-_STHFERE
BT —AFEREASE AR
7] 534,950,00017 8 I 4 4 R 1T o
BERARARRITRALRE  2EITE
M AR ATIE 2 B IR S BB A R BB AN
% 7734,950,0008% & @A% - BEINR A B
8,495,000/ 7T * % 13 4 {8 £30,498,000
BT (NBREEITRSZAT) ©

REEREFBRRERD RIE_-F
ThFEBEREFEIL T —RFBEK
RSt &) - N2 7] F34,950,00017 % I 4
WARITE IERREE BEETRN L
2.79% °

fif fhg

AEBRERFERAFE L HERE
B BIE 2 5IREBT5 8% FEORT0
B2 GAREEDE-
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36.

37. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH

184

RESERVES (Continued)

36. f#f ca)
¢%@2ﬁﬁ$ﬁm%@w¢lx*“

The reserve funds of the Group represent the non-
distributable statutory reserves of the Group’s subsidiaries
operating in Mainland China. The transfers to these
reserves are determined by the boards of directors of the
subsidiaries in accordance with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations. The reserve funds can be used to offset
against future losses or to increase the capital of the

subsidiaries.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-

37.

BZMBRRTRED

IR 2% E 7t 4 o B

EQﬂZ%%QHﬂETgﬂP BRRAR R

ek e T
2 518 8 R (A A P 2

7K o

% M & 2

8 & 7T BR

Al Z B

MAEEAFERERZES

AEBMBERERNFERER ZHEB A A

controlling interests are set out below: ZEIEEHINT
2016 2015
—E-XF —ZE—-hF
Percentage of equity interest held A EE I 2 FEE ﬁﬂ =
by non-controlling interests of Pl EZ A D
Hunan Carrianna 7.79% 12.5%
2016 2015
o — Tt
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHT
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to 7 Bt 2 8 Fa (= 22 4 %
non-controlling interests of Hunan HiB A A
Carrianna and its subsidiaries (the ([ EEPERE]) 2
“Hunan Carrianna Group”) FEVERR MR 2
REERF (BE) 2,951 (283)
Accumulated balance of non- RFEBRZHEEEREE
controlling interests of Hunan Z IR 2 REHAERR
Carrianna Group at the reporting
date 89,207 142,288
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37. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 37. G & k&R ED 2 k%

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING & Ift 8 2 8 (a)

INTERESTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised TRINTHEEEREE 2 GENBE
consolidated financial information of the Hunan Carrianna BHEZ-EREc2BEREMARME
Group. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- SHAT 2 8 -

company eliminations:

2016 2015
—E—-REF —ZE—RHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Revenue WA 160,774 37,728
Profit/(loss) for the year REZHH, (EE) 68,168 (2,263)
Total comprehensive income REE2EBRALLLE
for the year 41,969 643
Current assets MENE B 623,990 750,742
Non-current assets ERBEE 980,382 1,091,362
Current liabilities ER=LE (170,838) (399,661)
Non-current liabilities EmBBE (288,386) (304,136)
Net cash flows from/(used in) KwEESME,/ (FA)
operating activities REeEMBFHE 105,604 (61,113)
Net cash flows used in KEFSMARESMEFE
investing activities (6,478) (1,027)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BMEEEAE(FTA)
financing activities REeEMEBFHE (90,883) 35,263
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and  HE&&kIREFEIER
cash equivalents #m, CRd) FE 8,243 (26,877)
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

SLEEK TREASURE ACQUISITION

On 1 August 2014 (the “Sleek Treasure Acquisition
Date”), the Group completed the acquisition of 60%
equity interest in Sleek Treasure Ventures Limited and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Sleek Treasure Group”)
through a cash consideration of HK$30,000,000 to
Messrs. Cheng Ka Wah and Cheng Ka Yeung (“Messrs.
Cheng”) (the “Sleek Treasure Acquisition”). Sleek Treasure
Group is engaged in the operation of chain restaurants in
Hong Kong. Further details of the acquisition are set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 26 June 2014 and
1 August 2014. As a result of the business combination,
goodwill of HK$32,034,000 was recorded in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position in the prior
year. The goodwill arising from the Sleek Treasure
Acquisition pertains, but not limited to, the expected
synergies in the Group arising from the acquisition.

As part of the Sleek Treasure Acquisition, contingent
consideration is payable depending on whether the
adjusted profits (as defined in the announcement dated
26 June 2014) of the Sleek Treasure Group for the
first financial year commencing from 1 August 2014
(“Sleek Treasure First Financial Year”) or the average
adjusted profits for the First Financial Year and second
financial year commencing from 1 August 2015 (“Sleek
Treasure Second Financial Year”), whichever is the
higher (the “Sleek Treasure Calculated Profits”), exceed
HK$7,200,000 and is calculated by taking the excess of
the Sleek Treasure Calculated Profits over HK$7,200,000
(the “Excess”) multiplied by a price-earnings (“PE”) ratio of
6.35 and 60%. The contingent consideration is subject to
a maximum amount of HK$24,000,000. The initial amount
recognised was HK$8,165,000 which was determined
using the discounted cash flow model and is under Level
3 fair value measurement. The contingent consideration
is due for final measurement and payment to the former
shareholders within 20 days upon receipt of the financial
statements for the Sleek Treasure First Financial Year and
Sleek Treasure Second Financial Year.

38. %% & b

NE 55 A % ke B

RZZF—mFENA—H ([EE A UEE
HEI) - A% B PAIR € R (830,000,000
LRI B R B A R B REE e A& ([ 5
A ]) R WEIEE AR ER AR RE
MEA R (SRBIEEAIREE])60%
RE([EEaRKESEIE]) - JBE A
REBREACEEHERE EHKE
FHZE-—FHFBHRNARABER
—E-MEANAZTABREZE
FNA—BzRAMm-BREBE G-
32,034,000 T2 EE R E—FEqt
AREE 2 GEHBARAK IBE AR
WEEEEE 2 HEEH (2FETR
) ARNEE B W EEE 2 BRI R o

ERIBEAIRWEBEE L — 25 A
REAEENEARIEZAREEERS =
T-MNENA—HRHABZE @
BFE(EEAERE —EMBFE])
MEHAERFB(TERABA=ZZT
—MERNAZtTRNBZAM)KESE—
A REERE _E—REN\A—Bi
a2 B _EMBRFE ([EERIRSE
“EMBFEE]) R FELEAE R
grmnues ([EEaRENE]
=B A7,200,0008 7T A E R Ty IR BRI
= A EH E F)F A8 17,200,000/ 7T HY
o ([BEDRUTARR([TREX])
6.35(5 K6O%it H I AREBzHES®
¥ /324,000,000 Lo R 2 W &£ 58
738,165,000 7T+ o fF A BLIRIA & 78
METYRAZ=ZEBRAFEFE kA
REERAKEIEE RIS —EAMKRFEE
RIBE RIS — AN REE 2 M BHRE
R =+ B ETRETE R TRIR
%o



38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

SLEEK TREASURE ACQUISITION (Continued)

The contingent consideration is subsequently remeasured
at its fair value as a result of change in the expected
performance at the end of each reporting period, with
resulting gain or loss recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. As at 31 March 2016, the
contingent consideration was remeasured as nil (2015:
HK$2,564,000) with HK$2,564,000 recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In addition, as part of the Sleek Treasure Acquisition, the
Seller shall compensate the Group if the Sleek Treasure
Calculated Profits are less than HK$6,000,000 and the
compensation is calculated by taking the excess of
HK$6,000,000 over the Sleek Treasure Calculated Profits
multiplied by a PE of 6.5 and 60%. As at 31 March
2016, no compensation was accounted for as the Sleek
Treasure Calculated Profits are more than HK$6,000,000.

If the average profits after tax of the Sleek Treasure Group
for the Sleek Treasure First Financial Year and the Sleek
Treasure Second Financial Year exceed HK$10,000,000,
(i) Messrs. Cheng have a put option to sell part or all of
their shareholdings in the Sleek Treasure Group to the
Group; and (i) the Group has a call option to require
Messrs. Cheng to sell part or all of their shareholdings
in the Sleek Treasure Group at PE ratios of 6.5 and
8.5 if the average profits after tax of the Sleek Treasure
Group for the Sleek Treasure First Financial Year and
the Sleek Treasure Second Financial Year amounting to
or below HK$12,250,000 and exceed HK$12,250,000,
respectively. The financial liability that may become
payable under this arrangement is initially recognised
at the present value of gross expected realised amount
with a corresponding charge directly to equity. It is
subsequently carried at amortised cost at the end of each
reporting period. As at 31 March 2016, no financial liability
has been recognised as the average profits after tax of the
Sleek Treasure Group for the Sleek Treasure First Financial
Year and the Sleek Treasure Second Financial Year are not
expected to exceed HK$10,000,000.
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38. £ A B (m)

NE 25 A1 5% W B % TE (a0

MR ERMERR I TBRRBA LR EE)
FARERERZEATFEETTE A3
WK E BRI BERANER - NS
—RNEZAZ+—B AR EEFTTE
BZE(ZZT—HF 2,564,000 7T) * &R
2,564,000/ TN AR & B Ik AR

BN 1ERIEE AR KW EE E 18 2 — 6
7 8 BE gl &+ E A 2> 506,000,000
B REERRIBEARFENEZ
6,000,000/% JT 2 #8 %8 3 LA Th &8 %6.5(5
K60%stHE - HEFHHERERE RN
T—RF=ZA=1+—8 BRIEEAIE
5+ F8 £6,000,00078 JT LA L - #1310
ETASE -

MBS A1 =B R B A3% F — B K
FERIBEEAIRE —ESREENTFEE
19 A B 410,000,000 7T LA E - () £5
EEAREHE RIASEHERSER
B BI4% & B &9 2B 10 2k 2 P AR 1 R (ii)
AEEBEREHE EREGLEHER
EHIEERIREBHE Dk 2 EPARE -
HIBE A% £ BN IEE A1 5 —E 8 K
FENIEEARE B BRFEENR
1% 19 F) 8 £12,250,00078 JT 8k LA T &
12,250,000/8 7T LA £+ B9 Bl LAG.56F &
8.5(E M A EIEME - UL L HE T AT REFERT
WeRBEREREREE CREVS
R WAREER AR - RNEHmEH
N HBREHEAAIER R —RF
ZA=+—H BARIEEAREERIE
EARF—AMBFERIEERIRFE
B I Er e FaFEE T e
110,000,000/ 0 MW EER /M E

EEEO
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

PROFIT SMART ACQUISITION

On 1 July 2015 (the “Profit Smart Acquisition Date”), the
Group completed the acquisition of 60% equity interests
in the Profit Smart Group for a cash consideration
of HK$20,400,000 to the Seller (the “Profit Smart
Acquisition”). Profit Smart Group is engaged in the
production, wholesale and retail of bread, cakes,
pastries, Chinese pastries and pies in Hong Kong.
Further details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 28 May 2015 and
1 July 2015. As a result of the business combination,
goodwill of HK$17,411,000 was recorded in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position during the
year. The goodwill arising from the Profit Smart Acquisition
pertains, but not limited to, the expected synergies in the
Group arising from the acquisition.

As part of the Profit Smart Acquisition, contingent
consideration is payable depending on whether the profit
after tax of the Profit Smart Group for the first financial
year commenced from 1 July 2015 (“Profit Smart First
Financial Year”) or the average profit after tax for the
Profit Smart First Financial Year and second financial year
commencing from 1 July 2016 (“Profit Smart Second
Financial Year”), whichever is the higher (the “Profit
Smart Calculated Profits”), exceed HK$5,400,000 and
is calculated by taking the excess of the Profit Smart
Calculated Profits over HK$5,400,000 (the “Excess”)
multiplied by a price-earnings (“PE”) ratio of 6.4 and 60%.
The contingent consideration is subject to a maximum
amount of HK$5,000,000. Based on an assessment of
the relevant facts and circumstances and the possible
outcome by the Group’s senior management, no
contingent consideration was recognised at the Profit
Smart Acquisition date and at 31 March 2016.

In addition, as part of the Profit Smart Acquisition, the
Seller shall compensate the Group if the Profit Smart
Calculated Profits are less than HK$4,000,000 and the
compensation is calculated by taking the excess of
HK$4,000,000 over the Profit Smart Calculated Profits
multiplied by a PE of 6.4 and 60%.

38. % A b (m)

) B i B % 1A
R-ZZ—RAFtA—B([F%gKER
Hi|) - AN& B AR £ (X 820,400,000/
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

PROFIT SMART ACQUISITION (Continued)

On 30 November 2015, the Profit Smart Group acquired
60% interest in Bright Million Limited (“BML”) for a cash
consideration of HK$762,000 from an independent third
party (the “BML Acquisition”). BML is engaged in bakery
retail business in Hong Kong. As a result of this business
combination, goodwill of HK$762,000 was recorded in
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
during the year. The goodwill arising from the BML
Acquisition pertains, but not limited to, the expected
synergies in the Group arising from the acquisition.

The Group had elected to measure the non-controlling
interests in the Sleek Treasure Group, the Profit Smart
Group and BML at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the respective acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 38. #% A b (m)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of REBYIER B2 B AU A 2 il
the respective acquirees at the respective acquisition RIEERBEZAFEHINET :

dates are as follows:

Fair value recognised on acquisition

RBERREIZAFE
2016 2015
“E-RE| ZT-1F
Profit Smart BML Total Total
FE BML k) k)
1 July 30 November
Acquisition date W8 A H 2015 2015
“2-1% ZZ-hf%
+tA-H +—-A=1H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET THT
Property, plant and equipment mE BB R (M
(note 13) 13) 5,011 025 5,236 11,038
Inventories #& 167 4 171 655
Debtors, deposits and prepayments  [EUER 1« & AR 0B - - - 2,889
Cash and bank balances Be MBI 50 2 52 2,583
Trade creditors ERESER - - - (436)
Sundry creditors, accruals and HihErRED EERR
deposits received Blge - (231) (231) (7.411)
Total identifiable net assets BAFEEZTHANEE
at fair value FEERE 5,228 - 5,228 10,218
Non-controlling interests RS (2,239) - (2,239) (4,087)
2,989 - 2,989 6,131
Goodwill on acquisition (note 16)  RUKEE 2 B2 (fI516) 17,411 762 18,173 32,034
20,400 762 21,162 38,165
Satisfied by: SAES
Cash Be 20,400 762 21,162 30,000
Contingent consideration HARE - - - 8,165
20,400 762 21,162 38,165
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

The gross contractual amounts and the fair values of the
trade debtors and other debtors as at the Sleek Treasure
Acquisition Date were HK$3,000 and HK$2,808,000,
respectively.

The Group incurred aggregate transaction costs of
HK$509,000 (2015: HK$1,276,000) for the acquisitions.
These transaction costs have been expensed and are
included in general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions
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38. £ A B (m)

FEU B 5 B R I A e W B SRR IR R
RBHBMz BB RATFED AR
3,0007% 7t £.2,808,000/& 7T °

AEBRUWBEERELRFIEREAGHR
509,000/ 7t ( — = — h % 1,276,000
BT WEFERZHERCIIER A - WS
AGFABBERZ —REITHRERS -

ERBEEEZReSTAT:

is as follows:
2016 2015
“E-RE | ZT-1F
Profit Smart
Group BML Total Total
MEEE BML k) BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TER TER TEL
Cash consideration BeKRE (20,400) (762) (21,162) (30,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BUER 4 KESZEEE 50 2 52 2,583
Net outflow of cash and cash FARBEH RS
equivalents included in cash flows  RERZEE R
from investing activities ReSBEBERMLTFE (20,350) (760) (21,110) (27,417)
Transaction costs of the acquisiton st AK & EH 7 H &
included in cash flows from MEANLWEER L
operating activities R HHA (500) - (509) (1,276)
(20,859) (760) (21,619) (28,693)

191



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2016

Notes to Finapcial Statements
Wt it & M sk

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

38.

39.
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Since the dates of the respective acquisitions, the
Profit Smart Group and BML in aggregate contributed
HK$67,176,000 and HK$4,667,000 to the Group's
revenue and consolidated profit, respectively, for the year
ended 31 March 2016.

Had the Profit Smart Acquisition and BML Acquisition
taken place at the beginning of the year, the revenue of
the Group and the profit of the Group would have been
HK$889,570,000 and HK$135,982,000, respectively.

DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

38.

39.

£% A6

(45 B Uk B B HAAE - B £ [ R BMLA
HAREMBE "B AE= =+ —
BIFEE Y WA RE A %9 8= 5
67,1 76,0005%77:&4,667,0007%73 °

i 1) 5% U B8 == 18 K BMLUK B = TE A G 47)
BT ANEEZRARKNEER ZGEFE
5 Rl A&889,570,0007% JT 135,982,000
BT e

it o M 2 5 R & — R WY
J& 2 5]

DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES it o It B 2 E
2016 2015
—E-XRE —E—RHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net assets/(liabilities) disposed of: HETISEZEE,
(BR)FE:
Debtors, deposits and FEUERES e Kk
prepayments SEA NP L] 9,012 704
Trade creditors FETE 5 8RR (37) -
Sundry creditors, accruals and HAa R FIE - BETE R
deposits received FEWERE (4,726) (1,368)
4,299 (664)
Non-controlling interests FE1E IR HE 2 (4,517) (621)
Exchange fluctuation reserve AEnENsEEBEE Y
reclassified from equity to P& W OR B 1
profit or loss 622 414
Loss/(gain) on deregistration of B AR ZEBES
subsidiaries (Yezs) 354 871)
DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY & — B 2 A

During the year, the Group disposed of its equity interest
in a non-wholly-owned subsidiary to one of its non-
controlling shareholders and the net assets disposed
thereof comprised certain properties under development
with a carrying amount of approximately HK$69,477,000
and the consideration was settled by an increase in the
amount due therefrom.

FR-AEBRE—ZIEZEBRBEL
EER—TEIFE2EMRBRA ZME-
ML EREZ FEERREAREY
69,477,000 T2 B TERERYE H
RBE B 1BIE N FE U RZ FEIE AR I SR 3178
Ao
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41.

42.
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NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following major non-cash
transaction:

During the year, the Group acquired an additional 3.46%
equity interest in Hunan Carrianna from one of its non-
controlling shareholders and the deemed consideration
therefor of approximately HK$90,362,000 was settled
by offsetting the amount due from that non-controlling
shareholder.

40. & B @ w8 & M

FTEEAERS
BREHMHREEME

EIPTREEE SN

$%Iﬁbﬂ‘$%3l€fﬁ$§% :

RER AEBBEHE—RIFE

% i% 58 Uk

BER B HEN3.46%BIE - EARME
1 8 #990,362,000% 7T i 8 15 # I 4t 3%

FEFRRX R RIB LT o

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41. KK & &
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not RI|EBAR RINAMBEHRE 2R E
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: BT
2016 2015
—B-RF —T—HfF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Guarantees given for mortgage RETHEEMEER 2
loan facilities granted to property RBEEFBEEMmMEL
purchasers RO E LR 219,800 223,710
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS  42. & & f#l & %

(A) AS LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
under operating lease arrangements, with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years. The
terms of the leases generally also require the tenants
to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions.

A) 16k T

AEBERELEHERFHHERER

BmE (MaE14)
BER 2 HEIN T —
R — I EIEEE

T RAREERT

AN
E o

LI E

mEHELs
EZ+F-HHE
A TR

HF M

193



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2016

Notes to Finapcial Statements
Wt it & M sk

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)

194

(A)

AS LESSOR (Continued)

At 31 March 2016, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as

9% KK

0 P o8

(A)

2 %o

fF st R 5 (a0

R-B-—AFZA=+—8 5%
IR IE B2 5 3T 2 0 T 51 ARG B 8
2 AR R B KRR

follows: JREEEBBENT
2016 2015
—EB-RF —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Within one year R—F R 75,228 82,326
In the second to fifth years, REZZERF
inclusive (PIEEREME) 179,569 184,278
After five years RERFE 63,852 70,945
318,649 337,549
AS LESSEE (B) fEBAMF

The Group leases certain of its properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties
are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 6 years
and rentals are normally fixed in accordance with the
respective tenancy agreements.

At 31 March 2016, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

AEBEREEEHERHERET
WME -MEHELEHER Y
NF—ERF-HEZ2HBERR
BEEEZHEERNERE -

RZE—XR"F=ZA=+—H0 &%
ERZH T 5 HAR B 8 2 TPl #sH
KEHSTEREBRES N Z&HEMEE
BEEINT

2016 2015

—E-RE —E—FEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FExT FET

Within one year R—FR 54,694 46,702
In the second to fifth years, RE—ZERF

inclusive (PIEEEME) 62,101 59,295

After five years RERFIE 1,243 1,080

118,038 107,077




42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)
(B) AS LESSEE (Continued)

The operating leases of certain properties also
called for additional rentals, which would be based
on certain percentage of turnover of the operations
being undertaken therein pursuant to the terms
and conditions as stipulated in the respective
tenancy agreements. As the future turnover of these
operations could not be accurately determined
as at the end of the reporting period, the relevant
contingent rental has not been included.

43. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in note 42(B) above, the Group had the following capital

42. &
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B E %%

(B) 1F kKM T (4)

43.

RIZAERAE & 19 % 7] B IR K S 1R
- BETYORNELHORERR
HpexsmbsnsTa
D HBWERIMER - AR F R
AR SR M s A i o A R A R W
E A RE AR

Zi:

RS HR - BRI _ESCH E42(B)aFutt
ZIBEHEALEN AEBAUTER

commitments at the end of the reporting period: HHE
2016 2015
—E-RE —E-RFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

Contracted, but not provided for: EETAME M AR -

Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB M 2,657 2,693
Purchases of land use rights EE T A 238,260 252,625
Properties under development ERPYE 3,885 4,449
244,802 259,767

In addition, the Group has rights to purchase pre-
determined lots of land in the PRC pursuant to certain
legal binding agreements. The commitment under such
legal binding agreements amounted to RMB200 million
(2015: RMB200 million).

AN REBEEEE T RERRNZH

=%,
EE23

ERETBEBEERLTEN M-

ZEEEWM AN BB T 2RESEAA
R #200,000,000c (ZFE—HF: AR
#200,000,0007T ) °
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44. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, properties under development, properties held
for sale, time deposits, structured deposits and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss with a total
carrying value of approximately HK$1,492,674,000 (2015:
HK$2,443,653,000) were pledged to secure certain
banking, trade finance and other facilities granted to the
Group. In addition, rental income generated in respect of
certain investment properties of the Group was assigned
to certain banks to secure certain loan facilities granted to
the Group.

45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@ In addition to the transactions, arrangements
and balances detailed elsewhere in these

44. & & # 1

RMEPR AEEREELEEED
1,492,674, oooﬁéfm(_i? fF
2,443,653,000,%73)2 S TME-BE
%&1%&%3#@%%*)?@%% FEH
EZME -FTHER EBUETRARL
EﬂiﬁW%&%Eﬁ$Fﬁ2iﬂé
ECEER (EAASEMERSE TR
T-ESRMBENREMEE Z BRI
AEEEFES TIREMECHSWRT
ATRIT EAREBMERETENR
SR ZER

45. GHEALER S

(@) BRE RSN FREREAMM ERD
X5 RHRMEHIN RRERE

financial statements, the Group had the following FEANTRFARNEITTIIRS:
transactions with related parties during the year:

2016 2015

—E-—KR¥ —ET—hF

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ks FHET FHET

Rental paid to a director N & 4K —fIEE [0} 156 165
Gross interest income HA/N 7 Z B A KRR

from an associate (i) 9,836 9,836

()  The rental paid to a director was determined
based on mutually agreed rental rates.

(i)  The interest income was charged to an
associate in respect of a loan advanced
thereto, details of which are included in note
18 to the financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the above
transactions were entered into by the Group in the
normal course of business.

In addition, a key management personnel and also
a shareholder of Carrianna (Hainan) Catering Service
Co., Ltd and Carrianna (Hainan) Food Processing
Co., Ltd has issued a guarantee to the Group
in respect of certain trade debtors amounting to
approximately HK$50,729,000 as at 31 March
2016.
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) REEFABZESLEEINE
et

(i) EREEQRREFEEF B
A EFB ﬁ?ﬁ(‘ﬂﬁ&&ﬁw.ﬁm
7y o

EERR ARG NHAEERBE
%%EP uTi"

AN SR EEPERREBRA
AINBEEEPRMHBRAFAN—
FZEEEBABRBEEHR-Z
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b)

Other transaction with related parties:

In the prior years, the Group acquired a 55% equity
interest in Hunan Carrianna (the “Acquisition”)
from Messers. Ma Kai Cheung and Ma Kai Yum,
the substantial shareholders and directors of the
Company. In respect of the Acquisition, Messers.
Ma Kai Cheung and Ma Kai Yum have given
an undertaking to indemnify the Group against
monetary losses up to RMB216 million arising from
the failure of Hunan Carrianna to acquire any portion
of the pre-determined lots of land and the excess of
Hunan Carrianna’s cost of acquisition of any portion
of these pieces of land over the pre-determined
price.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

()  The balances of amounts due to directors by
the Group are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

(i) Except for amounts due to certain non-
controlling shareholders of HK$21,576,000 as
at 31 March 2015 which were not repayable
within one year, the remaining balances with
non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.
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45. HFHEANE RS (a0

(b)

HiEBEEATHETZRS:

RBEFE AEERARREZE
ERRREEFNEEERSEN
SR 5T A W BB A 1 = R55 %42 an
(TfE=E]) -RBEEEMS
SNEEERFENREERBAGE
# A E#216,000,0007T 8 PR &
EAREEANAREEEREREE
JESeat BIR b e R ER 1D SR
B PUEE + s e (AT BB 1D RO R AR
HBHEED EEHNEMD

HEMEALZRERGEH:

() AEEENESHRIBEILE
BEER 08 WEETE
FHA e

iy R-ZE—HE=ZA=+—
H-BREMNSE TIHZERRRE
21,576,000/% 7T < & X H 8
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(©)

(Continued) )

(i)  Details of the amounts due from associates
and loans to an associate as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 18 to the

45. FHEANE RS ()

(&)

(i) PR H R B W B & A Bl EK
BERETBBEARZE
BHHFBHRUTBHRERN T

financial statements.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the

18 ¢

AEBTEEEABZHMM:

Group:
2016 2015
—E—XE —E—hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Short term employee benefits 52 #iE B & F 16,581 12,114
Post-employment benefits RIREF 255 217
Equity-settled share option R AENERERS
expense 2,395 210
Total compensation paid to KEZEEAB Z BRI
key management personnel 19,231 12,541
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included EEMe 2 E—THBIENERTH

in note 8 to the financial statements.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 46. HHEE#F N zem T H

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T RE—RENERTARRERR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period B BRE 1A
are as follows:
2016 TE—XE
Financial assets cREE
Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
BATEIER
REETRENEBEE
Designated Available-
as such for-sale
upon initial Held for  Loans and financial
recognition trading  receivables assets Total
RER
B EXRk AHEEZ
BRIETE HFEE FE R TR SRHEE @it
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TR FER FER TET
Loans to an associate BT —HBELRZER - - 81,960 - 81,960
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE - - - 250,969 250,969
Financial assets at fair value BRTEIERAERS
through profit or loss RERNEREE 31,579 58,367 - - 89,946
Financial assets included in debtors and AR K Re
deposits 24RBE - - 234,699 - 234,699
Due from directors [l E £ A - - 13,696 - 13,696
Due from non-controlling shareholders U SER IR R R AR - - 100 - 100
Structured deposits REMEER 14,490 - - - 14,490
Restricted cash ERFIRE - - 6,971 - 6,971
Pledged time deposits EEATHER - - 103,706 - 103,706
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEERE - - 158,207 - 158,207
46,069 58,367 599,339 250,969 954,744
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 46. BNz e T H s
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T RE—RENERTARRERR
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period FERTEE : (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2016 ZE-RF
Financial liabilities ctRasE
Financial
liabilities at
fair value Financial
through profit liabilities at
or loss - Held amortised
for trading cost Total
RAFESR
RRERS
BEENSH LA 85
8- B EMN
BEEE - 3=Ri wE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT THERT TAERT
Trade creditors ERE SRR - 101,858 101,858
Financial liabilities included in sundry 5T AJEfTBR X~
creditors, accruals and deposits EETERKEW
received Revzemai - 171,273 171,273
Due to directors JERE IR - 1,317 1,317
Due to non-controlling shareholders i {5+ 3422 % A% 3R 038 - 36,939 36,939
Interest-bearing bank and other Bt B2 H|ITR
borrowings Hp e - 936,399 936,399
Derivative financial instrument TEemIA 195 - 195
195 1,247,786 1,247,981
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 46. HEEm N 228 T H 9

CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period

MRE-—BRENERTARKEHR
MBRMEE  (4)

are as follows: (Continued)

2015
Financial assets

—E—HRF

TREE

Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
BATEIER
RERTRENSHMEE

Designated Available-
as such for-sale
upon initial Held for Loans and financial
recognition trading receivables assets Total
RER
TR EXR  AHHEZ
RILIEE FIEER FEU AR R PREE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THT THL THL
Loans to an associate RY—HEBEARZER - - 81,960 - 81,960
Available-for-sale investments ARHERE - - - 383,323 383,323
Financial assets at fair value through BERTEIERAERS
profit or loss RENEBEE 4,679 33,745 - - 38,424
Financial assets included in debtors and FABRMER kRS2
deposits SREE - - 281,777 - 281,777
Due from directors ElEE - - 3,306 - 3,306
Due from non-controlling shareholders USRI R AR - - 7,083 - 7,083
Structured deposits HEEER 74,105 - - - 74,105
Restricted cash BERHERE - - 10,712 - 10,712
Pledged time deposits BEREBER - - 118,296 - 118,296
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBLEEESR - - 229,248 - 220,248
78,784 33,745 732,382 383,323 1,228,234
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows: (Continued)

46. Mkl 2 @ TR a0

MRE-—RENERTARKEHR
MRRME{E - ()

2015 —E-0F
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial
liabilities at
fair value Financial
through profit liabilities at
or loss - Held amortised
for trading cost Total
BAFEYR
KBz
BRI DA 5
CRBE KAEHE R
—BEEE CREE ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT FAET
Trade creditors eI 8 SR - 116,343 116,343
Financial liabilities included in sundry &t A E At & 1+ BR 5% -
creditors, accruals and deposits EEEARER
received EevzemAaR - 157,553 157,553
Due to directors ERNES - 11,960 11,960
Due to non-controlling shareholders & < JE 4% % A% - 34,532 34,532
Interest-bearing bank and other MEZRITREMEE
borrowings - 1,005,418 1,005,418
Finance lease payables ERNEMERE - 607 607
Derivative financial instrument MTEemMITE 1,517 - 1,517
Contingent consideration FARME 2,564 - 2,564
4,081 1,326,413 1,330,494
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s management is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, management analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by management.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amounts at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate fair values:

Management has assessed that the carrying amounts of
financial assets included in debtors and deposits, loans
to an associate, amounts due from directors, amounts
due from non-controlling-shareholders, restricted cash,
pledged time deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
trade creditors, financial liabilities included in sundry
creditors, accruals and deposits received, amounts due
to directors, amounts due to non-controlling shareholders,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and finance
lease payables reasonably appropriate to their fair
values largely due to the short term maturities/no fixed
terms of repayment of these instruments or the effect
of discounting is not material. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for finance lease payables and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings at 31 March 2016
and 31 March 2015 was assessed to be insignificant.
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47. e TR 22 FH R 2 FH
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AEBEREEREBTERIANTE
AFEZBRMER REMESEH &1
ErotemTAZEBEEPUBETHE
FEAZIERABE HEREEE
B M -

TRIANAFERENRZTESE
FRETTR S (FFRMEBEEHE) WL
AR TNATERBR AR AF
(=

EREEEARYKER MIZE2®
MEE LT EBEARNER  BK
BEERR  BUSHERIRRRIE - GRS
Be BEARERFR HekBR2EE
HE BNESEX sFARMENK
R EFEARBERZEZEREE
FENEEHIR - A IEER AR 5RO -
B ZRITREMES  UREMNBE
ME - BAIBAREZSEIALEE
EEFHRIFTAZE/MIRE K
NPEEREZEREAERBE K=
E-RF=ZA=T—"BAR-ZF—HF=
A=1t—B AEERENREHEEN
MR ZRITREMEE 2R TELE
REFHEALTEK.

203



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2016

Notes to Finapcial Statements
Wt it & M sk

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

47.

204

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of listed equity and debit investments
classified as available-for-sale investments/financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and structured deposits that are stated at fair
value are based on market values provided by financial
institutions. The directors are of the opinion that the
fair value of the unlisted equity investment classified as
available-for-sale investment cannot be measured reliably
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant.

The fair value of certain contingent consideration
has been estimated mainly using a discounted cash
flow valuation model or similar technique based on
assumptions that are not supported by significant
observable inputs. The valuation requires the directors
to make estimates about the expected future cash
flows. The directors believe that the estimated fair values
resulting from the valuation technique and the related
changes in fair values are reasonable and that they were
the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting
period.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
counterparties, principally financial institutions with good
credit ratings. Derivative financial instruments, including
interest rate swaps, are measured using present value or
similar calculations, incorporating significant observable
inputs.

47. e LR 22 FH K2 FH

W8

EREARSERAHEERENER
RE /R ATEIBERNERTEIEN
THEENAFERMSGHRETE -2
BARAFEIRENBETEENE
MEEMNFLHREMZAFEZIIN
BN RSB REATER
B-BEERR AR EAHEMHE
AR DBERAHEERENIFELHR
AREH RN FEEESETE

ETHARENRFEZIEXRAURE
EREMERUSEEANENAIBREH
BER R RENBLURMET R
AHeofAEEREEHAHRRKRERE
tEHflEr - EEARE - BMERMEENMG
ARAFERATFENERESHESIE
ARESNBERRNZAEME-

AEBEHFH (TERRFEEFR
MEREE)FILITEERTR -14S
BMTHE (BRENXEH) RAREZRE
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
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47. e TRZ2 2 FH R 2 FH

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL H (8)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 2 CF 1R

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRERAEEEMTAZ A TEFE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: g

Financial assets measured at fair value:

EAFHAEZSMEE:

As at 31 March 2016 R-E—-ANEF=ZFA=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AP RER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WEBMS BETUBE EEZFUHE
ZHE BAYE BARE
(%5-8) (%5=8) (5=8) k)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TERT TER TET
Avallable-for-sale investments At HERE
~ listed equity investments —-EIRARE 222,347 - - 222,347
Structured deposits HEENER - 14,490 - 14,490
Financial assets at fair value through RATEIRERR BT
profit or loss REZSRHEE 58,367 31,579 - 89,946
280,714 46,069 - 326,783

As at 31 March 2015

RZE—RF=HA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ATEHEER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

NGRS ERWER ERTAEE
ZHME EIUN ¢ BARE

(B—E) (F-E) (B=FE) “E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL TR FHEL TER
Available-for-sale investments AREERE

— listed equity investments - ETRAERE 352,975 - - 352,975
Structured deposits HEENER - 74,105 - 74,105

Financial assets at fair value through BATEYRERRERTD
profit or loss BEeHEE 33,745 4,679 - 38,424
386,720 78,784 - 465,504
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Financial liabilities measured at fair value:
As at 31 March 2016

47. e LTRZ2 2 FH K2 FH

R )

AR s
EAFHEFAEZEMALR:
R-E—-NF=Z/F=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ATEHRER

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERT S EZUHRE EEFTTEE
ZHE BAYE BAYE
(%5-8) (B=8) (%=8E) BE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TER
Derivative financial instrument: PTHEERIA:
Interest rate swap Fl& e 5 - 195 - 195
As at 31 March 2015 R-ZF—AF=H=4+—H
Fair value measurement using
AFEERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
N EZNEE  EETAEE
ZHRE BARE BABUE
(F—FE) (FZF) (=) e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER FER TER
Derivative financial instrument: THEERIA:
Interest rate swap P& 5 - 1,517 - 1,517
Contingent consideration FANKE - - 2,564 2,564
- 1,517 2,564 4,081




47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

48.

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Financial liabilities measured at fair value:

(Continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3

during the year are as follows:
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47. e TR 22 FH R 2 FH

W s

AR s
EAFHAEZ2RMERE: (8)

ER E=EANATEHESHNT :

2016 2015

—EB-RF —T—AF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

At beginning of year F9 2,564 -

Addition nNE - 8,165

Gain recognised in the statement of i8R ER 2 Wz

profit or loss (2,908) (6,315)
Interest expense recognised in RIBRRER M EREZ

the statement of profit or loss 344 714

At 31 March Rn=A=+—H - 2,564

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets

and financial liabilities (2015: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade debtors and
trade creditors, which arise directly from its operations.

48.

RER RemEEREREBENS
MEBEENE -—BRFE _ERzATE
HERVESBAZ - ERRREZEF
BH(ZT—HF &)

B R B e PR H R R OBR

AEEZFEZSRITE (RITETIESN)
BEMEBZRITMEMEE UNES
EBReFERB ZFeRITAEZER
BEMRRAREXBERES AKHE
NELZRERHFEHRELEZEbERE
ENBE PIMEKE SRR LENE
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48.

208

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

The Group also enters into derivative transaction,
including interest rate swap. The purpose is to manage
the interest rate risks arising from the Group’s sources
of finance. The Group’s accounting policies in relation
to derivatives are set out in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates risks relates primarily to the Group’s
interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating interest
rates. The effective interest rates and terms of repayment
of the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements. Interest
rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rate.

The Group has put in place an interest rate swap
arrangement for one of its floating rate term loans to
limit the variability in cash flows attributable to changes
in interest rates. This involves fixing portions of interest
payable on its underlying borrowings through derivative
instruments. Details of the interest rate swap are
disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements.
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
INTEREST RATE RISK (Continued)

Assuming the bank borrowings outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease in interest rates
would decrease/increase the Group’s profit before tax for
the current year by HK$9,364,000 (2015: HK$8,835,000)
and increase/decrease finance costs capitalised by nil
(2015: HK$1,226,000).

The sensitivity to the interest rate used above is
considered reasonable with the other variables held
constant.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities
and transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi, respectively. Majority of the sales,
purchases and expenditure incurred by the operating
units of the Group were denominated in the units’
functional currencies and as a result, the Group does not
anticipate significant transactional currency exposures.
The Group has not used any derivative to hedge its
exposure to foreign currency risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

CREDIT RISK

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk. The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets,
which mainly comprise cash and bank balances, time
deposits, structured deposits, restricted cash, debtors
and deposits, a loan to an associate, amounts due
from directors and other quoted and unquoted financial
instruments, arises from default of the counterparty, with
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of
these instruments.

For properties that are still under construction, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection
with the customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to
finance their purchase of the properties for an amount
up to 80% of the total purchase price of the properties.
If a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
loan during the term of the guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage loan may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding amount under the loan and any accured
interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able to retain the customer’s deposits and sell the related
property to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the
bank. Unless the selling price would drop by no less than
20%, the Group would not be in a loss position in selling
the property out and in this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is largely
mitigated.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade debtors are
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds
by considering the maturity of its financial assets and
liabilities and projected cash flows.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank

and other borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
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the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual A HARITRARETE RN EIHE R :
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2016
“Z-RE
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—E40TF —FHE
RRERE ZREYUT EENE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THER TR FER
Trade creditors EREZERR 101,858 - - 101,858
Financial liabilities included in sundry creditors, s AR EFEER - BT E R
accruals and deposits received LEWREzeREaE 164,248 6,309 716 171,273
Due to directors ERES 1,317 - - 1,317
Due to non-controlling shareholders NEZ I ED 36,939 - - 36,939
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M Sz RITRAMBEE
(note) (M3E) 652,885 261,950 21,564 936,399
Interest payments on interest-bearing Mt Bz RITRAMBEEZ
bank and other borrowings FEZH 13,225 15,550 431 29,206
Derivative financial instrument fTEERMIA - 195 - 195
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ SEIEEREREEM
facilities granted to property purchasers mERITIEL ER 219,800 - - 219,800
1,190,272 284,004 22,7111 1,496,987
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

A8. B 5 Mol B i B H AR R BOK

(5)

WEE LA #)

2015
—Z-1F
Within 1 year
or on demand 1105 years Over 5 years Total
—EHT —E5+
FRERE ZERFUT AEL L @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TR FHEL TR
Trade creditors ERE SRR 116,343 - - 116,343
Financial liabilities included in sundry creditors, 5+ A E 18R 30 fE5+ &
accruals and deposits received REWEZREZEBERE 146,276 8,821 2,456 157,553
Due to directors [EES 11,960 - - 11,960
Due to non-controling shareholders FER IR AR R 12,956 21,576 - 34,532
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings fEzBITREMEE
(note) i3 773,598 196,451 35,369 1,005,418
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank and  #f 8 Z BT R HMEE 2
other borrowings FlEZR 17,582 18,621 2,210 38,413
Finance lease payables ERRERE 619 - - 619
Derivative financial instrument TESRIA 1,517 - - 1,517
Contingent consideration FARE - 3,032 - 3,032
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ FLYIEEREREEM
facilities granted to property purchasers mRITIEL ER 223,710 - - 223,710
1,304,561 248,501 40,035 1,693,097
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. M % by & P H R R BOR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) mEE 2 AR (9
Note: Included in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings MieE: B ZRITREMEETBEERAE

are term loans with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$115,872,000 (2015: HK$45,694,000). The loan
agreements contain repayment on-demand clauses giving
the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity
profile, the total amount is classified as “on demand” and
have been classified as current liabilities.

Notwithstanding the above clauses, the directors do not
believe that the loans will be called in entirety within 12
months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval
of the financial statements; the Group’s compliance with
the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and the
fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain
repayment on-demand clauses, the maturity profile of
those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the
effect of any repayment on-demand clauses, is as follows:

115,872,000 L2 FHER (==
— R4 45,604,000/ 70) » B
BE—EH—EEREEERIER B
FIRITEAG (T BERS BB FUER
bt EAEIEAE R S 2 IETY
A EER] RESEARE AR -

EEBNLGT EEXTRAZRE
ERBER12(E A AR B2 HEE -
EXZRRRAERAIRIEE R
PRl B B B 558 - R AT E B
SEAEHEMBRERE B ZM B
N AREEETERRL WEED
IR EEEL AEE-—BERERE
TTRTBERERL ML -

B0 S—H— BRI E R
MBS ARSI RSB R
WA BRITBAT i E R 2B B D
P 32 (R 2 B M0 BB R
mT

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—FHE
—FUTF ZEREUT BENE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TERT TR TER
As at 31 March 2016 RZZE—R"F=A=1+—H 40,114 80,673 - 120,787
As at 31 March 2015 RZZE-RAF=A=1+—H 27,564 18,373 - 45,937
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48.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the values of individual securities.
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
individual equity investments classified as available-for-
sale investments (note 19) and listed equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (note 20) as at 31 March 2016.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock
Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to
the end of the reporting period, and the respective highest
and lowest points during the year were as follows:

A8. B 5 Mol B i B H AR R BOK

(%)
fix 15 R B
RS (B 8 LB 1 R AR 3R 4R K T R M

MEFBEZETIMBBRAIZTSFZ
NFETHRZEB R —RF=H
=t— R AEEMMEHZKRAERR
R IIRB D BERAIHEERE 2[RI
$&§Wmﬂmﬁﬂmﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁ
EMREBRFERE FTRARE (W&
20) °

AEER EHIREDEB A BT RIZ
RBEMRNO TG REME-

B2 P 2™ %ﬁ%‘?ﬁﬁ%( (RFARZHRE

Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index
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ELZEE
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High/low High/low

during the during the

year ended year ended

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2016 2015 2015

REZ REZE

ZE-AE —T-1F
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—E-RE LEER [ —ZT—1F IEFER
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20,777 28,589/18,279 24,901 25,318/21,746




48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis,
for the listed available-for-sale equity investments,
the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve and no account is given
for factors such as impairment which might impact the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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T3 BN AT Hof B R T Rk it
EEMBEZZET BERKAEER
W AR Y R WRARE Y AF
(E5 L IB5% L E) 2 GURE - AT
T AHE FTRARE  AEEEE
RABHTHEER EEHHEBRY
2 U 4 A R T A
BABRECEE.

Carrying Changes Increase/
amount of equity in profit decrease
investments before tax in equity*
RAERE
RHE BHARR2D BRAE/ B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FET FET
2016 ZE-RE
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong BB LMz BRARE
- available-for-sale (note 19) — A E (319) 222,347 - 1,117
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong R LMz RARE
— financial assets at fair value through - BATEIERABET
profit or loss (note 20) REeREE (F:20) 51,233 2,562 -
2015 i
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong BB LMz BRARE
- available-for-sale (note 19) — A E (319) 352,975 - 17,649
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong R LM ZRARE
— financial assets at fair value through - BATEIERABET
profit or loss (note 20) REeREE (F:T20) 26,383 1,319 -
* Excluding effect on retained profits * TEERE RNz 2
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its businesses and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for the undertaking by the Company
under a banking facilities letter granted to a subsidiary
of the Group to maintain a minimum consolidated
tangible net worth of HK$2,500,000,000, which has been
complied with during the year. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2016 and 31 March
2015.
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is defined as the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents, structured
deposits, restricted cash and pledged time deposits as a
percentage of the Group’s total equity. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:
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(80)

EAEH

7N 82 B LA R B 1 b SR (B o2 M B 2
CRAREMESNESRASESMEE
B lars - SRHSROERE
HA T R4 ARG AN B S B Y B
b B A RIS - MRS IR EA R
EHRMT :

2016 2015
ZE-XRF —ET—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
s FHExT FHET
Interest-bearing bank and B ZRITREMEE
other borrowings 29 936,399 1,005,418
Less: Cash and cash equivalents J& : IR & M IR & £ (EIEH 26 (158,207) (229,248)
Structured deposits HEBMETFR 21 (14,490) (74,105)
Restricted cash ZREIFEE 26 (6,971) (10,712)
Pledged time deposits EHEEERTR 26 (103,706) (118,296)
Net debt FEE 653,025 573,057
Total equity = EE 3,534,592 3,817,578
Gearing ratio BEXRBELE 19% 15%
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

49. A& 2 6] Z B K0 &

POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the R|ERR ARAZHBMRAKRZE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2016 2015
—E-RE —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NI 1,810,096 1,811,446
Due from associates JrE L B = N B BR 3R 27,922 3,925
Total non-current assets ERBEEREAE 1,838,018 1,815,371
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other debtors, deposits and H b U BR 3K -
prepayments e RIEMRIE 129 189
Due from a director W —HESHIE 1,371 1,371
Dividend receivable JE U % B 45,000 80,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEIEE 212 292
Total current assets MENEERE 46,712 81,852
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEE
Sundry creditors and accruals HihEMRZ N EER (2,863) (2,185)
Due to directors B ESRIE (3,883) (3,000)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B RITIEE - (9,508)
Total current liabilities mEBBEERE (6,746) (14,693)
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 39,966 67,159
Net assets EEFE 1,877,984 1,882,530
EQUITY =
Issued capital B EITIRA 125,389 124,989
Reserves f#E 1,752,595 1,757,541
Total equity Bl 1,877,984 1,882,530
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 49. A& 2 B 2 W K0 & (50
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B 5T
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARZEBHENT :
Share Capital Share
premium  Contributed redemption option Retained
account surplus reserve reserve profits Total
ROEEER  EARH SABORE BRERE | REET EH)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER ThT

At 1 April 2014 RZZE-REMNA—A 1,388,351 59,759 316 9,392 236,527 1,694,345
Profit for the year and total comprehensive ZS@E BHRRER

income for the year T UN - - - - 61,307 61,307
Issue of shares upon exercise Iﬁ FEREMETRA

of share options 1,422 - - (492) - 930
Equity-settled share option arrangements M EntE v BERERE - - - 959 - 959
Proposed final 2015 dividend BE-T-REKERS - - - - Ee @Te)
At 31 March 2015 and RZE-RF=A=t-BRK

at 1 April 2015 RZZE-REEA—H 1,389,778 59,759 316 9,859 260,217 1,719,924
Proft for the year and total comprehensive ~ AEERFIRAEE

income for the year BREHA - - - - 26,995 26,995
Issue of shares upon exercise RTEERER R TREA

of share options 4,526 - - (1,630) - 2,896
Equity-settled share option arrangements M EnEE  BRERH - - - 2,780 - 2,780
Transfer of share option reserve upon ORI R SRR G

forfeiture of share options - - - (1,944) 1,944 -
Proposed final 2016 dividend BE_ZT- N ERBES - - - - (37,617) (37,617)
At 31 March 2016 WZE-"E=zA=1+—H 1,394,299 59,759 316 9,065 251,539 1,714,978
The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a KRR EBEHEBTIE—NANA—FN\A
result of the Group reorganisation on 12 August 1991 THAZEEEAMES BAARE
and represented the difference between the nominal TRA s EEEBEBREEESAmMYE 2
value of the share capital issued by the Company and MBARIzEHEEFECERE B
the combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired BEFEZARET I HE

pursuant to the Group reorganisation, less the effects of
the bonus issue of shares in previous years.
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00.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

COMPANY (Continued)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders under certain specific circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 27 June 2016.
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Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group as at
31 March 2016 are as follows:

Name/location

BB/

TSR A MHE AT IR 7] | 201657 H

Schedule of Principal Properties

Tenure

ERAKE

Type

Yl

FTEDEHE

31 March 2016 —ZFE—NXF=HA=+—H

R-IE-RF=ZA=T-BAREEFAENK
BYEFBOT

Approx. Effective Stage of
gross area % held completion
BREH
REROH Btk ZTHER
(m?)

(F7HXK)

Hong Kong
BH

Unit B, 26th Floor

Wyler Centre, Phase |l
200 Tai Lin Pai Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories

AR
REEHEB2005%
BfaPOE =B
261%BZE

Ground Floor and Cockloft,

61 South Wall Road,

Kowloon City, Kowloon

FUBE NLBE S 48
B15kih T & Eig

Tak Sing Alliance Building,

1/F-3/F, 15/F-18/F,

115 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon

NERDHE

AR ER1155%
ENEERNE
11EE3E
151E =188

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

Medium term lease

REFEA

Medium term lease

REFEA

Medium term lease

REEA

1,568* 100 Completed

87" 100 Completed

B &K

780* 100 Completed

BT -

MERR |- T% R—EE - C—&%
R EE
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Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group as at

31 March 2016 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location Tenure Type

LV L ERKE ]

RIE-RF=ZA=T-BAREEFAENK
BYMEFHBWOT (&)

Approx.
gross area

BEBROE
(m?)

(F5%)

Effective
% held
BREE
B

Stage of
completion

52 A P B}

Hong Kong
BE

15th Floor and Medium term lease |
Car park space No. 5,

Young Ya Industrial Building,

381-389 Sha Tsui Road,

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

MAREE HERAR 4 I
)1 38381-3895%

ROTERE

1518

H T E55RRB AL

Mainland China
B R BE

Carrianna Friendship Square, Medium term lease  C
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B = FHIFR A ]
ARBRRERERIR

EEHREES

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial
# Gross floor area
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2,594¢

28,339"

BT

100

100

Completed

Completed

MHERR |- T% R—EE - C—&%
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Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group as at

31 March 2016 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

Al

Tenure

ERAKE

Type

il

TSR A MHE AT IR 7] | 201657 H

Schedule of Principal Properties
FEHEME

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

R-IE-RF=ZA=T-BAREEFAENK
BYMEFHBWOT (&)

Approx.
gross area

Effective Stage of

% held completion

BRER

AEBRNH B THER
(m?)

(F5)

Mainland China
W KB

A building at Shi Lien Road,
Chiu Tien Industrial Park,
Shi Lou Town,

Panyu District,

Guangdong Province
fRERE

T

VoL 54

B T ¥4

MERZ —BET

Imperial Palace,
Hong Vi Cun,
Baoan South Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN
)
A
BESE

14 Zu Miao Road,
Foshan Municipal
G

1B BAER1455%

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

Medium term lease

REFEA

Long term lease

REHEL

Medium term lease

REFEA

C/R

B/

3,322% 100 Completed

4,899* 100 Completed

6,838" 100 Completed

BT -

MHERR |- T% R—EE - C—&%
R EE
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31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties held as property, plant and RZ-ZZ— X NEFE=ZA=+—HAEBFAHEA
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2016 are as follows: ME - -BMELRBEZMEFBROT:

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BREH
8/ HAKE 2Rl REROE Btk ZTHER
(m?)

(F5%)

Hong Kong
B8

Unit A, 26th Floor and Medium term lease | 812* 100 Completed
Car park space Nos. 19, 20, 21,

22, 39 and 40 on 2nd Floor and

Lorry Parking Space No. L21

on 1st Floor, Wyler Centre, Phase Il

200 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories

#RER HERR A T mP:354
REHEB2005%

BfmF O 5

26IEAE R FE195% -

205%  215% + 225% »

395k MAOSR B It

L1k B RE

Mainland China
] KB

Nos. 3-6, 5/F, Medium term lease  C 1,068* 100 Completed
Carrianna Friendship Square,

Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic

Zone

RN B = HERAE A ] mP:354
AREE K

B EERZ A

EEMREES

AE3-65%

Notes: P -

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PIELER - T¥ R—FE C—A%
# Gross floor area *RIE T E AR
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Particulars of the properties held as property, plant and
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2016 are as follows:

TSR A MHE AT IR 7] | 201657 H

Schedule of Principal Properties
FEHEME

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

R-IE-RF=ZA=T—BEREEFHEIER
ME - -BERRBZOERFBOT : (&)

(Continued)
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BREH
8B/ HAKE 5l BEEBENH Bolk THER
(m?)
(FHK)
Mainland China
B K pE
2 Zishan Road, Yiyang Municipal Medium term lease  C 34,490¢ 100 Completed
g 5 T RF L B 255 R EIFR A ] BI&HK
14 Zu Miao Road, Medium term lease  C 12,954% 100 Completed
Foshan Municipal
G R EIFR A ] BI&HK
16 BB RK 1457
Sales Centre, Medium term lease  C 1,739¢ 83 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road C section
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGAERR  ERAE 4 5] B & B
H R A8 B R CER
LB
Notes: Bk

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

MHERR |- T% R—EE - C—&%
R EE
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T EpEME

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties held for sale held by the Group as
at 31 March 2016 are as follows:

Name/location

BB/

Tenure

ERAKE

Type

Yl

R-E-RF=ZA=T—HEREEFELE

MERFEBWT

Approx.
gross area

BEBOE
(m?)

(F5%)

Effective
% held
BEREE
BOl

Stage of
completion

52 B P R

Mainland China

B KR

Carrianna Friendship Square,
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B

AREBRERERR
FEFREES

Imperial Palace,
Hong Vi Cun,

Baoan South Road,
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B
B
A
B ELE

Residential and commercial units
and car parks of Grand Lake City,
Yiyang Road, Hunan

M K8

BT EE R EE T NEMN

Shopping street of

Grand Lake City,

Yiyang Road, Hunan

MEmEAE

bR T S

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial
# Gross floor area
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Medium term lease

REFEA

Long term lease

REHEL

Long term lease

REHEL

Medium term lease

FEI A

C/R

B/

C/R

B/

C/R

B/

3,632¢

15637

74,403"

30,987¢

BT

100

100

92.21

92.21

Completed

Completed

Completed

B &K

Completed

MHERR |- T% R—EE - C—&%
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Particulars of the properties held for sale held by the Group as

at 31 March 2016 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

Al

Tenure

ERAKE

Type

il

TSR A MHE AT IR 7] | 201657 H

Schedule of Principal Properties
FEHEME

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

R-E-—RF=ZA=T—HEXEEFELE
MEFHBWOT: (&)

Approx.
gross area

BEBROE
(m?)

(F5%)

Effective
% held
BREE
B

Stage of
completion

52 A P BR

Mainland China
A KB

Leather Trade Centre

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road B section,

Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,

Lianyungang

KEREZSH D
EEERERGEERR

H R A8 B B

Building Materials Trade Centre
East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road C section,

Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,

Lianyungang

EMRZHH D
ETERERRAERR

R RAE KA CE

Medium term lease

TR A

Medium term lease

REFEA

]

]

35,586"

50,786"

83 Completed

83 Completed
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31 March 2016 —F—~NF=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties under development held by the R -Z— X NF-ZA=+—HAEBZHERE

Group as at 31 March 2016 are as follows: RYEFHBOT
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BREE
1t B R TERE 7T P R BO BIEZHRAH
(m?)
(FHXK)
Mainland China
B KR
Chaoyang Road to the Commercial/ 16,026 Foundation work 92.21 N/A
north, Zishanhu to residential in progress
the south, Yiyang
5 T A 5 B DA BmE/E M ETIRETH NEM
R BA L
Tuanyuan Road Commercial/ 252,410 Design work 92.21 N/A
to the east, Yiyang residential in progress
a5 T [ [E] 5% 78 BE/EE Rt TIEETH TNEH
Yangwuling Village, Commercial/ 120,040 Design work 92.21 N/A
Lucigiao Village, residential in progress
Yiyang
g 5 T F FEURH - B¥/EE Rt TIEETH TiEA
B IsrEHY
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Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

Particulars of the properties under development held by the W -Z— R NFE=ZA=+—HAEBZHERE

Group as at 31 March 2016 are as follows: (Continued) YRR T  (B)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BREH
1o B R THEE 2 B P& B Bk BESERAH
(m?)
(F7%)
Mainland China
B K pE
Huanyuan Road to the west, Commercial/ 31,283 Design work 92.21 N/A
Tuanyuan road to the east, residential in progress
Huangjiaxiang to the north,
Yiyang
a5 T B [ B SR MR, HE/Ex Rt TYEETH TNEM
EEEA =REm A
Qiligiao Village, Commercial/ 15,431 Design work 92.21 N/A
Heshan District, Yiyang residential in progress
BT LR RER Mg/ e BT i
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 26,069 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road B section, residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGAEXR wmE/MEE WEIRETH T
F R KB R EBR
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Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2016 —F— A X#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties under development held by the W -Z— X NF-ZA=+—HAEBZHERE
Group as at 31 March 2016 are as follows: (Continued) YRR T  (8)

Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BREH
1 B A THEE ¢ R P B} Bk ETEHRAH
(m?)

(F5%)

Mainland China
B KB

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 77,757 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road F section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

ERERERRAERR HE/EE WETRETH TiE
B RABEAFR

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 22,731 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road C section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

BEEERERGEERR mE/E R TIRETH TEH
B R KB B R CER

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 93,643 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road E section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

ETERERGAERXR BE/E METRETH TEA
H LR KB IR A ER
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Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2016 —ZFE—XF=HA=+—H

Particulars of the properties under development held by the W -Z— R NFE=ZA=+—HAEBZHERE
Group as at 31 March 2016 are as follows: (Continued) YRR T  (B)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BREH
1o B R THEE 2 B P& B Bk BESERAH
(m?)
(FH¥)
Mainland China
B K pE
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 122,577 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road G section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
ETERERGAEXR mE/EE METRETH TEA
B RABEEGER
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 83,618 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road H section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGAERR mE/EE METRETH TEA
BB RAB B EHR
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L N

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual general meeting of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
will be held at Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Restaurant, 1st Floor, 151
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Monday, 22 August
2016 at 11:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the audited consolidated
financial statements and the reports of the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) and of the auditors of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2016.

2. To declare a final dividend of HK3 cents per share for the
year ended 31 March 2016.

3.  To re-elect the following retiring Directors and to authorise
the board of Directors to fix the remuneration of the
Directors.

(@ Mr. Ng Yan Kwong as Executive Director of the
Company.

(b) Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles as Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company.

(c) Mr Leung Pak Yan as Executive Director of the
Company.

4. To re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as auditors of the

Company and to authorise the board of Directors to fix
their remuneration.
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As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass with
or without amendments, the following resolutions as ordinary
resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

5. “THAT

(@

Subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise by
the Directors during the Relevant Period of all the
powers of the Company to purchase issued shares
of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company,
subject to and in accordance with the applicable
laws and the requirements of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited as amended from time to
time be and is hereby generally and unconditionally
approved;

the aggregate nominal amount of shares to be
purchased pursuant to the approval in paragraph
(a) above shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue
on the date of this resolution, and the said approval
shall be limited accordingly; and

for the purpose of this resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the date of passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earlier of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting; and

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Bye-laws of the Company or
the laws of Bermuda to be held.”.

ERFHHNEEZEANITEL (BERB L
71) TR

PRSP MR BRA ] | 201649
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ETX OB ZRHIT  Zit—& &
BRELEES ENGERZEA
PIRBRBB A X BAERARES
EWBRA(EARER) ZREL
EERBRZERT  REBEHETT
EARRRZ— N ABEAR
A2 BTN ZAE(EC. 108 7T
ZBtn

R £ ()2 HLAERTER B 2 B in
HEAR ATEBTRZRER
BEARNRZ BEITEBARAAH
Z210% > b a4t IRZE 2 B
R K

AREEERM S @ [BRAHAME ] Jhis
RARZERE BB 2 B2 T EM
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() AR TERERBFASHE
RAEF
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REBRAGBBEBRRZE
RTABEERIERI 2B K&
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EDJO
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6.

234

“THAT

(@)

subject to sub-paragraph (c) of this resolution,
the exercise by the Directors during the Relevant
Period (as hereinafter defined) of all the powers of
the Company to allot, issue or otherwise deal with
additional shares of the Company and to make or
grant offers, agreements and options which might
require the exercise of such powers be and is
hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

the approval in sub-paragraph (a) of this resolution
shall authorise the Directors during the Relevant
Period to make or grant offers, agreements and
options which might require the exercise of such
power after the end of the Relevant Period;

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital
allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or
otherwise) by the Directors pursuant to the approval
in sub-paragraph (a) of this resolution, otherwise
than pursuant to:

(i) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter defined);

(i) the exercise of any option scheme or similar
arrangement for the time being adopted for
the grant or issue to officers and/or employees
of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries
of shares or rights to acquire shares of the
Company; and

(i) any scrip dividend or similar arrangement
providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of
the whole or part of a dividend on shares of
the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws
of the Company;

shall not exceed 20% of the aggregate number
of ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the
date of the passing of this resolution, and the said
approval shall be limited accordingly; and

6.

(B

(@)

EARRFRC)DBRZERHIT - 2t
— R EEGILEESTEABERE
NEER TXOTERRBMA
R ABCE - BATIAE M B
BARRE BN - RAEH IR
A RERBITER SR 2EZ
GEPE e

FRBERE@DBEZHUEFEEES
ERBHEAEL SR B AT EZAR
BRMEEREITEZSEN 22
% ek MR A

EFERBEARER Q@D BRZIER
BB R REFRFRZER (T
L IREEAESRE M) 2
PR {E AR R - AR YR T 517 A3
TTERRSN :

i EEFR(EERLTX):

(i) TTEEERRMZBRETE
SR AmARAT R,
S H AL B AR 2B E K
S REEBRE KBTI K
WA R RIRD 2 HER B

(iy RIFEARRQF 2N E 4R A
BOURBEARRTRO 22
ok 5 R E 2 ERARK
B ALz

TRBBNARZRERBE AN
NEIDEITEBRARZ20% M
A AR R UL IR B K



for the purpose of this resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the passing of this resolution
until whichever is the earlier of:

()  the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting; and

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Bye-laws of the Company or
the laws of Bermuda to be held.”;

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares in the
Company open for a period fixed by the Directors
to holders of shares of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company
on a fixed record date in proportion to their then
holdings of such shares (subject to such exclusions
or other arrangements as the Directors may deem
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional
entitlements or having regards to any restrictions or
obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of
any recognised body or any stock exchange, in any
territory outside Hong Kong).”.

“THAT conditional upon the passing of the ordinary
resolutions no. 5 and 6 set out above, the general
mandate granted to the Directors pursuant to
resolution no. 6 be and is hereby extended by the
addition thereto of an amount representing the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital repurchased by the
Company under the authority granted in resolution no.
5, provided that such amount shall not exceed 10% of
the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of
the Company in issue at the date of the passing of this
resolution.”.

PRSP MR BRA ] | 201649
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(i) RERBELZENEHRK
REBRRKE BB EBRZE
ETABBEHERT 2B &

iy ANABZAFMAISEFEE
SRR EARRRIZBET N E
M EBEFRE 2 BRE W2
Heol:

[ECEH] FESNEEHEA -
AR FE Ro ek A BB 5 AR R AR
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ZEERBIIMESFIHMZR
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[BBAEALESNFOHE BRFERE
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FORERTERZ —RIUERE BEAHE
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BISBERRARRNRBREREE
B2 BITRAEERE 210% ] -
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8. To transact any other business.

By Order of the Board

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
Ng Yan Kwong

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 21 July 2016
Notes:

1. For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ right to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held
on Monday, 22 August 2016, the Register of Members of the
Company will be closed from Friday, 19 August 2016 to Monday,
22 August 2016, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be effected. In order for a shareholder to
be eligible to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting, all
transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch shares registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 18 August 2016.

2. For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend, the Register of Members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 26 September 2016 to
Friday, 30 September 2016, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for
the proposed final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at
the Annual General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23 September 2016.

3. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled
to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote on his/her
behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. If more
than one proxy is so appointed, the appointment shall specify
the number and class of shares in respect of which each such
proxy is so appointed.

4. To be valid, a form of proxy and the power of attorney or other
authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified
copy of such power of attorney or authority, must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the Meeting.

5. An explanatory statement containing further details regarding

ordinary resolutions No. 5 to 7 above will be sent to shareholders
shortly together with the 2016 Annual Report.
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